
Common Council

City of Appleton

Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

Council Chambers7:00 PMWednesday, March 17, 2021

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. INVOCATION

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG

D. ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONS

E. ROLL CALL OF OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADS

F. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

21-0300 Common Council Meeting Minutes of March 3, 2021

 

CC Minutes 3-3-21.pdfAttachments:

G. BUSINESS PRESENTED BY THE MAYOR

21-0307 Proclamation: Colorectal Cancer Awareness Month

Colorectal Cancer Awareness Month Proclamation.pdfAttachments:

21-0308 COVID-19 Update

 

COVID -19 Cases 3-17-21.pdfAttachments:

H. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

I. PUBLIC HEARINGS

21-0255 Public Hearing for Rezoning #2-21 at 2501 N. Meade Street from C-2 General 

Commercial District to R-1B Single-Family District.

 

RZ #2-21_Notice of Public Hearing.pdfAttachments:

J. SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

Page 1 City of Appleton Printed on 3/16/2021

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17051
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f5c79990-042b-45a2-acfd-c312cfd0a704.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17058
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f57b91c1-d7ce-481f-a9ee-3059199a7aab.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17059
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0e854fb0-84aa-4f7f-bfe7-d07b5940f5cf.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17006
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bd1b9dbb-62d3-49fc-9283-4b02a170b4a9.pdf


March 17, 2021Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

K. ESTABLISH ORDER OF THE DAY

L. COMMITTEE REPORTS

1. MINUTES OF THE MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE

21-0273 Review Driveway Opening Policy to possibly delete requirement #5 

regarding neighboring property owners.

 

Driveway Opening Policy.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

3/8/21 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

21-0274 Approve installation of standard parking meters in Soldier Square along 

with Passport pay-by-phone option.

 

Soldier Square parking meters.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

3/8/21 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

21-0275 Request from Appleton Downtown, Inc. for a street occupancy permit for 

"Fiber Rain" to install yarn creations on planters, wayfinding kiosks and 

poles on College Avenue (600 W. College to 300 E. College) from April 

12, 2021 through May 31, 2021.

 

ADI-Fiber Rain.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

3/8/21 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

21-0277 Request from Matt Miller to bag nine (9) meters on March 17, 2021 on 

Lawrence Street and Walnut Street for food pick-up at McGuinness Pub.  

This request was administratively denied based on the Downtown Parking 

& Meter Bag Policy.  This request will not have time to go through the 

Council process.

 

Matt Miller request for meter bags.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

3/8/21 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

2. MINUTES OF THE SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

Page 2 City of Appleton Printed on 3/16/2021

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17024
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fcb2e1b9-7069-445f-8a40-7591d5a66f51.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17025
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5d6b6eca-6e89-4a25-a03a-d9425376f002.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17026
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c53d1403-e062-4796-a62a-e45b1ef57845.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17028
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b0ebd9d2-50e0-4ad1-92fe-c255ce09d74a.pdf


March 17, 2021Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

21-0217 Secondhand Mall/Flea Market License renewal application for Ye Old 

Goat, Meghan Keller, applicant, located at 1919 E Calumet St, contingent 

upon approval from all departments.  

Ye Old Goat S&L.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

3/10/21 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

3. MINUTES OF THE CITY PLAN COMMISSION

21-0174 Request to approve Rezoning #2-21 to rezone 2501 N. Meade Street (Tax 

Id #31-6-1808-00), including all of the adjacent one-half right-of-way, as 

shown on the attached maps, from C-2 General Commercial District to 

R-1B Single-family District

StaffReport_2501NMeadeSt_Rezoning_For02-23-21.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

2/23/21 City Plan Commission recommended for approval

Proceeds to Council on March 17, 2021.

4. MINUTES OF THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE

21-0278 Action Item:  Award the City of Appleton's "2021 Appleton Pickleball 

Complex Design Project" Contract to JSD Professional Service, Inc. in an 

Amount not to Exceed $27,000

 

2021 Pickleball Complex Memo.docxAttachments:

Legislative History 

3/8/21 Parks and Recreation 

Committee

recommended for approval

5. MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE

21-0252 Request to award Unit X-21 Sewer & Water Reconstruction No. 2 to 

Kruczek Construction, Inc in the amount of $2,110,110 with a 3% 

contingency of $63,303 for a project total not to exceed $2,173,413

 

Award of Contract Unit X-21.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

3/8/21 Finance Committee recommended for approval

Page 3 City of Appleton Printed on 3/16/2021

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16968
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b7fb6a0d-af5c-4f78-b40d-9089b9a4d774.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16925
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f0cb2e13-a366-4f69-9ae1-02b791910bdd.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17029
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9a61eefe-8715-4d59-8560-74f319f0a15d.docx
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17003
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e93e91c3-0a91-4a97-bccc-d33de206f319.pdf


March 17, 2021Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

21-0253 Request to award a design and engineering services contract for the 

Appleton Public Library to Skidmore, Owings & Merrill in the amount of 

$2,721,389 with a 5% contingency of $136,070 for a project total not to 

exceed $2,857,459, and approve the following related 2021 Budget 

amendment:

Facilities Management Capital Projects Fund

Capital Outlay - Library Project +$457,459

Proceeds of Long-Term Debt +$457,459

to record additional costs of design and engineering services contract (2/3 

vote of Common Council required)

 

2021 Library Architect and Engineers.pdf

SOM Letter to Appleton Community_3-8-2021.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

3/8/21 Finance Committee recommended for approval

21-0254 Request to approve the disposal of surplus beds

 

Finance Committee Bed Donation Memo 2021 (004).pdf

WG&R Brighter Dreams Program.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

3/8/21 Finance Committee recommended for approval

21-0257 Request to approve Sixth/Seventh Additions to Emerald Valley 

Development Agreement

 

Emerald Valley Development Agreement.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

3/8/21 Finance Committee recommended for approval

21-0263 Request to award the City of Appleton's 2021 Parks Hardscapes Project - 

AMP Parking Lot #3 Reconstruction Project contract to Northeast Asphalt, 

Inc in the amount of $289,788 with a contingency of $50,000 for a project 

total not to exceed $339,788

 

2021 AMP Parking Lot #3 Renovation.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

3/8/21 Finance Committee recommended for approval

Page 4 City of Appleton Printed on 3/16/2021

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17004
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5a6f1209-8b75-4628-920f-3aabb01c5394.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8aae89a2-2007-4cde-96fc-4b5257a8470f.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17005
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a2db797b-dd8d-45f7-9a20-ea50c87db2dd.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ae23b11f-9069-4ea8-9883-b1faead52e12.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17008
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=35e69b6b-1244-4061-865e-a04360b0baa3.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17014
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3542f0ca-2548-41c1-943c-d40dccdc4312.pdf


March 17, 2021Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

21-0264 Request to award the City of Appleton's Wastewater A & S Building's 

HVAC Upgrades Phase 2 Project contract to EGI Mechanical, Inc in the 

amount of $736,577 with a contingency of $13,000 for a project total not to 

exceed $749,577

 

2021 AWWTP S-Building HVAC Upgrdes.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

3/8/21 Finance Committee recommended for approval

6. MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

21-0247 Request to approve the City of Appleton maintain its current selling prices 

for business/industrial park land and hold option fees as described in the 

attached documents

Business-Industrial Park Land Value Memo_ 3-10-21.pdf

Exhibit A-Ind Land Sales Comparison.pdf

Exhibit B-Ind Land Asking Price Comparison.pdf

Southpoint Commerce Park Map.pdf

NE Business Park Map.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

3/10/21 Community & Economic 

Development Committee

recommended for approval

21-0248 Request to approve recommended funding of $15,000 for 2021 

sponsorships for Appleton Downtown Inc. (ADI) programs as outlined in the 

attached document

Memo to CEDC on ADI Sponsorships 2021.pdf

ADI Support Proposal to City 2021.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

3/10/21 Community & Economic 

Development Committee

recommended for approval

21-0249 Request to approve the Development Agreement with 318 College Ave 

LLC for improvements and redevelopment of the property located at 318 

W. College Avenue (the Park Central Property) in Tax Increment Financing 

District No. 11

Memo to CEDC 318 W College Ave Park Central Dev Agrmt_3-10-21.pdf

318 W College Ave Park Central - Dev Agrmt - 02-24-2021.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

3/10/21 Community & Economic 

Development Committee

recommended for approval

Page 5 City of Appleton Printed on 3/16/2021

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17015
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=581bb681-aa4c-4229-950f-f4295a4549e0.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16998
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=683107c3-f490-4c38-ae15-9875f398c788.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ef3c53b7-b0fb-41af-80ad-86f92034c182.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=187b07f0-93d3-4221-9135-d8fe8b60196f.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=859f48a4-fe34-43a2-973a-cf804af5ac6a.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=08d0f21c-3ce2-4b2d-bf0a-3621686e8ab2.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16999
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e87559e5-f4a2-411b-91a4-5f9c5f0c4e25.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7577f590-5108-4355-836a-50f2e1728300.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17000
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4ea84a68-97e3-4826-b7b1-72131d1178d1.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b720d6e2-c67b-41ea-a49c-bbebae967722.pdf


March 17, 2021Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

21-0260 Request to approve the REVISED 2021-2022PY Community Development 

Block Grant (CDBG) funding as specified in the attached community 

partner allocation recommendations

Alloc Recs Memo to CEDC Final Award 03-10-2021.pdf

Alloc Recs Memo to CEDC 11-11-20.pdf

FINAL 2021 CDBG Community Partner Recommendations 3-10-21.pdf

FINAL 2021 CDBG Simple Summary Recommendations 3-10-21.pdf

Letter From Apricity_Request for Additional Funds.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

3/10/21 Community & Economic 

Development Committee

recommended for approval

7. MINUTES OF THE UTILITIES COMMITTEE

21-0228 Approve 2020 Annual Stormwater Report to WDNR.

 

2020 MS4 Annual Report for UC w attachments.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

3/9/21 Utilities Committee recommended for approval

21-0238 Award of 2021D Stormwater Consulting Services Single Source Contract 

for Lightning Drive Stream Crossings and Stormwater Practices Final 

Design to raSmith in an amount not to exceed $107,000.

 

2021D Lightning Final Design Contract Award Memo to raSmith 03-09-2021 FINAL.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

3/9/21 Utilities Committee recommended for approval

21-0239 Award of Single Source Contract with NES Ecological Services for 2021 

Wetland Delineation Services in an amount not to exceed $35,639.70

 

2021E Wetland Delineations Contract Award Memo 03-09-2021 Util Cmte Final.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

3/9/21 Utilities Committee recommended for approval

21-0240 Award Single Source Unit K-21 Native Landscape Management Contract 

to Applied Ecological Services, Inc., in an amount not to exceed $256,680.

 

K-21 contract award util memo 03-09-2021 Final.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

3/9/21 Utilities Committee recommended for approval

Page 6 City of Appleton Printed on 3/16/2021

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17011
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fb283feb-2ad9-4bec-bcf0-8151d046e01a.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bc03e7f9-3714-4dd7-8888-bf3394080d2f.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=741da0ca-3bff-4283-ab9d-4911a7d98707.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6c0d14d0-f505-4772-8074-feee98e0e522.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=789b0c0d-467a-48c7-badc-52c202a126f9.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16979
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d06aa770-ff28-42c0-94ed-e3fcf5c404e7.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16989
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ef7f855d-20d4-4fb1-b65c-796d9af67608.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16990
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7490a862-6dff-45da-ac91-3448d3a904c2.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16991
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c97daa0c-24a3-4d5b-8ba3-6bd560a31c55.pdf


March 17, 2021Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

21-0262 Award Contract Amendment #1 to AECOM for the America's Water 

Infrastructure Act Project in the amount of $22,788.

 

utilities memo - AWIA RRA Memo 03-03-21 (002).pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

3/9/21 Utilities Committee recommended for approval

8. MINUTES OF THE HUMAN RESOURCES & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

COMMITTEE

21-0121 Discuss Alderperson salaries

 

Elected Alderperson official salary.pdf

alderperson comparison 2019.pdf

Alderperson Raises Deadline memo_HR.IT_2-23-2021.pdf

2020 Alderperson Compensation.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

1/27/21 Human Resources & 

Information Technology 

Committee

held

3/10/21 Human Resources & 

Information Technology 

Committee

recommended for approval

Effective April 2023 to set Alderperson salary to $10,125.

21-0281 Request to approve Valley Transit to reclassify a Road Supervisor to an 

Operations Supervisor

 

Request VT T.O. Change.pdf

Valley Transit TO draft 3-1-21.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

3/10/21 Human Resources & 

Information Technology 

Committee

recommended for approval

21-0282 Request to award Heartland Business Solutions the contract to purchase 

and implement a new Palo Alto Firewall high availability system.  The 

amount requested is $86,743 with a 10% contingency for a project total of 

$95,417

 

Firewall RFP Memo.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

3/10/21 Human Resources & 

Information Technology 

Committee

recommended for approval

Page 7 City of Appleton Printed on 3/16/2021

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17013
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fd88c178-a174-4906-b114-84797e5e7ee1.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16872
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=004076c4-eb06-41c4-b00c-a7516481f475.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=097625e9-8406-4880-a70f-c049dbcf461e.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4fc0195c-7fa7-4733-8f7b-1ab487a6b65b.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f6bd10de-dd2b-449c-86e9-ea4dec48aae4.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17032
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=82901da4-2519-4fc4-aa68-1972f9e8fcfa.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f3a464d8-1ba4-4fc6-95f3-7089b6e6e625.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17033
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c0a2ddda-4e20-43e3-86f0-1dcb0d481234.pdf


March 17, 2021Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final-revised

9. MINUTES OF THE FOX CITIES TRANSIT COMMISSION

10. MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH

21-0285 Proposed Additions to Code Section 9-52:  Operation of premises licensed for 

retail sales

Memo to BOH.pdf

Oct 2016 Edit.pdf

Proposed Revision.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

3/10/21 Board of Health recommended for approval

M. CONSOLIDATED ACTION ITEMS

N. ITEMS HELD

O. ORDINANCES

21-0304 Ordinance #7-21 - Rezoning 2-21 for 2501 North Meade Street

Ordinances going to Council 3-17-21.pdfAttachments:

P. LICENSE APPLICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION

Q. RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED BY ALDERPERSONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

OF JURISDICTION

R. OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESS

S. ADJOURN

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities will be made upon request and 

if feasible.

Page 8 City of Appleton Printed on 3/16/2021

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17036
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=dde4f598-2541-4c2f-9a5f-2a2f95cefe23.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7c3376dd-3f59-4579-9e15-2509e80607a7.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6ea01cef-0450-4f81-809f-7061f08cdaca.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=17055
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7fd76712-8b9d-4432-86fa-ee40cf8b68b4.pdf


100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

City of Appleton

Meeting Minutes - Final

Common Council

7:00 PM Council ChambersWednesday, March 3, 2021

CALL TO ORDERA.

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Woodford at 7:00 p.m.

INVOCATIONB.

The Invocation was offered by Alderperson Siebers

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAGC.

ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONSD.

Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Mike Smith, 

Alderperson Patti Coenen, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Kyle 

Lobner, Alderperson Joe Prohaska, Alderperson Corey Otis and Mayor Jake 

Woodford

Present: 16 - 

ROLL CALL OF OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADSE.

APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL MEETING MINUTESF.

21-0216 Common Council Meeting Minutes of February 17, 2021.

 

CC Minutes 2-17-21.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Otis, that the Minutes be 

approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Mike Smith, 

Alderperson Patti Coenen, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Kyle 

Lobner, Alderperson Joe Prohaska and Alderperson Corey Otis

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 1City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16967
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e09949cc-6aca-4438-aed4-43c296f2308d.pdf


March 3, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

BUSINESS PRESENTED BY THE MAYORG.

21-0234 Board & Task Force Appointments

 

Board & Task Force Appts. 3-3-21.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Smith, that the 

Appointments be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Mike Smith, 

Alderperson Patti Coenen, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Kyle 

Lobner, Alderperson Joe Prohaska and Alderperson Corey Otis

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

21-0235 Be Active Wisconsin Month Proclamation 

 

Be Active WI Proclamation.pdfAttachments:

This Proclamation was presented

21-0241 Presentation: IACT Grants

 

These grants were presented to the Police Department & Fire Department

21-0231 COVID-19 Update

 

COVID -19 Cases 3-3-21.pdfAttachments:

PUBLIC PARTICIPATIONH.

The following spoke during Public Participation regarding Item 21-0209 from Municipal 

Services Committee:

Kari Fischer, 64 Pheasant Ct (via Zoom)

Mike Fischer, 64 Pheasant Ct

PUBLIC HEARINGSI.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONSJ.

ESTABLISH ORDER OF THE DAYK.

Page 2City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16985
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6acad77f-7cde-426a-bc87-436bc89b61fa.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16986
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d3fc6a49-45ac-40cf-bf74-d66f65dc8f05.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16992
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16982
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=feb6b49e-7fb7-43aa-a42a-4394c8dbfa8e.pdf


March 3, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

21-0209 Request from Tyler Mueller for a second curb cut at 70 Pheasant Court 

be denied approved based on neighboring property objection per the 

City of Appleton's Driveway Opening Policy.

 

70 Pheasant Ct-driveway.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Prohaska moved, seconded by Alderperson Firkus, that the curb 

cut/drivewy addition be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Aye: Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad Firkus, Alderperson Katie 

Van Zeeland, Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, 

Alderperson Matthew Reed, Alderperson Patti Coenen, Alderperson Kyle 

Lobner and Alderperson Joe Prohaska

9 - 

Nay: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Mike Smith, Alderperson Nate Wolff and Alderperson 

Corey Otis

6 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

21-0192 Request from Pollenablers-Fox Cities to designate the month of May, 

2021 as No Mow May and to provide a 7 day grace period to not enforce 

the Weed Ordinance.

 

Pollenablers-No Mow May.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Schultz, that the 

Request be approved as amended in Committee. Roll Call. Motion carried by 

the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Patti Coenen, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson 

Kyle Lobner, Alderperson Joe Prohaska and Alderperson Corey Otis

13 - 

Nay: Alderperson Matthew Reed and Alderperson Mike Smith2 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

21-0190 Pet Store License application for Fancy Fish, Sia Y. Lor, applicant, 

located at 1804 S Lawe St, contingent upon approval from all 

departments.

Fancy Fish S&L.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Reed moved, seconded by Alderperson Fenton, that the License 

be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Page 3City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16960
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1141fdda-00bd-4d44-a450-9f5c43da60f1.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16943
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3822349a-68de-4644-87a8-b060da127caa.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16941
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d905a196-597c-4589-a170-e3ace520d004.pdf


March 3, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex 

Schultz, Alderperson Mike Smith, Alderperson Patti Coenen, Alderperson 

Nate Wolff, Alderperson Kyle Lobner, Alderperson Joe Prohaska and 

Alderperson Corey Otis

14 - 

Abstained: Alderperson Maiyoua Thao and Mayor Jake Woodford2 - 

COMMITTEE REPORTSL.

Balance of the action items on the agenda.

Alderperson Reed moved, Alderperson Siebers seconded, to approve the 

balance of the agenda.  The motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Mike Smith, 

Alderperson Patti Coenen, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Kyle 

Lobner, Alderperson Joe Prohaska and Alderperson Corey Otis

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

MINUTES OF THE MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE1.

21-0189 Approve Contract for 2021-2025 Movable Bridge Inspections to AECOM 

Technical Services, Inc. in an amount not to exceed $95,061.

 

Contract-Movable Bridge Inspections.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-0193 Request to extend free parking in the Red Ramp for an additional 90 

days, during vaccination clinic days only, as part of the community 

vaccination program at the Fox Cities Exhibition Center.

 

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE2.

21-0191 Class "A" Beer application for Oneida Street Mini Mart LLC d/b/a Oneida 

BP, Prabhu Dhungana, Agent, located at 1306 S Oneida St, contingent 

upon approval from all departments.

Oneida BP.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 4City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16940
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8ec951e0-7425-4d4d-a62b-f39626b9d293.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16944
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16942
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c86cf12b-3bb5-4f9c-90a8-464c8496861d.pdf


March 3, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

21-0195 Amusement Device License application for Oneida Street Mini Mart LLC 

d/b/a Oneida St BP, Prabhu Dhungana, applicant, located at 1306 S 

Oneida St, contingent upon approval from all departments.

Oneida St BP 2021 S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-0208 Cigarette License application for Oneida Street Mini Mart LLC d/b/a 

Oneida BP, located at 1306 S Oneida St.

Oneida St BP 2021 S&L.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE CITY PLAN COMMISSION3.

21-0175 Request to approve the First Addition to Broadway Hills Estates 

Annexation consisting of approximately 16.6454 acres generally located 

approximately 1,400 feet north of the intersection of N. French Road and 

E. Broadway Drive, on the west side of French Road, currently in the 

Town of Freedom, as shown on the attached maps subject to the 

stipulation in the attached staff report

StaffReport_1stAddBroadwayHillsEstates_Annexation_For02-23-21.pd

f

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE4.

MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE5.

21-0211 Request to award Unit B-21 Asphalt Pavement Reconstruction to Vinton 

Construction Company in the amount of $1,712,148 with a 2.7% 

contingency of $45,625 for a project total not to exceed $1,757,773

 

Award of Contract Unit B-21.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 5City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16946
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7803d5f3-d532-4eb8-8ac9-c0ebdee3024a.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16959
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3576f8bb-6dc1-4abb-9b0c-504270aa4dc1.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16926
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=31dfb8e7-6fc2-4c8c-87c5-d7795d236852.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16962
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=70410f8d-c1b5-4898-a11d-5bc47dcacb7d.pdf


March 3, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

21-0212 Request approval to write off delinquent accounts receivable invoices 

and personal property taxes (outstanding for more than one year) in the 

following amounts:  2017 accounts receivable invoices of $4,868.80 and 

personal property taxes of $25,246.73; and 2018 accounts receivable 

invoices of $18,747.96 and personal property taxes of $15,096.65

 

Write-off List 2021 for Committee.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-0213 Request to approve the following 2021 Budget amendment:

Valley Transit

Federal Grant +$110,964

Miscellaneous Local Aids +$  27,741

Capital Outlay - Software +$138,705

to record funding for, and purchase of, the Trans Data Management 

software program (2/3 vote of Council required)

 

VT Trans Data Management Memo 2021-02-18.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

21-0215 Request to approve the following 2021 Budget amendment:

Reid Golf Course

Capital Outlay - Parking Lot +$  43,000

Fund Balance - $  43,000

to record funding for and additional spending authority for parking lot 

construction (2/3 vote of Council required)

 

2021 Reid Golf Course Parking Lot Budget Amendment.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE6.

MINUTES OF THE UTILITIES COMMITTEE7.

MINUTES OF THE HUMAN RESOURCES & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

COMMITTEE
8.

Page 6City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16963
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ef77ddb0-e45c-492a-a675-d5b95d23a191.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16964
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=52c3ad82-2243-4286-98e5-f70cfc170232.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16966
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3d1ee531-c5ec-45bb-98a6-3717d0280045.pdf


March 3, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

MINUTES OF THE FOX CITIES TRANSIT COMMISSION9.

21-0201 Approve Award of Contract for TransTrack Data Management System

TransTrack Request.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH10.

CONSOLIDATED ACTION ITEMSM.

ITEMS HELDN.

ORDINANCESO.

21-0230 Ordinance #6-21 - First addition to Broadway Hills Estates Annexation

 

Ordinances going to Council 3-3-21.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Siebers moved, seconded by Alderperson Smith, that the 

Ordinance be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Mike Smith, 

Alderperson Patti Coenen, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Kyle 

Lobner, Alderperson Joe Prohaska and Alderperson Corey Otis

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

LICENSE APPLICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION
P.

Page 7City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16952
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=02f17f18-bee9-432b-ad23-40e59e4a17c0.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=16981
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=81229ed4-d87b-4314-ae86-31c9d982f554.pdf


March 3, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED BY ALDERPERSONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

OF JURISDICTION
Q.

Resolution #3 -R-21

PROHIBITION ON LARGE SCALE COMMERCIAL DOG AND CAT BREEDING

March 3, 2020

Submitted By: Maiyoua Thao District 7, Denise Fenton District 6, Vered Meltzer 

District 2

Referred To: Safety & Licensing Committee

WHEREAS, most puppies and kittens sold in pet stores come from large-scale, 

commercial breeding facilities where the health and welfare of the animals is 

disregarded in order to maximize profits (“puppy mills” and “kitten mills”, respectively). 

According to The Humane Society of the United States an estimated 10,000 puppy 

mills produce more than 2 million puppies per year in the United States.

WHEREAS, according to the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention pet 

store puppies pose a health risk to consumers, as over one hundred Americans have 

contracted an antibiotic-resistant Campylobacter infection from contact with pet store 

puppies.

WHEREAS, current federal and state regulations do not adequately address the 

animal welfare and consumer protection problems that the sale of puppy and kitten mill 

dogs and cats in pet stores pose.  Federal oversight of the commercial breeding 

industry is severely lacking.

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City of Appleton, Wisconsin to adopt 

reasonable regulations to reduce costs to Appleton, Wisconsin and its residents, 

protect citizens who may purchase cats or dogs from a pet store, help prevent 

inhumane breeding conditions, promote community awareness of animal welfare, and 

foster a more humane environment in Appleton.

THEREFORE be it resolved that the City of Appleton create Section 3-25 of the 

Municipal Code to include the following:

Sec. 3-25. Prohibition on large scale commercial dog or cat breeding.

(a) Definitions.  The following words, terms, and phrases, when used in this section, 

shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this paragraph:

"Animal care facility" means an animal control facility or animal shelter, maintained by 

or under contract with any state, county, or municipality, whose mission and practice 

is, in whole, or significant part, the rescue and placement of animals in permanent 

homes or rescue organizations.

"Animal rescue organization" means any not-for-profit organization that has tax-exempt 

status under Section 501(c)(3) of the United States Internal Revenue Code, whose 

mission and practice is, in whole or in significant part, the rescue and placement of 

animals in permanent homes. This term does not include an entity that is a breeder or 

broker or one that obtains animals from a breeder or broker for profit or compensation.

"Breeder" means a person that maintains a dog or cat for the purpose of breeding and 

selling their offspring.

"Broker" means a person that transfers a dog or cat from a breeder for resale by 

another person.

"Cat" means a member of the species of domestic cat, Felis catus.

"Dog" means a member of the species of domestic dog, Canis familiaris.

Page 8City of Appleton



March 3, 2021Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

"Pet store" means a retail establishment where companion animals are sold, 

exchanged, bartered, or offered for sale to the general public. Such definition shall not 

include an animal care facility or animal rescue organization.

(b) Restrictions on the sale of animals.  No pet store shall sell, deliver, offer for sale, 

barter, auction, give away, or otherwise transfer or dispose of cats or dogs. Nothing in 

this section shall prohibit pet stores from collaborating with animal care facilities or 

animal rescue organizations to offer space for such entities to showcase adoptable 

dogs or cats provided the pet store shall not have any ownership interest in the animals 

offered for adoption and shall not receive a fee for providing space for the adoption of 

any of these animals.  Dogs may not be kept overnight.

(c) Penalty.  A violation of this section shall be subject to a penalty as provided in 

§1-16, and each dog or cat in violation of this section shall constitute a separate 

violation.

(d) Effective date.  This section shall become effective July 1, 2021.

OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESSR.

ADJOURNS.

Alderperson Otis moved, seconded by Alderperson Siebers, that the meeting 

be adjourned at 8:11 p.m. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad 

Firkus, Alderperson Joe Martin, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Alderperson 

Matthew Reed, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Mike Smith, 

Alderperson Patti Coenen, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Kyle 

Lobner, Alderperson Joe Prohaska and Alderperson Corey Otis

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Page 9City of Appleton





0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500
03

/1
6/

20

03
/2

3/
20

03
/3

0/
20

04
/0

6/
20

04
/1

3/
20

04
/2

0/
20

04
/2

7/
20

05
/0

4/
20

05
/1

1/
20

05
/1

8/
20

05
/2

5/
20

06
/0

1/
20

06
/0

8/
20

06
/1

5/
20

06
/2

2/
20

06
/2

9/
20

07
/0

6/
20

07
/1

3/
20

07
/2

0/
20

07
/2

7/
20

08
/0

3/
20

08
/1

0/
20

08
/1

7/
20

08
/2

4/
20

08
/3

1/
20

09
/0

7/
20

09
/1

4/
20

09
/2

1/
20

09
/2

8/
20

10
/0

5/
20

10
/1

2/
20

10
/1

9/
20

10
/2

6/
20

11
/0

2/
20

11
/0

9/
20

11
/1

6/
20

11
/2

3/
20

11
/3

0/
20

12
/0

7/
20

12
/1

4/
20

12
/2

1/
20

12
/2

8/
20

01
/0

4/
21

01
/1

1/
21

01
/1

8/
21

01
/2

5/
21

02
/0

1/
21

02
/0

8/
21

02
/1

5/
21

02
/2

2/
21

03
/0

1/
21

03
/0

8/
21

Newly Reported COVID-19 Cases in Appleton 
by Week, with an Average per Week

New Cases Last 7 Days Weekly Average New Cases



67 + 103 = 170 (2 week case counts)

170 / 75,000 = .002267 (Appleton population 75,000)

.002267 x 100,000 = 226.7 (equals burden)

Low less than or equal to 10 per 100,000 people
Moderate greater than 10 but less than 50 per 100,000 people
Moderately High greater than 50 but less than 100 per 100,000 people
High is greater than 100 per 100,000 people
Very High is greater than 350 per 100,000 people
Critically High is greater than 1,000 per 100,000 people



Indicator Definition
Total number of cases per 100,000 
in the last two weeks (

Low

    ) Moderate
Moderately High

High
Very High

Critcally High
Percent change in the last two 
weeks (
   ), p-value from a test against 

Not changing (No 
Call)

Shrinking No Call Growing

Low Low Low Medium
Moderate Medium Medium High

Moderately High Medium High High

High High High High

Very High
Very 
High

Very 
High

Very High

Critically High
Critcally 
High

Critcally 
High

Critcally High

and 

Otherwise

Case status 
indicator(Composite 

of burden and 
trajectory)

Summary concern based on Burden 
and Trajectory classifications

Table 1. Two indicators being based on confirmed cases: Burden and Trajectory. A third indicator maps Burden and 
Trajectory indicators into one composite indicator.

Classes

Burden

1000 < B

                    ≤ 350
350 < B  ≤ 1000

Trajectory

Shrinking   and 

Growing



0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200
3/

23
/2

02
0

3/
30

/2
02

0

4/
6/

20
20

4/
13

/2
02

0

4/
20

/2
02

0

4/
27

/2
02

0

5/
4/

20
20

5/
11

/2
02

0

5/
18

/2
02

0

5/
25

/2
02

0

6/
1/

20
20

6/
8/

20
20

6/
15

/2
02

0

6/
22

/2
02

0

6/
29

/2
02

0

7/
6/

20
20

7/
13

/2
02

0

7/
20

/2
02

0

7/
27

/2
02

0

8/
3/

20
20

8/
10

/2
02

0

8/
17

/2
02

0

8/
24

/2
02

0

8/
31

/2
02

0

9/
7/

20
20

9/
14

/2
02

0

9/
21

/2
02

0

9/
28

/2
02

0

10
/5

/2
02

0

10
/1

2/
20

20

10
/1

9/
20

20

10
/2

6/
20

20

11
/2

/2
02

0

11
/9

/2
02

0

11
/1

6/
20

20

11
/2

3/
20

20

11
/3

0/
20

20

12
/7

/2
02

0

12
/1

4/
20

20

12
/2

1/
20

20

12
/2

8/
20

20

1/
4/

20
21

1/
11

/2
02

1

1/
18

/2
02

1

1/
25

/2
02

1

2/
1/

20
21

2/
8/

20
21

2/
15

/2
02

1

2/
22

/2
02

1

3/
1/

20
21

3/
8/

20
21

Two Week Total New COVID-19 Cases in Appleton, 
Rate per 100,000 Population, Risk Level Assessments per WDHS 

Low Moderate Moderately High High Very High Critically High



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
#2-21 

RE: Proposed Zone Change 
 

A public hearing will be held in the Council Chambers, City Hall, Appleton, Wisconsin, on 
March 17, 2021, at 7:00 P.M., or as soon thereafter as can be heard, to consider the following 
proposed zone change: 

 
Rezoning #2-21: A rezoning request has been initiated by the owner, Wisconsin Electric Power 
Company, on behalf of the applicant Greater Fox Cities Area Habitat for Humanity, in the matter 
of amending Chapter Twenty-three (Zoning Ordinance) of the Municipal Code of the City of 
Appleton for the following described real estate (2501 N. Meade Street).  The owner requests to 
rezone the property from C-2 General Commercial District to R-1B Single-family District. The 
R-1B district is intended to provide for and maintain residential areas characterized 
predominately by single-family, detached dwellings on medium sized lots while protecting 
residential neighborhoods from the intrusion of incompatible non-residential uses. 
 
Purpose of the Rezoning: This lot was used for a power substation since 1966 that has been 
removed recently. All adjoining properties, as well as those across the street, are residential.  
Greater Fox Cities Area Habitat for Humanity would like to construct a single-family house on 
this lot. 
 
Legal Description: PARCEL: 31-6-1808-00  
 
The E63FT OF S110FT OF BLK 1 PARKDALE PLAT, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, 
Wisconsin, including to the centerline of the adjacent right-of-way. 
 
February 24, 2021 
 
RUN: March 2, 2021    KAMI LYNCH 
 March 9, 2021    City Clerk 

























 

 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION____________________________________________________ 

Owner:  Wisconsin Electric Power Company, Nathaniel Sheahan and Tonya Peters 

 

Applicant:  Greater Fox Cities Area Habitat for Humanity, Roger Roth 

 

Address/Parcel#:  2501 North Meade Street / Parcel #31-6-1808-00 

 

Petitioner’s Request:  Owner/Applicant is requesting a zoning change from C-2 General Commercial 

District to R-1B Single-family District.  Greater Fox Cities Area Habitat for Humanity would like to 

construct a single-family house on this lot. 

 

BACKGROUND_______________________________________________________________ 

Since 1966, a power substation occupied the subject site.  Recently, the power substation has been 

removed, and the lot is for sale. 

   

STAFF ANALYSIS_____________________________________________________________ 

Proposed Zoning Classification:  The purpose of the R-1B Single-Family District is to provide for and 

maintain residential areas characterized predominately by single-family, detached dwellings on medium-

sized lots while protecting residential neighborhoods from the intrusion of incompatible non-residential 

uses.  

 

Zoning Ordinance Review Criteria:  Lot development standards (Section 23-93 – R-1B Single-Family 

District) are as follows: 

 

 Minimum lot area:  Six thousand (6,000) square feet. 

 

o The subject site (6,930 square feet) satisfies this standard. 

 

 Minimum lot width:  Fifty (50) feet. 

 

o The subject site (63 feet) satisfies this standard. 

 

REPORT TO PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Informal Public Hearing Date:  February 23, 2021 

Common Council Public Hearing & Meeting Date:  March 17, 2021 

Item:  Rezoning #2-21 - 2501 North Meade Street 

Case Manager:  Don Harp, Principal Planner 

     Community and  

     Economic 

     Development 



Rezoning #2-21 

February 23, 2021 

Page 2 

 

 

Surrounding zoning and land uses: 

 

North: R-2 Two-Family District – Two-family residential 

 South: R-1B Single-Family District – Single-family residential  

 East: R-1B Single-Family District – Single-family residential  

 West: R-1B Single-Family District – Single-family residential  

 

Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030:  The City of Appleton 2010-2030 Comprehensive Plan Map 

identifies the subject area as future Single-Family/Two–Family residential land uses.  
 

Overall Community Goals 

 

Goal 1 – Community Growth (Chapter 10 – Land Use) 

 

Appleton will continue to provide opportunities for residential, commercial and industrial growth, 

including appropriate redevelopment sites within the downtown and existing neighborhoods and 

greenfield development sites at the City's edge. 

 

Goal 3 – Housing Quality, Variety, and Affordability 

Appleton will provide a variety of rental and ownership housing choices in a range of prices affordable to 

community residents, and ensure that existing housing is adequately maintained in terms of physical 

quality and market viability. 

 

OBJECTIVE 5.1 Continue efforts to ensure an adequate supply of housing affordable to all income levels 

in the community. 

OBJECTIVE 5.3 Housing and Neighborhoods: 

Provide a range of housing options that meet the needs and appeal to all segments of the community and 

allows residents to age in place. 

 

Policy 5.3.3  Plan for a supply of developable land suitable for residential development. 

 

Standards for Zoning Map Amendments:  Per Section 23-65(d)(3) of the Municipal Code, all 

recommendations for Official Zoning Map amendments shall be consistent with the adopted plans, goals, 

and policies of the City and with the intent of the Zoning Ordinance.  It would appear the criteria 

established by Section 23-65(d)(3) Zoning Amendments has been satisfied. 

 

 

 

 



Rezoning #2-21 

February 23, 2021 

Page 3 

 

 

Related excerpts are listed below. 

 

a. Prior to making a recommendation on a proposed rezoning, the Plan Commission shall make a 

finding to determine if the following conditions exist.  No rezoning of land shall be approved prior 

to finding at least one of the following: 

 

1. The request for a zone change is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan for the City of 

Appleton.  The rezoning request is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 

goals and objectives stated above and the Future Land Use Map, which identifies this area for 

future one and two family residential land uses. 

 

2. A study submitted by the applicant that indicates that there has been an increase in the demand 

for land in the requested zoning district, and as a result, the supply of land within the City 

mapped as such on the Official Zoning Map is inadequate to meet the demands for such 

development. 

 

3. Proposed amendments cannot be accommodated by sites already zoned in the City due to lack 

of transportation, utilities or other development constraints, or the market to be served by the 

proposed use cannot be effectively served by the location of the existing zoning district(s). 

 

4. There is an error in the code text or zoning map as enacted. 

 

b. In addition to the findings required to be made by subsection (a), findings shall be made by the 

Plan Commission on each of the following matters based on the evidence presented: 

 

1. The adequacy of public facilities such as transportation, utilities and other required public 

services to serve the proposed site.  The subject area is served by existing infrastructure, and 

the transportation network should be able to accommodate the future use of subject site. 

 

2. The effect of the proposed rezoning on surrounding uses.  Single-family and two-family uses 

are already present adjacent to the subject site.  Therefore, the proposed rezoning request is 

unlikely to create adverse impacts in the surrounding neighborhood. 

 

Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item appeared on the February 2, 2021 TRG Agenda.  

No negative comments were received from participating departments. 

 

RECOMMENDATION________________________________________________________________ 

 

Staff recommends, based upon the standards for map amendments as required by Section 23-65(d)(3) of 

the Zoning Ordinance, that Rezoning Application #2-21 to rezone the subject parcel (Tax Id #31-6-1808-

00) from C-2 General Commercial District to R-1B Single-family District, including to the centerline of 

North Meade Street and East Pershing Street right-of-way, as shown on the attached maps, BE 

APPROVED. 



23
35

24
17

24
07

-09
24

23
25

01
26

13
-15

26
03

26
24

25
08

25
16

25
24

26
00

26
08

25
15

26
01

26
09

26
25

26
17

26
24

26
16

26
21

26
08

26
00

25
12

25
20

25
21

25
25

26
01

26
07

26
13

24
18

24
10

23
01

23
02

23
06

23
18

22
18

22
15

22
20 22
21

23
02

23
16

22
18

25
21

27
00

26
30

27
00 26
29

25
15

26
31

27
18

27
08

27
03

27
09

27
13 27
12

27
08

27
01

800 810 820 830

807 811 813 819 825 831 837

814 820 828 836 848 850802
807 813 819 825 831

808 812 816 824
807

849

850
849

23
12

22
12

22
19

24
02

25
04

26
00

26
32

-36
26

24
23

19
25

18
26

16

610-612 620-626

619
600

613
612 700

625
622

707 711
710 730

719
722

725 731

713615 701619 707 721
712

713

619

612

607 613

700622 706

701625 707 719

607 613 701619 707

718

725

719

712

719
718

612 618

613
608

619
616

700624 706

705625
624 706

713
712

718

724
725

701

725.5

631-33623-25609-11 619-21 701-03

614 622 700626 712706 724718
27

19

27
25

6-2
73

7

6-2
73

5

6-2
05

7
6-2

74
5

6-2
05

3

6-2
74

2

6-2
74

1

6-2
74

0

6-2
73

9

6-2
73

6

6-2
05

1

6-2
05

2

6-1
94

6
6-2

73
4

6-2
73

3

6-1908-2

6-1
80

8

6-1
80

6

6-1
80

7

6-2
76

8

6-2
76

7

6-2
75

6
6-3

00
3

6-2
96

9

6-2
96

8

6-2
96

7

6-2
96

6

6-2
96

5

6-2
96

4

6-2
75

2
6-2

99
9

6-2
99

7
6-2

75
0

6-2
75

1

6-2
98

0
6-2

96
3

6-2
99

8
6-2

97
9

6-2
97

8

6-2
75

4

6-2
75

3

6-2
75

5

6-3
00

1

6-3
00

0

6-3
00

2

6-2
97

1

6-3
00

5
6-2

75
8

6-2
75

7

6-1
94

8

6-2
07

0

6-1
94

7

6-2
05

5

6-2
05

4

6-2
05

6

6-2
74

6

6-2
05

9

6-2
05

8

6-2
06

1
6-2

06
0

6-2
74

3

6-2
74

4
6-2

73
1

6-2
76

6

6-2
76

0

6-2
61

1
6-2

61
5

6-2
72

5
6-2

60
9

6-2
72

6
6-2

61
0

6-2
61

3

6-2
61

4

6-2
72

9
6-1

90
9

6-2
72

8
6-2

61
2

6-2
73

0
6-1

91
0

6-1
91

1

6-1
80

3

6-2
61

6

6-1
80

4

6-1
80

5

6-2
76

2

6-2
76

1

6-2
76

4

6-2
76

3

6-2
76

5

6-1908

6-2
73

2

6-1
90

8-1

0-2937

1-4086

1-4085

1-4027

1-4028

1-3996 1-4029

1-3994

1-4000

1-3999 1-4026

1-4025

1-3998

1-3997

1-3993

1-3992

1-3991

1-3991-1

1-4030

1-4031

1-4032

1-4033

1-4034

1-3990

1-3995

1-4038

1-4040

1-4041

1-4042

1-4039 1-4082

1-4083

1-4084

1-3
48

8

1-3
48

9

1-3
49

0

1-3
49

1

1-3
49

2

1-3
49

7

1-3
49

6

1-3
49

5

1-3
49

4

1-3
49

3

1-4043

1-4044

1-4045

1-4046

1-4005 1-4003

1-4089

1-4088

1-4087

1-4
01

1

1-4
01

2

1-4
01

3

1-4
01

4

1-4
01

5

1-4
01

6

1-4
01

8

1-4
01

7
1-3380

1-3381

1-3
38

5

1-3
38

6

1-3
38

7

1-3
38

2

1-3
38

3

1-3
38

4

1-3
38

8

1-3486

1-3487

1-3498

1-3499

1-3
51

1

1-3502

1-3501

1-3
50

7

1-3
50

8

1-3
51

0

1-3
50

9

1-3
47

2

1-3
47

3

1-3
48

5

1-3
48

4
1-3

51
2

1-3
52

4

1-3
52

3

6-3
00

4

6-2
97

6

6-2
97

7

6-2
97

5

6-2
97

4

6-2
97

2

0-2945

R-1B

C-2
R-2

R-2

P

R-
2

C-2
N 

ME
AD

E S
T

E BYRD STN 
UN

IO
N 

ST

E PERSHING ST

E LINDBERGH ST

KE
ST

IN
G 

CT

E LONGVIEW DR

N 
RA

NK
IN

 ST

N 
ME

AD
E P

L

N 
ME

AD
E 

ST

N 
ON

EI
DA

 S
T

E NORTHLAND AV

E GLENDALE AV

E PERSHING ST
N 

DR
EW

 S
T

N 
OW

AI
SS

A S
T

Rezoning
2501 N. Meade Street

C-2 General Commercial District to 
R-1B Single-family District

Zoning Map

Subject Area

Subject Area

±0 200 400100 FeetCity Plan Commission
2-23-2021



N 
ME

AD
E S

T

E PERSHING ST

E MC ARTHUR ST

Rezoning
2501 N. Meade Street

C-2 General Commercial District to 
R-1B Single-family District

Aerial Map

0 200100
Feet ±

Subject Area

City Plan Commission
2-23-2021



 

 
 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

PARKS, RECREATION & FACILITIES 

MANAGEMENT 

Dean R. Gazza, Director 

1819 East Witzke Boulevard 

Appleton, Wisconsin 54911-8401 

(920) 832-5572  FAX (920) 993-3103 

Email - dean.gazza@appleton.org 

 

 

 

TO:  Parks and Recreation Committee 

 

FROM: Dean R. Gazza 

 

DATE:  03/08/2021 

 

RE: Action:  Award the City of Appleton’s “2021 Appleton Pickleball Complex 

Design Project” contract to JSD Professional Service, Inc. in an amount not to 

exceed $27,000.   

 

 

The 2021 Capital Improvement Plan includes $35,000 to design and install a new Pickleball 

Complex within the Appleton Parks system.  The Parks, Recreation, and Facilities Management 

Department (PRFMD) issued an RFP package for site selection and design of a Pickleball 

Complex. 

 

RFPs were sent to three companies, two companies responded with proposals, JSD and Rettler. 

We internally reviewed both proposals with staff and the JSD Professional Service, Inc proposal 

was selected based on value and their previous court building experience. 

 

The Parks, Recreation, and Facilities Management Department recommends awarding the 

contract for the design of an Appleton Pickleball Complex Project to JSD Professional Services, 

Inc. in an amount not to exceed $27,000, which is the cost of the chosen proposal. 

 

Please contact me at 832-5572 or at dean.gazza@appleton.org with any questions. 

mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org
mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org


TO:  Finance Committee

 Municipal Services Committee

 Utilities Committee

The Department of Public Works recommends that the following described work:

X-21 Sewer & Water Main Reconstruction No. 2

Be awarded to:  

Name:  Kruczek Construction, Inc.

Address:  3636 Kewaunee Road

Green Bay, WI 54311

In the amount of :

With a 3 % contingency of :

For a project total not to exceed :

In an amount Not To Exceed :

Budget:

Estimate:  

Committee Date:

Council Date: 03/17/21

C I T Y   O F   A P P L E T O N

Department of Public Works

MEMORANDUM

$2,110,110.10

SUBJECT: Award of Contract

**  OR  **

$63,303.30

$2,173,413.40

$2,360,535.00

$2,444,982.50

03/08/21

3/2/2021

J:\ENGINEERING\2ENGINEERS\Felton R\Word\X-21\Contract Award Form X-21.xls



Bid Tabulation

X-21 Sewer and Water Reconstruction (#7535648)
02/22/2021 01:45 PM CST

Unit Price Total $ Unit Price Total $

1 Furnish & Install 12" Water Main Lin. Ft. 4560 $86.00 $392,160.00 $85.00 $387,600.00

2 Furnish & Install 8" Water Main Lin. Ft. 2350 $69.00 $162,150.00 $74.00 $173,900.00

3 Furnish & Install 6" Hydrant Lead Lin. Ft. 105 $89.00 $9,345.00 $83.00 $8,715.00

4 Furnish & Install Hydrant EA 10 $4,650.00 $46,500.00 $4,065.00 $40,650.00

5 Furnish & Install 12" Gate Valve with Box EA 18 $3,350.00 $60,300.00 $3,065.00 $55,170.00

6 Furnish & Install 8" Gate Valve with Box EA 16 $1,925.00 $30,800.00 $1,750.00 $28,000.00

7 Furnish & Install 6" Gate Valve with Box EA 10 $1,350.00 $13,500.00 $1,280.00 $12,800.00

8 Furnish & Install 12" Bend EA 20 $600.00 $12,000.00 $555.00 $11,100.00

9 Furnish & Install 8" Bend EA 25 $300.00 $7,500.00 $300.00 $7,500.00

10 Furnish & Install 1" Service Lin. Ft. 1020 $95.00 $96,900.00 $114.00 $116,280.00

11 Furnish & Install 2" Service Lin. Ft. 10 $110.00 $1,100.00 $220.00 $2,200.00

12 Furnish & Install 1 1/2" Service Lin. Ft. 20 $140.00 $2,800.00 $167.00 $3,340.00

13 Service Connection EA 112 $125.00 $14,000.00 $205.00 $22,960.00

14 Furnish & Install Curb Box (Complete) EA 112 $345.00 $38,640.00 $510.00 $57,120.00

15 Furnish & Install 12" Sanitary Sewer Lin. Ft. 325 $73.00 $23,725.00 $87.00 $28,275.00

16 Furnish & Install 10" Sanitary Sewer Lin. Ft. 1310 $80.00 $104,800.00 $101.00 $132,310.00

17 Furnish & Install 8" Sanitary Sewer Lin. Ft. 1175 $80.00 $94,000.00 $94.00 $110,450.00

18 Reconnect Sanitary Lateral EA 96 $300.00 $28,800.00 $418.00 $40,128.00

19 Furnish & Install 4"-6" Sanitary Lateral Lin. Ft. 2250 $76.50 $172,125.00 $100.00 $225,000.00

20 Furnish & Install Sanitary Maintenance hole Vert. Ft. 125 $300.00 $37,500.00 $280.00 $35,000.00

21 Furnish & Install Sanitary Maintenance hole Casting EA 12 $330.00 $3,960.00 $635.00 $7,620.00

22 Disconnect Sanitary Lateral at Main EA 2 $750.00 $1,500.00 $1,400.00 $2,800.00

23 Furnish & Install Flowable Fill Cu. Yds. 60 $100.00 $6,000.00 $72.00 $4,320.00

24 Furnish & Install 19"x 30" Class IV Storm Sewer Lin. Ft. 790 $100.00 $79,000.00 $93.00 $73,470.00

25 Furnish & Install 21" Storm Sewer Lin. Ft. 20 $125.00 $2,500.00 $218.00 $4,360.00

26 Furnish & Install 18" Storm Sewer Lin. Ft. 350 $85.00 $29,750.00 $67.00 $23,450.00

27 Furnish & Install 15" Storm Sewer Lin. Ft. 700 $67.00 $46,900.00 $82.00 $57,400.00

28 Furnish & Install 12" Storm Sewer Lin. Ft. 1695 $62.00 $105,090.00 $69.00 $116,955.00

29 Furnish & Install 12" Storm Lateral Lin. Ft. 25 $70.00 $1,750.00 $78.00 $1,950.00

30 Furnish & Install 6" Storm Lateral Lin. Ft. 1600 $38.00 $60,800.00 $42.00 $67,200.00

31 Furnish & Install 15" Inlet Lead Lin. Ft. 30 $79.00 $2,370.00 $92.00 $2,760.00

32 Furnish & Install 12" Inlet Lead Lin. Ft. 310 $60.00 $18,600.00 $77.00 $23,870.00

33 Furnish & Install 10" Inlet Lead Lin. Ft. 20 $79.00 $1,580.00 $96.00 $1,920.00

34 Storm Lateral Hook-Up EA 25 $200.00 $5,000.00 $355.00 $8,875.00

35 Furnish & Install 8' Dia. Storm Maintenance Manhole EA 1 $8,000.00 $8,000.00 $13,200.00 $13,200.00

36 Furnish & Install 6' Dia. Storm Maintenance hole Vert. Ft. 22 $525.00 $11,550.00 $515.00 $11,330.00

37 Furnish & Install 5' Dia. Storm Maintenance hole Vert. Ft. 12 $550.00 $6,600.00 $396.00 $4,752.00

38 Furnish & Install 4' Dia. Storm Maintenance hole Vert. Ft. 60 $315.00 $18,900.00 $275.00 $16,500.00

39 Furnish & Install Storm Maintenance hole Casting EA 14 $365.00 $5,110.00 $646.00 $9,044.00

40 Furnish & Install "E" Inlet w/Frame & Grate EA 13 $1,700.00 $22,100.00 $1,725.00 $22,425.00

41 Furnish & Install "C" Inlet w/Frame & Grate EA 1 $2,200.00 $2,200.00 $1,730.00 $1,730.00

42 Abandon Maintenance hole EA 1 $600.00 $600.00 $348.00 $348.00

43 Furnish & Install 8" Concrete Pavement Sq. Yds. 210 $93.00 $19,530.00 $86.00 $18,060.00

44 Furnish & Install Concrete Sidewalk Sq. Ft. 100 $12.25 $1,225.00 $10.00 $1,000.00

45 Spot Repair (Under 9' deep) EA 2 $5,500.00 $11,000.00 $3,750.00 $7,500.00

46 Spot Repair (Over 9' deep) EA 2 $10,000.00 $20,000.00 $7,050.00 $14,100.00

47 Furnish & Paint Pavement Marking Stop Line (18"/24") Lin. Ft. 50 $2.00 $100.00 $1.60 $80.00

48 Furnish & Paint Pavement Marking Crosswalk (6") Lin. Ft. 125 $1.00 $125.00 $1.00 $125.00

49 Furnish & Install Type "D-M" Inlet Protection EA 66 $100.00 $6,600.00 $70.00 $4,620.00

50 Sediment Log Lin. Ft. 70 $10.00 $700.00 $8.00 $560.00

51 Temporary Asphalt Pavement Lump Sum 1 $234,325.10 $234,325.10 $205,000.00 $205,000.00

52 Temporary Traffic Control Lump Sum 1 $25,000.00 $25,000.00 $24,000.00 $24,000.00

53 Removal of Contaminated Soil Cu. Yds. 150 $10.00 $1,500.00 $9.00 $1,350.00

54 Furnish & Install Extra Stone Bedding Tons 150 $10.00 $1,500.00 $1.00 $150.00

Base Bid Total: $2,110,110.10 $2,251,322.00

Bid 

Item
Item Description Unit Qty

Kruczek Construction Inc. PTS Contractors, Inc



Bid Tabulation

X-21 Sewer and Water Reconstruction (#7535648)
02/22/2021 01:45 PM CST

1 Furnish & Install 12" Water Main Lin. Ft. 4560

2 Furnish & Install 8" Water Main Lin. Ft. 2350

3 Furnish & Install 6" Hydrant Lead Lin. Ft. 105

4 Furnish & Install Hydrant EA 10

5 Furnish & Install 12" Gate Valve with Box EA 18

6 Furnish & Install 8" Gate Valve with Box EA 16

7 Furnish & Install 6" Gate Valve with Box EA 10

8 Furnish & Install 12" Bend EA 20

9 Furnish & Install 8" Bend EA 25

10 Furnish & Install 1" Service Lin. Ft. 1020

11 Furnish & Install 2" Service Lin. Ft. 10

12 Furnish & Install 1 1/2" Service Lin. Ft. 20

13 Service Connection EA 112

14 Furnish & Install Curb Box (Complete) EA 112

15 Furnish & Install 12" Sanitary Sewer Lin. Ft. 325

16 Furnish & Install 10" Sanitary Sewer Lin. Ft. 1310

17 Furnish & Install 8" Sanitary Sewer Lin. Ft. 1175

18 Reconnect Sanitary Lateral EA 96

19 Furnish & Install 4"-6" Sanitary Lateral Lin. Ft. 2250

20 Furnish & Install Sanitary Maintenance hole Vert. Ft. 125

21 Furnish & Install Sanitary Maintenance hole Casting EA 12

22 Disconnect Sanitary Lateral at Main EA 2

23 Furnish & Install Flowable Fill Cu. Yds. 60

24 Furnish & Install 19"x 30" Class IV Storm Sewer Lin. Ft. 790

25 Furnish & Install 21" Storm Sewer Lin. Ft. 20

26 Furnish & Install 18" Storm Sewer Lin. Ft. 350

27 Furnish & Install 15" Storm Sewer Lin. Ft. 700

28 Furnish & Install 12" Storm Sewer Lin. Ft. 1695

29 Furnish & Install 12" Storm Lateral Lin. Ft. 25

30 Furnish & Install 6" Storm Lateral Lin. Ft. 1600

31 Furnish & Install 15" Inlet Lead Lin. Ft. 30

32 Furnish & Install 12" Inlet Lead Lin. Ft. 310

33 Furnish & Install 10" Inlet Lead Lin. Ft. 20

34 Storm Lateral Hook-Up EA 25

35 Furnish & Install 8' Dia. Storm Maintenance Manhole EA 1

36 Furnish & Install 6' Dia. Storm Maintenance hole Vert. Ft. 22

37 Furnish & Install 5' Dia. Storm Maintenance hole Vert. Ft. 12

38 Furnish & Install 4' Dia. Storm Maintenance hole Vert. Ft. 60

39 Furnish & Install Storm Maintenance hole Casting EA 14

40 Furnish & Install "E" Inlet w/Frame & Grate EA 13

41 Furnish & Install "C" Inlet w/Frame & Grate EA 1

42 Abandon Maintenance hole EA 1

43 Furnish & Install 8" Concrete Pavement Sq. Yds. 210

44 Furnish & Install Concrete Sidewalk Sq. Ft. 100

45 Spot Repair (Under 9' deep) EA 2

46 Spot Repair (Over 9' deep) EA 2

47 Furnish & Paint Pavement Marking Stop Line (18"/24") Lin. Ft. 50

48 Furnish & Paint Pavement Marking Crosswalk (6") Lin. Ft. 125

49 Furnish & Install Type "D-M" Inlet Protection EA 66

50 Sediment Log Lin. Ft. 70

51 Temporary Asphalt Pavement Lump Sum 1

52 Temporary Traffic Control Lump Sum 1

53 Removal of Contaminated Soil Cu. Yds. 150

54 Furnish & Install Extra Stone Bedding Tons 150

Base Bid Total:

Bid 

Item
Item Description Unit Qty

Unit Price Total $ Unit Price Total $

$88.00 $401,280.00 $100.00 $456,000.00

$78.00 $183,300.00 $80.00 $188,000.00

$75.00 $7,875.00 $96.00 $10,080.00

$4,100.00 $41,000.00 $4,474.00 $44,740.00

$3,350.00 $60,300.00 $3,281.00 $59,058.00

$1,900.00 $30,400.00 $1,886.00 $30,176.00

$1,350.00 $13,500.00 $1,350.00 $13,500.00

$600.00 $12,000.00 $660.00 $13,200.00

$310.00 $7,750.00 $361.00 $9,025.00

$105.00 $107,100.00 $80.00 $81,600.00

$115.00 $1,150.00 $100.00 $1,000.00

$110.00 $2,200.00 $125.00 $2,500.00

$300.00 $33,600.00 $272.00 $30,464.00

$350.00 $39,200.00 $435.00 $48,720.00

$100.00 $32,500.00 $97.00 $31,525.00

$97.00 $127,070.00 $100.00 $131,000.00

$94.00 $110,450.00 $95.00 $111,625.00

$250.00 $24,000.00 $213.00 $20,448.00

$91.00 $204,750.00 $85.00 $191,250.00

$270.00 $33,750.00 $327.00 $40,875.00

$750.00 $9,000.00 $436.00 $5,232.00

$1,500.00 $3,000.00 $716.00 $1,432.00

$100.00 $6,000.00 $124.00 $7,440.00

$97.00 $76,630.00 $96.00 $75,840.00

$150.00 $3,000.00 $114.00 $2,280.00

$88.00 $30,800.00 $100.00 $35,000.00

$79.00 $55,300.00 $95.00 $66,500.00

$78.00 $132,210.00 $70.00 $118,650.00

$78.00 $1,950.00 $67.00 $1,675.00

$57.00 $91,200.00 $60.00 $96,000.00

$90.00 $2,700.00 $73.00 $2,190.00

$83.00 $25,730.00 $66.00 $20,460.00

$80.00 $1,600.00 $89.00 $1,780.00

$200.00 $5,000.00 $213.00 $5,325.00

$6,100.00 $6,100.00 $7,421.00 $7,421.00

$515.00 $11,330.00 $595.00 $13,090.00

$465.00 $5,580.00 $639.00 $7,668.00

$300.00 $18,000.00 $312.00 $18,720.00

$350.00 $4,900.00 $417.00 $5,838.00

$2,000.00 $26,000.00 $1,911.00 $24,843.00

$2,000.00 $2,000.00 $1,920.00 $1,920.00

$500.00 $500.00 $577.00 $577.00

$90.00 $18,900.00 $90.00 $18,900.00

$10.50 $1,050.00 $11.00 $1,100.00

$5,300.00 $10,600.00 $2,607.00 $5,214.00

$6,500.00 $13,000.00 $5,560.00 $11,120.00

$85.00 $4,250.00 $85.00 $4,250.00

$22.00 $2,750.00 $21.00 $2,625.00

$100.00 $6,600.00 $106.00 $6,996.00

$10.00 $700.00 $13.00 $910.00

$225,000.00 $225,000.00 $243,466.00 $243,466.00

$30,000.00 $30,000.00 $38,778.00 $38,778.00

$15.00 $2,250.00 $24.00 $3,600.00

$15.00 $2,250.00 $15.00 $2,250.00

$2,309,055.00 $2,373,876.00

Jossart Brothers, Inc. Dorner Inc.



Bid Tabulation

X-21 Sewer and Water Reconstruction (#7535648)
02/22/2021 01:45 PM CST

1 Furnish & Install 12" Water Main Lin. Ft. 4560

2 Furnish & Install 8" Water Main Lin. Ft. 2350

3 Furnish & Install 6" Hydrant Lead Lin. Ft. 105

4 Furnish & Install Hydrant EA 10

5 Furnish & Install 12" Gate Valve with Box EA 18

6 Furnish & Install 8" Gate Valve with Box EA 16

7 Furnish & Install 6" Gate Valve with Box EA 10

8 Furnish & Install 12" Bend EA 20

9 Furnish & Install 8" Bend EA 25

10 Furnish & Install 1" Service Lin. Ft. 1020

11 Furnish & Install 2" Service Lin. Ft. 10

12 Furnish & Install 1 1/2" Service Lin. Ft. 20

13 Service Connection EA 112

14 Furnish & Install Curb Box (Complete) EA 112

15 Furnish & Install 12" Sanitary Sewer Lin. Ft. 325

16 Furnish & Install 10" Sanitary Sewer Lin. Ft. 1310

17 Furnish & Install 8" Sanitary Sewer Lin. Ft. 1175

18 Reconnect Sanitary Lateral EA 96

19 Furnish & Install 4"-6" Sanitary Lateral Lin. Ft. 2250

20 Furnish & Install Sanitary Maintenance hole Vert. Ft. 125

21 Furnish & Install Sanitary Maintenance hole Casting EA 12

22 Disconnect Sanitary Lateral at Main EA 2

23 Furnish & Install Flowable Fill Cu. Yds. 60

24 Furnish & Install 19"x 30" Class IV Storm Sewer Lin. Ft. 790

25 Furnish & Install 21" Storm Sewer Lin. Ft. 20

26 Furnish & Install 18" Storm Sewer Lin. Ft. 350

27 Furnish & Install 15" Storm Sewer Lin. Ft. 700

28 Furnish & Install 12" Storm Sewer Lin. Ft. 1695

29 Furnish & Install 12" Storm Lateral Lin. Ft. 25

30 Furnish & Install 6" Storm Lateral Lin. Ft. 1600

31 Furnish & Install 15" Inlet Lead Lin. Ft. 30

32 Furnish & Install 12" Inlet Lead Lin. Ft. 310

33 Furnish & Install 10" Inlet Lead Lin. Ft. 20

34 Storm Lateral Hook-Up EA 25

35 Furnish & Install 8' Dia. Storm Maintenance Manhole EA 1

36 Furnish & Install 6' Dia. Storm Maintenance hole Vert. Ft. 22

37 Furnish & Install 5' Dia. Storm Maintenance hole Vert. Ft. 12

38 Furnish & Install 4' Dia. Storm Maintenance hole Vert. Ft. 60

39 Furnish & Install Storm Maintenance hole Casting EA 14

40 Furnish & Install "E" Inlet w/Frame & Grate EA 13

41 Furnish & Install "C" Inlet w/Frame & Grate EA 1

42 Abandon Maintenance hole EA 1

43 Furnish & Install 8" Concrete Pavement Sq. Yds. 210

44 Furnish & Install Concrete Sidewalk Sq. Ft. 100

45 Spot Repair (Under 9' deep) EA 2

46 Spot Repair (Over 9' deep) EA 2

47 Furnish & Paint Pavement Marking Stop Line (18"/24") Lin. Ft. 50

48 Furnish & Paint Pavement Marking Crosswalk (6") Lin. Ft. 125

49 Furnish & Install Type "D-M" Inlet Protection EA 66

50 Sediment Log Lin. Ft. 70

51 Temporary Asphalt Pavement Lump Sum 1

52 Temporary Traffic Control Lump Sum 1

53 Removal of Contaminated Soil Cu. Yds. 150

54 Furnish & Install Extra Stone Bedding Tons 150

Base Bid Total:

Bid 

Item
Item Description Unit Qty

Unit Price Total $ Unit Price Total $

$94.00 $428,640.00 $120.00 $547,200.00

$84.00 $197,400.00 $99.00 $232,650.00

$90.00 $9,450.00 $100.00 $10,500.00

$3,850.00 $38,500.00 $4,300.00 $43,000.00

$3,000.00 $54,000.00 $3,100.00 $55,800.00

$1,800.00 $28,800.00 $1,800.00 $28,800.00

$1,200.00 $12,000.00 $1,350.00 $13,500.00

$800.00 $16,000.00 $700.00 $14,000.00

$350.00 $8,750.00 $360.00 $9,000.00

$82.00 $83,640.00 $100.00 $102,000.00

$120.00 $1,200.00 $120.00 $1,200.00

$110.00 $2,200.00 $120.00 $2,400.00

$260.00 $29,120.00 $350.00 $39,200.00

$250.00 $28,000.00 $325.00 $36,400.00

$120.00 $39,000.00 $110.00 $35,750.00

$110.00 $144,100.00 $103.00 $134,930.00

$102.00 $119,850.00 $100.00 $117,500.00

$300.00 $28,800.00 $350.00 $33,600.00

$84.00 $189,000.00 $105.00 $236,250.00

$280.00 $35,000.00 $400.00 $50,000.00

$650.00 $7,800.00 $700.00 $8,400.00

$500.00 $1,000.00 $1,200.00 $2,400.00

$100.00 $6,000.00 $150.00 $9,000.00

$122.00 $96,380.00 $110.00 $86,900.00

$340.00 $6,800.00 $100.00 $2,000.00

$80.00 $28,000.00 $85.00 $29,750.00

$70.00 $49,000.00 $80.00 $56,000.00

$66.00 $111,870.00 $74.00 $125,430.00

$90.00 $2,250.00 $84.00 $2,100.00

$56.00 $89,600.00 $64.00 $102,400.00

$90.00 $2,700.00 $85.00 $2,550.00

$70.00 $21,700.00 $75.00 $23,250.00

$90.00 $1,800.00 $72.00 $1,440.00

$200.00 $5,000.00 $250.00 $6,250.00

$16,000.00 $16,000.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00

$516.00 $11,352.00 $700.00 $15,400.00

$500.00 $6,000.00 $550.00 $6,600.00

$450.00 $27,000.00 $400.00 $24,000.00

$450.00 $6,300.00 $500.00 $7,000.00

$1,800.00 $23,400.00 $2,000.00 $26,000.00

$1,800.00 $1,800.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00

$500.00 $500.00 $1,000.00 $1,000.00

$90.00 $18,900.00 $90.00 $18,900.00

$13.50 $1,350.00 $12.00 $1,200.00

$4,000.00 $8,000.00 $5,000.00 $10,000.00

$8,275.00 $16,550.00 $7,000.00 $14,000.00

$82.00 $4,100.00 $82.00 $4,100.00

$22.00 $2,750.00 $22.00 $2,750.00

$100.00 $6,600.00 $100.00 $6,600.00

$20.00 $1,400.00 $10.00 $700.00

$242,000.00 $242,000.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00

$50,000.00 $50,000.00 $25,000.00 $25,000.00

$30.00 $4,500.00 $30.00 $4,500.00

$15.00 $2,250.00 $25.00 $3,750.00

$2,374,102.00 $2,600,050.00

Soper Sewer & Water, LLC.
Carl Bowers & Sons                         

Const Co. Inc.



 
 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

PARKS, RECREATION & FACILITIES 
MANAGEMENT 

Dean R. Gazza, Director 
1819 East Witzke Boulevard 

Appleton, Wisconsin 54911-8401 
(920) 832-5572 FAX (920) 993-3103 

Email - dean.gazza@appleton.org 
 
TO:  Finance Committee 
 
FROM: Dean R. Gazza, Director of Parks, Recreation and Facilities Management 
 
DATE:  3/8/2021 
 
RE:  Action Item:  Award contract to Skidmore, Owings & Merrill for design and 

engineering services for the Appleton Public Library for a contract of $2,721,389 and 
a 5% design contingency of $137,744 for a contract not to exceed $2,857,459 and 
approve the related 2021 Budget amendment. 

 
 
On February 4, 2021, Proposals were received from 11 architectural firms for design and 
engineering services to redesign the Appleton Public Library (APL).  After review of the proposals 
by an 11-person panel of City staff, elected officials and citizens, two of those firms were chosen and 
subsequently interviewed on February 23, 2021.  Upon conclusion of the interviews, reference calls, 
and discussion among the panel, the firm of Skidmore, Owings & Merrill (SOM) was unanimously 
selected by the review team to be recommended for award of the contract.   
 
The process to get to this step began during the 2020 city budget process when the Common Council 
approved funding to begin the design to address the community’s longstanding library   This was 
after a dozen years of planning and studies that provided valuable information to help define the 
needs of the Library.  Since the adoption of the 2021 budget, which included $26.4M for the overall 
Library project spread across three fiscal years, the following events have occurred: 
 

• December 9, 2020 – Public Listening Session conducted to obtain input into the Request for 
Proposals (RFP) to hire a consultant for architectural and engineering services. Holding a 
public listening session at the RFP stage was a new addition to the City’s standard process. 

• December 15, 2020 – RFP Draft reviewed with the Library Board. 
• December 16, 2020 – RFP Draft reviewed with the Common Council. 
• December 17, 2020 – Final RFP released and advertised including updates based on 

feedback provided by the public, Library Board and Common Council. 
• February 4, 2021 – Proposals received from 11 firms. 
• March 3, 2021 – 11-member review team recommends Skidmore, Owings, & Merrill upon 

reviewing proposals and performing reference checks.  
 

mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org


The Proposal review team consisted of City Departmental Directors, Deputy Directors and staff 
representing Facilities & Construction Management, Library, Community & Economic Development 
and Public Works Friends of the Library, Library Board, Common Council and the Mayor. 
 
Proposals were evaluated based on the terms put forth in the RFP:  relevant experience, project 
success, project team, project understanding/study methodology, project schedule, and cost.  It was 
important that the firms clearly demonstrated experience in the design of libraries as well as an 
understanding of and ability to articulate the important role of the public library in our community.  
Additionally, the firms had to present a commitment to listening and the ability to foster strong, 
representative public engagement throughout the design process resulting in meaningful input into 
the eventual library design. 
 
Specifically, SOM demonstrated an understanding and approach to the project that illustrated their 
depth of experience, knowledge in library design and construction, listening skills and importance of 
garnering meaningful public input and building trust throughout the process.  In addition, they have 
significant experience in building re-use, equity and inclusion, sustainability, technology, operational 
efficiency, and many important key factors necessary for a successful library. 
 
SOM is a passionate collective of architects, designers, engineers, and planners, dedicated to 
designing treasured public buildings and have significant experience in library design.  Established 
in 1936, SOM brings a global perspective with Midwest roots.  They are known as a leader in design 
with extensive experience and is often selected for significant projects.  Currently, SOM is the 
selected firm to design the Mulva Cultural Center in DePere, WI.  SOM made the decision to 
propose on our project realizing Appleton is a vibrant community and this a unique project that 
combines a newly updated facility that will have a significant impact on the neighborhood and 
residents. 
 
SOM is a firm with a significant depth of skills and experience and the team they have assembled for 
Appleton is highly skilled and experienced in award-winning design. In addition to their impressive 
credentials, they have demonstrated an open, curious and down-to-earth style that was reinforced in 
conversations with their references.  They are known for balancing design, functionality, and the 
technical needs of a project to provide spaces that serve generations. 
 
Therefore, based on a careful review of the information provided, and subsequent personal 
interviews of firm representatives, the review team respectfully and unanimously recommends 
awarding a contract to  the architectural firm of Skidmore, Owings & Merrill for $2,721,389 with a 
design contingency of 5% for a contract total not to exceed $2,857,459.  Note that both reimbursable 
and contingency expenses are only utilized as needed and allowed per contract and authorization by 
the project manager.   
 
The fees provided by the firms interviewed averaged $2,612,533.  Though the request for proposal 
was very specific, firms varied in what was included and/or did not meet completely meet the 
requirements in the RFP.  SOM’s proposal was very extensive and included all services requested 
which is reflected in their pricing. 
   
The 2021 Budget includes $2,400,000 for library design services. It was anticipated design would 
begin in 2021 and construction would begin in 2022.  This contract also includes construction 
administration services to be completed in 2022.  Rather than creating two separate contracts, it is 
standard practice to issue one contract to include all services.  In order to provide the additional 
spending authority for the anticipated cost of this contract, a 2021 Budget amendment is also being 



proposed for $457,459, which will be deducted from the existing project total of $26.4 million as 
approved in the 2021 Budget and Service Plan.  It is anticipated that any budgeted funds related to 
this contract that are not expended in 2021 would be carried over to 2022.    
 
Please feel free to contact me at 832-5572 with any questions, or by email at 
dean.gazza@appleton.org.   

mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org


SKIDMORE, OWINGS & MERRILL LLP 

March 5, 2021

Dear Appleton Community,

On behalf of the entire SOM team, we are absolutely thrilled to be selected as the design firm for your new library, and 
we consider it a privilege to work with you to realize a new, specially-designed building that will serve the Appleton 
community for the next generation and beyond. 

To achieve this goal, we will welcome engagement and input from various stakeholders from the city and Library 
staff, the Library Board of Trustees, City of Appleton Common Council, to Friends of the Appleton Public Library, 
community groups, and the public. We are committed to engaging a wide range of voices and an inclusive process to 
create a design reflective of your diverse community. Listening to you and understanding your goals as a community 
will be the driving force of our design—we won't begin designing until we hear from you! Our mission is to create a 
design that successfully meets your needs and aspirations and that appropriately reflects the culture of the Appleton 
community. We will set out to design a space that enriches the environment, fulfills the Library's operational needs, 
and instills a sense of pride for the community. 

We understand the responsibility that comes with publicly-funded civic projects. We realize that we are entrusted 
with a community facility that has served this community for 40 years and are shaping investments in the future 
of Appleton. We will strive to maximize the benefit and reach of these investments. To this end, we will give serious 
consideration to the possibility of adaptively reusing the existing structure—and the benefits offered—versus creating 
an entirely new building. Our focus is finding creative, cost-effective, project-specific solutions that respond to your 
needs. We are not just working for you—we become a part of your team. 

We regularly take on projects of all shapes and types, public and private, near home and abroad. Our design 
philosophy is rooted in pragmatism with a diverse portfolio of projects ranging from small renovations to large 
mixed-use developments. Our work in the public sector ranges from libraries and schools to plazas and parks, and 

SKIDMORE, OWINGS & MERRILL LLP
224 SOUTH MICHIGAN AVENUE
CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 60604

Little Italy Branch Library, Chicago, IllinoisChinatown Public Library, Chicago, Illinois



SKIDMORE, OWINGS & MERRILL LLP 

represents our firm's commitment to creating spaces that enhance the lives of the communities they serve. 
Visiting our recently completed library projects in Chicago and around the country provides a sense of 
accomplishment seeing the librarians at work, patrons engaged, and children at play—reading, learning, and 
interacting. They represent places for everyone.

In your project we recognize an exciting design opportunity to create a unique project that requires bold, creative 
thinking grounded in practicality. We've identified several key focus areas for the new library and will use these as the 
guiding principles in our process: establish a nucleus for Appleton; feature upgraded, state-of-the-art technology; 
create an open, inviting space filled with natural light; employ sustainable, energy efficient strategies; foster a 
welcoming and safe environment; lead an inclusive, community-driven process; and craft flexible, adaptable spaces. 

To bring your vision to life, we have thoughtfully curated a team with experience working in Wisconsin, most recently 
for the Mulva Cultural Center, just a few miles down the Fox River in De Pere. The knowledge we have gained in local 
culture, climate, and construction strategies, along with a respect for Wisconsin's history of craftsmanship, will allow 
us to hit the ground running on your behalf. 

It is an honor to support the Library and its mission by designing a civic gem and an extraordinary place of education 
and culture that will serve Appleton for generations to come. We are excited to get started and we look forward to 
working with you.

With sincere gratitude for the opportunity,

Adam Semel  Scott Duncan
Partner   Partner

Billie Jean King Main Library, Long Beach, CaliforniaWest Loop Branch Library, Chicago, IllinoisLittle Italy Branch Library, Chicago, Illinois



 

 
 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

 

 

 

TO:  Finance Committee 

 

FROM: Tony Saucerman, Finance Director 

  Kurt Eggebrecht, Health Officer 

  Jeff Fait, Purchasing Manager 

 

DATE:  3/8/2021 

 

RE: Approval of Disposal of Surplus Beds 

 

 

Background 

Early in the COVID-19 pandemic, discussions between public health and health-care leadership 

centered around containment and response to this novel virus. China, Italy and other countries 

experienced that hospital capacity could not keep pace with the number in need of care. 

Anticipating that this same experience could happen in our State and community, efforts went into 

planning for a what has been termed “Alternative Care Facility”. This concept was discussed at 

Common Council meetings where we had explored and prepared plans to utilize the Fox Cities 

Exhibition Center as a location to care for residents that remained too ill to return to home yet, by 

remaining in the hospital, would prevent a new resident with more acute disease symptoms from 

getting urgent care. The plan projected a potential need for 200 beds, which were purchased from 

WG&R Furniture. Although our planning was prudent, as we did in fact reach this capacity 

limitation at our area hospitals, we were able to transport these patients to the Alternative Care 

Facility at State Fair Park in Milwaukee rather than open a local facility. The purchase of 200 beds 

was a decision made in an environment of addressing life safety as our primary objective within 

our EOC Incident Action Plan and the support of hospital capacity. We are pleased that this 

resource was not deployed, and we are now at a point in time that these resources can be released 

for another useful purpose for the greater good.  The supplier has patiently stored the beds in their 

warehouse for 10 months but requires a disposition at this time. 

 

CARES Funding 

The beds were originally purchased using CARES grant funds from the federal government 

which were passed down from the State of Wisconsin through the “Routes to Recovery” grant.  

No local property tax dollars were used to make this purchase.  Since the funds to make the 

initial purchase were made from federal grant funds, any proceeds from the sale or disposition of 

the mattresses/frames must be returned to the federal government. 

 

Disposal Considerations 

When it was determined the beds would no longer be necessary, the City reached out to local 

agencies that might have a need for a large allotment of hospital-style beds including Brewster 

Village and ThedaCare for use in their assisted living facilities or at-home program.   Due to a 

lack of City storage capacity, it was important to find an agency that could take possession of the 



entire allotment of beds rather than trying to distribute them out piecemeal to several 

organizations.  The City has neither the storage capacity nor the manpower to undergo such a 

distribution effort without incurring significant additional costs. Unfortunately, due to various 

reasons, such as specific requirements of bed/mattress requirements from their regulatory 

agencies, although they were appreciative, none of the agencies contacted were able to accept the 

beds.   

 

After several communications with our supplier WG&R, they proposed an option that would (1) 

refund the City 25% of the cost of the bed frames along with the delivery/set-up charge, 

approximately $18,131 (which would be returned to the federal government) and, (2) distribute 

the entire allotment  of mattresses to homes of children in need throughout Northeast Wisconsin 

through their charitable program called “Brighter Dreams.” A listing of those homes would be 

supplied to the City to verify that the mattresses were delivered as promised. 

 

In light of our previous unsuccessful efforts to place the beds independently, along with the 

City’s pressing responsibility to take possession of the property, we feel this disposal method is 

the most desirable option as it allows the City to avoid additional storage and distribution costs 

while also repurposing the mattresses to those in need.  Therefore, we respectfully request the 

Committee’s approval to move forward with this option. 

 

If you have any questions regarding this request, or would like further clarification, please feel 

free to contact any one of us. 

 

 

 

 
 





























 

 
 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

PARKS, RECREATION & FACILITIES 

MANAGEMENT 

Dean R. Gazza, Director 

1819 East Witzke Boulevard 

Appleton, Wisconsin 54911-8401 

(920) 832-5572  FAX (920) 993-3103 

Email - dean.gazza@appleton.org 

TO:  Finance Committee 

 

FROM: Dean R. Gazza 

 

DATE:  3/8/2021 

 

RE: Action:  Award the City of Appleton’s “2021 Parks Hardscapes Project – AMP 

Parking Lot #3 Reconstruction Project” contract to Northeast Asphalt, Inc. in the 

amount of $289,788.02 with a contingency of $50,000 for a project total not to 

exceed $339,788.02.   

 

 

The 2021 Capital Improvement Plan includes $700,000 to repair hardscapes at various city 

parks. Of that amount, $400,000 has been allocated to reconstruct the AMP Parking Lot #3. The 

balance of the 2021 Parks Hardscape Improvements budget was will be utilized at several other 

parks including, but not limited to: Pierce Park, Appleton Memorial Park, and Highview Trail. 

The recommendations for repairs were determined by our consulting engineer after a hardscape 

audit was completed at the site. 

 

The bids were received as follows: 

 

Northeast Asphalt, Inc. (low bid)  $289,788.02 

Peters Concrete Co.     $313,397.30 

MCC, Inc.     $333,527.01 

Vinton Construction Co.   $379,868.38 

Sommers Construction Co., Inc.  $387,331.61 

 

  

Our consulting engineer has written the City of Appleton a formal letter of recommendation to 

award the contract to Northeast Asphalt, Inc. The Parks, Recreation, and Facilities Management 

Department has also reviewed the bids and is in agreement with the engineer’s recommendation. 

Therefore, we recommend awarding the contract to Northeast Asphalt, Inc. in the amount of 

$289,788.02 plus a contingency of $50,000 only to be utilized as needed. 

 

Please contact me at 832-5572 or at dean.gazza@appleton.org with any questions. 
 

mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org
mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org


 

 
 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

PARKS, RECREATION & FACILITIES 

MANAGEMENT 

Dean R. Gazza, Director 

1819 East Witzke Boulevard 

Appleton, Wisconsin 54911-8401 

(920) 832-5572  FAX (920) 993-3103 

Email - dean.gazza@appleton.org 

TO:  Finance Committee 

 

FROM: Dean R. Gazza 

 

DATE:  3/8/2021 

 

RE: Action: Award the City of Appleton’s "Wastewater A & S Building’s HVAC 

Upgrades Phase 2 Project" contract to EGI Mechanical, Inc. in the amount of 

$736,577 with a contingency of $13,000 for a project total not to exceed 

$749,577. 

 

 

The 2020/2021 Capital Improvement Plan includes $750,000 to complete Phase 2 of the 

Wastewater A & S Building’s HVAC Upgrades Project. In 2020 Phase 1 of the project was 

completed which included HVAC Upgrades to the A Building and installation of a central chiller 

which will serve both A & S Buildings. Phase 2 of this project includes upgrading the HVAC 

equipment in the S Building and connecting that equipment to the central chiller that was 

installed as part of Phase 1. 

 

The bids were received as follows: 

 

EGI Mechanical, Inc.  (low bid)   $736,577 

Sure-Fire, Inc.      $740,000 

Great Lakes Mechanical, Inc.    $750,500 

B & P Mechanical, Inc.    $823,928 

August Winter & Son, Inc.    $873,800 

  

Our consulting engineer has written the City of Appleton a formal letter of recommendation to 

award the contract to EGI Mechanical, Inc. The Parks, Recreation, and Facilities Management 

Department has also reviewed the bids and is in agreement with the engineer's recommendation. 

Therefore, we recommend awarding the contract to EGI Mechanical, Inc. in the amount of 

$736,577 plus a contingency of $13,000 only to be utilized as needed. 

 

Please contact me at 832-5572 or at dean.gazza@appleton.org with any questions. 
 

mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org
mailto:dean.gazza@appleton.org


 

   

 

 

 
TO: Community and Economic Development Committee 
  
FROM: Matt Rehbein, Economic Development Specialist 
 
DATE: March 10, 2021 

RE: Business/Industrial Park Land Sale and Option Prices 

 

 
Staff completes an annual review of the selling price of land in the City’s business/industrial 
parks to see how competitive Appleton is with surrounding communities.  Currently, the 
selling price of land in the City of Appleton’s Southpoint Commerce Park is $40,000.00/acre. 
The City has no remaining parcels for sale in the Northeast Business Park (NEBP).   
 
The City’s last remaining lot marketed for sale in the NEBP (1.44 acres) was sold to S&D 
Masonry in 2020.  There are currently 6 lots that are privately held and not developed in the 
Northeast Business Park subject to the City’s right to repurchase.  Privately owned, 
undeveloped lots are flagged in the City’s AS400 system, and notification is given on the real 
estate inquiry form to ensure the City’s right to repurchase is triggered as appropriate. 
 
In the Southpoint Commerce Park, there are 28 fully improved lots available, of which 5 are 
under contract with F Street Development.  The total inventory not under contract is 
approximately 100 acres.  14.6 acres was sold to F Street Development in 2020 (details in 
attached Industrial Land Sales Comparison – Exhibit A) and construction of a 218,000 
square foot distribution warehouse is underway.  The City has an additional 175 acres in 
Southpoint that are undeveloped.  All available lots in the Southpoint Commerce Park are 
served by regional stormwater detention, and a wetland delineation was completed in 2020. 
See attached map for the available lots in Southpoint. 
 
In order to ascertain how competitive Appleton is with neighboring communities, staff 
prepared an Industrial Land Asking Price Comparison (Exhibit B).  Data was gathered from: 
direct contact with sellers, CoStar (which is a commercial real estate listing and comparable 
data service), and the Wisconsin Department of Revenue.  There are additional lots 
marketed as available for industrial in the Fox Cities, but many of those could also be 
commercial, which commands a much higher price and are not good comparables.  All 
referenced industrial lots are broken down into one of three categories: 
 

1)  Municipally owned lots available for sale. 
2)  Privately owned lots available for sale. 
3)  Recent sales comparison.   

 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



- 2 - 

In determining the sale price of lots, staff considers several factors, including the City’s 
investment in creating the business park, cost to develop at these locations, competitive lot 
pricing, and uses of the property.  It should also be noted that land pricing is but one 
component of actual “cost” when a business is considering a purchase in a 
business/industrial park.   Infrastructure, access, availability of TIF financing and other 
incentives are all factored in. 
 
Site selectors and businesses seeking new locations have shared with staff that the ability to 
respond quickly and creatively is crucial to landing deals.  This has proved true for all recent 
transactions.  Each company is going to have different priorities, beyond land price alone, 
such as infrastructure, approval process, timing, TIF contributions, etc.  Having entered the 
final 5 years of the life of TIF #6, we are no longer able to make new investments from TIF 
#6.  This further increases the importance for the City to be in a position to act quickly and 
decisively when transactions come forward to ensure we secure sales in the 
business/industrial parks.  We have been successful in doing this with all sale transactions 
over the past few years.  In 2021, we still need to be responsive, but with a tightening 
market, we may not need to be as generous on financial incentives. 
 
The industrial market for lease and purchase space has been tightening up over the past 
few years creating a scarcity of large industrial space.  As a result, we have seen increased 
activity in the Southpoint Commerce Park (both contracts and inquiries).  This has generated 
greater interest in “speculative” building and, in turn, more inquiries about optioning land.  In 
2020, Council approved an option fee of 2% of the purchase price per year for parcels in 
excess of 5 acres.  The option fee for lots less than 5 acres remains at 1% of the purchase 
price per year.  This helps protect the City’s inventory of marketable parcels while preserving 
the smaller users’ ability to ensure they have control of their expansion space. 
 
Based on this analysis, staff would recommend the City maintain its current selling price of 
$40,000 for business/industrial park land and option fees as outlined below.  This puts 
Appleton in the middle range with regard to land prices. 
 
Staff Recommendation:    
 
The City of Appleton maintain its current selling prices for business/industrial park land as 
follows: 

Southpoint Commerce Park 
All lots - $40,000/Acre 
The City of Appleton hold option fees to reflect 1% of the purchase price annually for lots of 
5 or less acres and 2% of the purchase price annually for lots greater than 5 acres. 
 
Note: Land prices are for fully improved lots and include the cost of concrete pavement. 



EXHIBIT A

2010-2020 INDUSTRIAL LAND SALES COMPARISON (Municipal & Private Sales)

Location Sale Price Size (In Acres) Price/Acre Sale Date

Southpoint (Appleton) $555,180 14.61 $38,000 Sep-20 F Street Development (Phase I)

Kaukauna Ind. Park $72,700 1.9 $38,263 2020 Modix Corp

2433 Airport Park Dr., Greenville $108,000 2.62 $41,221 Aug-20 Red Top Cab Co.

NEBP (Appleton) $57,600 1.44 $40,000 Jul-20 S&D Masonry

Wrightstown $350,000 17 $20,800 Jul-20 Custom Offsets

892 Cold Spring Rd., Fox Crossing $129,000 3.5 $36,857 Jan-20 Keeney Properties LLC

Southpoint (Appleton) $144,072 3.48 $41,400 Oct-19 Custom Offsets

Southpoint (Appleton) $130,000 3.25 $40,000 Nov-19 Messenger Property Management

Southpoint (Appleton) $168,400 4.21 $40,000 May-19 New Morning Coffee Roasters

Greenville Dr., Greenville $1,109,920 32.3 $34,362 Jul-19 Burns & McDonnell

Randolph Dr., Kaukauna $152,000 4 $38,000 2019 Velocity Water Works

Evergreen Dr., Little Chute $1,100,000 20 $55,000 Jan-19 Faith Technologies

Southpoint (Appleton) $511,000 14.6 $35,000 Sep-18 Becknell Industrial

7241 Cty Rd. BB, Neenah $679,000 41.54 $35,000 Jun-18

Oak Grove Rd. Prosperity Ctr., Kaukauna $186,200 4.90 $38,000 Sep-17 Lot 6

Oak Grove Rd. Prosperity Ctr., Kaukauna $117,800 3.10 $38,000 Sep-17 Lot 8

Oak Grove Rd. Prosperity Ctr., Kaukauna $117,040 3.08 $38,000 Sep-17 Lot 9

CB & Rockwood Ln., Neenah (Town of) $208,623 10.60 $19,681 Sep-17 Stuff-N-Storage (A-2 General Farming zoning)

Endeavor Dr., Appleton (SPCP) $132,000 3.30 $40,000 Aug-17 Manda Panda Properties

Endeavor Dr., Appleton (SPCP) $150,300 3.34 $45,000 Aug-17 Alco Tech

Integrity Way, Grand Chute $83,000 2.72 $30,503 Jan-17

Plank Rd. & Eisenhower, Appleton (SPCP) $329,400 7.32 $45,000 Sep-16 Encapsys

Kaukauna Ind. Park $79,800 2.10 $38,000 May-16 NorthStar Coop

Capitol Dr., Appleton (NEBP) $75,950 2.17 $35,000 Mar-16 Romenesko Developments, Inc.

Goodland/Conkey, Appleton (NEBP) $100,000 2.69 $37,175 Dec-15 Quantum Healthcare

Kaukauna Ind. Park $228,000 6.00 $38,000 Jul-15 Polyflex

Capitol Dr., Appleton (NEBP) $155,750 4.45 $35,000 May-15 RP5, LLC

Goodland Dr., Appleton (NEBP) $115,200 2.88 $40,000 Apr-15 Farrell Investments

Lakeland Dr., Appleton (SPCP) $58,000 1.37 $42,336 Sep-13 Flair

*SPCP=Southpoint Commerce Park

**NEBP=Northeast Business Park

Sources:

Seller Contact

CoStar

WI Dept. of Revenue



EXHIBIT B

INDUSTRIAL LAND ASKING PRICE COMPARISON 

Municipally Owned Land Asking Price Comparison

Municipality Ask Price/Acre

Regional 

Stormwater Concrete Streets Utilities Incentives

Appleton $40,000 Y Y Y

Project reinvestment upon certificate of 

occupancy

Neenah $35,000 Y Y Y TIF/Land grant

Kaukauna $38,000 Y Y Y Redevelopment Authority loans

Wrightstown $50,000 Y N Y TIF/Land grant

Privately Owned Land Asking Price Comparison (Over 10 acres, per CoStar listings)

Municipality of Private Property Ask Price/Acre

Largest 

Contiguous Lot 

(In Acres) Location Notes

Kaukauna (Town of) $33,269 26.30 N2380 Bodde Rd. Not served by Mun. Utilities

Neenah $18,900 100.00 2689 Cty II Possible commercial/industrial/multifamily/residential

Little Chute $55,000 19.48 Evergreen Dr. Possible Office/I-41 exposure

Appleton $34,722 7.92 Glendale-NEBP Stora Enso Parcel -On market for years

Greenville $65,434 12.99 W6369 Levi Dr. Air North Business Park

Greenville $50,000 16.00 Mayflower & GV Possible commercial/industrial/multifamily/residential

Sources:

Seller Contact

CoStar

WI Dept. of Revenue



Calumet Street (County Highway KK)

Sta
te H

igh
way 

441

Midway Road

Milis Drive

Qu
es

t D
riv

e

La
ke

lan
d D

riv
e

Eis
en

ho
we

r D
riv

e

Co
op

 R
oa

d

Eis
en

ho
we

r D
riv

e

De
sti

na
tio

n D
riv

e (
Pr

iva
te)

Retail
CenterOffice

Park

26
05

26
25

All
ian

ce
 D

riv
e

Vantage Drive

Endeavor Drive 3920

Plank Road

Plank Road

Custom
OffsetsSecurity

Luebke

Farrell
Equiptment

FLAIR

9-5712-40
CSM 3549 Lot 1

7.22 acres
$40,000/acre

9-5712-34
Lot 34

SCP Plat No. 3
2.59 acres

$40,000/acre

9-5712-39
3.64 acres

$40,000/acre

9-5712
23.58 acres

$40,000/acre

Accepted offer

NMCR

F Street 
Development

Custom
Offsets

Becknell Industrial

9-5712-25
Lot 25

SCP Plat No. 2
4.88 acres

$40,000/acre

9-5712-15
Lot 15

SCP Plat No. 2
4.83 acres

$40,000/acre

9-5712-18
Lot 18

SCP Plat No. 2
4.07 acres

$40,000/acre

9-5712-6
Lot 6

SCP Plat No. 1
3.01 acres

$40,000/acre

9-5712-24
Lot 24

SCP Plat No. 2
2.88 acres

$40,000/acre

9-5712-21
Lot 21

SCP Plat No. 2
2.59 acres

$40,000/acre

9-5712-22
Lot 22

SCP Plat No. 2
2.59 acres

$40,000/acre

9-5712-23
Lot 23

SCP Plat No. 2
2.59 acres

$40,000/acre

9-5712-36
Lot 36

SCP Plat No. 3
2.59 acres

$40,000/acre
9-5712-35

Lot 35
SCP Plat No. 3

2.59 acres
$40,000/acre

9-5712-37
Lot 37

SCP Plat No. 3
2.59 acres

$40,000/acre

9-5712-16
Lot 16

SCP Plat No. 2
3.69 acres

$40,000/acre

Encapsys

9-5712-19
Lot 19

SCP Plat
No. 2

3.46 acres
$40,000/acre

9-5712-11
Lot 11

SCP Plat No. 1
3.25 acres

$40,000/acre

9-5712-14
Lot 14

SCP Plat No. 2
2.16 acres

$40,000 per acre

9-5712-5
Lot 5

SCP Plat No. 1
2.32 acres

$40,000/acre

Appleton
Hydraulic

Components

9-5712-29
Lot 29

SCP Plat No. 3
1.74 acres

$40,000/acre

9-5712-26
Lot 26

SCP Plat No. 3
1.74 acres

$40,000/acre

9-5712-28
Lot 28

SCP Plat No. 3
1.69 acres

$40,000/acre

9-5712-27
Lot 27

SCP Plat No. 3
1.69 acres

$40,000/acre

Southpoint Commerce Park
Appleton, Wisconsin

Prepared by City of Appleton
Comm. & Econ. Dev. Dept. 2/2021

0 510 1,020255
Feet

Legend
City Limits
Park Boundary
Accepted Offer
For Sale (City Owned)
Privately Owned Parcels



Premium 
Waters/

B&F 
Fastener

S&D 
Masonry Option

Prepared by City of Appleton
Comm. & Econ. Dev. Dept. 9/20

Northeast Business Park
Appleton, Wisconsin

Evergreen Dr Evergreen Dr

Fre
nc

h R
d

S.T
.H

. 4
41

U.S.H. 41

Enterprise Av

Int
ert

ec
h C

t

Pr
ov

ide
nc

e A
v

Lig
htn

ing
 D

rGa
tew

ay
 D

r

Enterprise Av

Venture Dr

Ex
ec

uti
ve

 D
r

Co
nk

ey
 St

Goodland Dr

Ba
lla

rd 
Rd

 (C
.T.

H.
 E

)
Ba

lla
rd 

Rd
 (C

.T.
H.

 E
)

Po
int

er 
Rd

Capitol Dr

Ro
em

er 
Rd

Ma
rsh

all
 R

d Co
nk

ey
 St

Pensar Dr

Winslow Av

Pr
og

res
s D

r

Zu
eh

lke
 D

r

Northland Av (C.T.H. OO)

Capitol Dr

Pershing St

Sa
nd

ra 
St

Co
nk

ey
 St

Ro
em

er 
Rd

Glendale Av

Wisconsin Central

S.T
.H

. 4
41

Ba
lla

rd 
Rd

 (C
.T.

H.
 E

)

0 0.25 0.5 Miles

Appleton Marine

CMD Technology
Center

CMD
Corporation

Applied
Industrial

Technologies

MCC, Inc.

Valley Packaging
Industries

Voith Paper, Inc.

City of Appleton
Municipal Services

Waupaca Elevator

Pro-Con
Progressive
Converting

Voith Paper, Inc.

National Graphic
Solutions The Boldt

Company

Vitran

Miller

August
Winter
& Sons

Swagelok
Appleton

Fox Valley
Safety & 
Training

AlumaCast &
Bronze Foundry

Ferguson
Enterprises

Ahearn/
JLM/

L & S Electric

Landfill
Reduction

& Recycling

CMD

Guardian Life
Insurance Company

Laminations
(Great Northern

Company) C3 Corp.

Gannett Co. Inc.

AirgasOutagame
County

JP Graphics

L & W 
Supply

Wisconsin
Distributors

Floor
Source
CoEx

Packer Fastner
Mid America

Engman-
Taylor Co.

Able
Distrib.

Nordon
Business
Environ-
mentsLifting

Gear
Hire

FCX
Performance

Pro-Label

Veritiv

United
Moving Systems

Packerland
Rent-A-Mat

Standard
Electric

Vision Control
& Automation
SE Automation

ASP
Armament
Systems

and
Procedures

Marco

Ducommun

Perfect
Patterns

L&S
Electric

BASF
Corporation

Appleton
Packing

& Gasket

A to Z
Machine

Integrity
Mutual

Insurance Co.

Valley
Tool

OEM
Tech.

IPS
Central
States
Casters

Marathon Center
Poyry
Metso

UW-Oshkosh

Energy
Control

& Design

Encircle
Health

Shopko
Express

Grant
Thornton

GDC
Menn Law
Women's

Care of Wis.

Well 
Within

Larson
Engineering

Rockwell
Automation

Ziegler
Master

Graphics

Wis. Oculoplastics
Assoc. in

Gastroenterology

Cintas
Fire

Protection

AIM Trucking
Baker Tilly
Dedicated
Computing

Hoff Law Offices
R Medi Spa

New York Life

Anixter/
Ellipticon

Overend
Technologies

Wipfli

Beefeaters
Pub

Cambria
Suites

Cleanfreak.com

Valley
Coatings

Allied
Valve

Evergreen
Office
Suites

Fox
Cities
Party
Rental

Orthopedic
& Spine
Therapy

Primary Care
Associates

Thedacare
Physicians
Pediatrics

McCarty
Law LLP

Epiphany 
Law

AmericInn

Orthopedic & Sports
Institute of the Fox Valley

Recovery Inn

Dental
Associates

2239

17
26

2430

2441 2625

2620 2800

3001

21
11

23
00

24
00

2901 3005
3200 3230 3240

23
51

30303000

23
23

22
00

21
00

24
12

25
00

26
00

26
00

27
3027

41
27

01
25

25
25

01
26

01

28
09

29
01

27012611 3111

28
20

28
10

3300

29
00

30
10

30
05

29
10

29
15

2720

29
20

30
09

3311

32
10

321131113011
Airgas

Badger Mailing
Systems

Endeavor
Electric

30
2531

20
31

17Bartelt
Insulation

31
01

3012

2619
ASP

2511 2500

31
20

31
37

31
15

30
35

A to Z

31
00

29
0029

27

30
40

30
00

Pro
Vidant

2221

2222

TEC
TMC
MTC
AMS

31
16

2121
2323

2319

2300

3001

3030

34
00

3011
35

00

3010 3300

Fox Valley
Hematology
& Oncology

Klusendorf
Chiropractic
Progressive

Forefront 
Dermatology

2101 2115 2331

2701 2801

39
00

39
40

2401

2201

2105

2500

2501
2700 2800

2901 3001 3101

31003000

3101 3301 3401 3701

40
00

39
12

39
00

38
00

3916

Pro-Con

30
10

2505

39
35

Konecranes

AZCO

Ü

39
25

Weed
Man

El 
Jaripeo

USACE

City of Appleton

Legend
Park Parcels
Park Boundary
City Limits

A to Z

GLK 
Foods

Triple E Machine

Pro-Con

Valley Tool



 

 

 

 

 

TO:  Community & Economic Development Committee (CEDC) 

 

FROM: Karen Harkness, Director 

  Monica Stage, Deputy Director  

 

DATE:  March 3, 2021  

 

RE:  Request to approve 2021 Sponsorships for Appleton Downtown Inc. (ADI) Programs 

 

The Council approved 2021 Budget includes $36,000 in the Marketing & Business Services Business 

Unit of the Community & Economic Development Department Budget to support small business and 

workforce development initiatives.     

 

Appleton Downtown Inc. (ADI) has presented the City with a sponsorship proposal for 2021 (attached) 

that would allow the City to invest in numerous programs for both our existing residents and businesses 

as well as visitors and potential investors in Downtown.  These programs align with the updated 

Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030, especially Chapter 14 Downtown Plan.   

 

Please note that Small Business Saturday sponsorship also includes the Appleton Northside Business 

Association (ANBA) membership area as well.    

 

It is also important to highlight that the events are proposed for later in the year and are still subject to 

permit approval based on local pandemic conditions.   

 

Staff Recommendation: 

 

Request to approve $15,000 for 2021 sponsorships for Appleton Downtown Inc. (ADI) Programs as 

outlined in the attached document BE APPROVED.  

 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
2021 City of Appleton Sponsorship Support Agreement  

 

City of Appleton will be acknowledged as a support sponsor of the following events and 

programs, as part of this sponsorship package:  Business Retention/ Residential Outreach 

Program, Community Public Market, Small Business Saturday, Summer Support/ Farm Market, 

Downtown Creates Walk Events, Downtown for the Holidays/ Light Up Appleton, Annual 

Awards Celebration and Annual Meeting.  
 

Sponsorship total is $15,000 and breakdown is as follows: 

Downtown Business Retention/Residential Outreach $3,000 

Avenue of Ice – ice carving     $ Included 

Virtual Annual Meeting     $  500 

Summer Support/ Farm Market    $1,500 

Downtown Creates Walk Events    $2,500 

Downtown Business Award Celebration   $  500 

Community Public Market     $2,500 

Small Business Saturday     $3,000 

Downtown for the Holidays/ Light Up Appleton  $1,500 
 

Opportunities available with each event sponsorship includes social media mentions leading up 

to event, as well as social media logo recognition on each event page.  City of Appleton logo 

inclusion will be featured on the ADI website for one full year and can be linked back to the City 

website.  Facebook exposure on the Appleton Downtown Facebook page as a Favorite page.  

Page currently has 16,800+ fans and is a great way to engage and interact with the community.  

Additional acknowledgement in ADI’s weekly e-blast communication. 
 

Downtown Business Retention/ Residential Outreach $3,000  
 Residential Survey Support with City of Appleton to assist with material and mailing costs. 

 City of Appleton logo inclusion. 

 Welcome Packets with option to include Business card flyer with City website/resources. 

 City funds support staff with business retention visits and City of Appleton updates. 
 

Avenue of Ice – ice carving $ Included 
-Promotion of Art through varieties of carved ice, while attracting customers to walk the Downtown District  

 Logo inclusion on all promotion material 

 Signage designating sponsor of event and ice carving. 
 

Virtual Annual Meeting and Downtown Project Reports $500 
-Report to Stakeholders  

 Logo in all promotional materials leading up to event.  

 Invitation as speaker to present City updates. 



2 
 

Sustaining Summer Support with Farm Market $1,500 
-Promoting Eat Local, Shop Local – includes Downtown Businesses and Farm Market Vendors 

 City of Appleton logo on the summer support banner displayed at a secondary location at a 

variety of our summer events.  

 Logo inclusion on Farm Market promotional materials. 

 Occasional booth space available for City of Appleton promotion such as:  Dignity and Respect 

campaign, Appleton Public Library, Appleton Police Department, Park & Recreation, etc.  

Schedule to be worked out with ADI Staff. 
 

Downtown Creates Walk Events & Placemaking Initiatives: $2,500 
-Promotion of Local Artists through Music, Art & Culture, while attracting customers to walk the Downtown District  

 Three summer dates:  June 18, July 16 and August 20.*  

 City of Appleton logo on all printed materials including posters, advertising, event programs and 

online promotion.  

 Opportunity to participate during each event.  Schedule to be worked out between ADI and City 

of Appleton. *  

 Supports additional placemaking and public art initiatives. 
 

Downtown Business Awards Celebration table: $500 
-Celebration to Acknowledge Downtown Businesses for their Achievements 

 Reserved table for eight.* 

 Recognition in the program and from the stage.*  
 

Community Public Market $2,500 
-Promoting Eat Local, Shop Local – includes Downtown Businesses, Farm Market Vendors, Non-profits & Entertainment 

 Fall event line up hosted at the Exhibition Center: Date TBD subject to Covid numbers and 

approval. * 

 City to sponsor the performance stage featuring a diverse lineup of community performers. 

Assisted by Rhythms of the World to acquire additional programming. *   

 City of Appleton would have the option of a double booth 10x20 or two 10x10 booths available 

for promotion of various programs, such as:  Dignity and Respect Campaign, Appleton Public 

Library, Appleton Police Department, Park and Recreation Programs, etc.  Schedule to be worked 

out between City of Appleton and ADI Staff. * 
 

Small Business Saturday $3,000 
-Shop Local promotion event 

 City of Appleton logo on all printed materials including passports, posters, advertising, website 

and online promotion as Presented by!  

 Promotional space in emails to participating businesses during the month prior to event. 

 Cooperative marketing  
 

Downtown for the Holidays and Light Up Appleton: $1,500 
-Free Family event to Celebrate Light through Music, Art & Culture, while attracting customers to Downtown District 
for the Holidays 

 City of Appleton logo on the Downtown for the Holidays holiday guide and advertising.   

 Holiday Fun Fest: a feature of the Downtown Appleton Indoor Market: December date. 

Activities such as: visits with Santa, cookies with Ms. Claus, Kids Craft Area, Kids Market along 

with the Handcrafted Market and so much more!* 

 

 

*Note:  All in-person events subject to permit approval. 



3 
 

2021 City of Appleton Sponsorship Support Agreement  
 

Downtown Business Retention/ Residential Outreach   $3,000  
 

Ice Carving at Avenue of Ice        $ Included 
-Promotion of Art through carved ice, while attracting customers to walk the Downtown District  
 

Annual Meeting and Downtown Project Reports     $  500 
-Report to Stakeholders  
 

Sustaining Summer Support with Farm Market     $1,500 
-Promoting Eat Local, Shop Local – includes Downtown Businesses and Farm Market Vendors 
 

Downtown Creates Walk Events & Placemaking Initiatives  $2,500 
-Promotion of Local Artists through Music, Art & Culture, while attracting customers to walk the Downtown District  
 

Downtown Business Awards Celebration table     $  500 
-Celebration to Acknowledge Downtown Businesses for their Achievements 
 

Community Public Market        $2,500 
-Promoting Eat Local, Shop Local – includes Downtown Businesses, Farm Market Vendors, Entertainment, etc. 
 

Small Business Saturday         $3,000 
-Shop Local promotion event 

 

Downtown for the Holidays and Light Up Appleton    $1,500 
-Free Family event to Celebrate Light through Music, Art & Culture, while attracting customers to Downtown District 
for the Holidays 
 

 

 
______________________________     Date: ______________ 
City of Appleton representative  

   

 

_______________________________     Date: ______________ 
Djuanna Hugdahl 

Community Partnership Director 

Appleton Downtown Inc. 
 

Thank you for helping create a vibrant and artful Downtown! 



 

 

 

 

 

TO: Community and Economic Development Committee (CEDC) 

  

FROM: Karen Harkness, Director of Community & Economic Development  

 

DATE: February 22, 2021 

RE: Request Approval of the Development Agreement between the City of Appleton and 318 

College Ave LLC (the Park Central property) in TIF District #11 

 

Tax Increment Financing District Number 11 (TIF District #11) was created by the City of Appleton in August 

2017 under the authority provided by Wisconsin Statute Section 66.1105 “Tax Increment Law” to eliminate 

blight and stimulate the redevelopment of this urban corridor.  TIF District #11 was created as a “Blighted 

District” based upon the finding that at least 50%, by area of the real property within the District, is blighted 

within the meaning of Wisconsin Statute Section 66.1105 and 66.1333.  The Project Plan was amended in 

September 2020.    

 

TIF District #11 is located along East College Avenue from approximately Drew Street to just west of 

Superior Street, south to Water Street, and north to E. Pacific Street.  A map of TIF District #11 is included on 

the following page.  

 

318 College Ave LLC (Developer) is requesting assistance to support a mixed-use project.  318 W. College 

Avenue is also known as “The Park Central Property” and is located in the heart of the CBD Central Business 

District in Appleton.  The Developer plans to transform this property into a state-of-the-art, 75,000 sq. ft. 

building with over 16,500 square feet of Class A commercial space subdivided for multiple business 

occupants.  The mixed-use improvements to Park Central will include a redeveloped second floor and an 

additional three floors of new construction slated for rental apartment use.   The new apartments will offer a 

mix of one, two and three-bedroom units, yielding a total of 51 bedrooms in 39 apartments.  Through careful 

planning, design and the use of quality construction techniques and premium building materials, including 

glass, steel, brick and high-end finishes, they will provide modern, luxurious, yet affordable, residential units 

and commercial spaces serving Appleton residents and businesses.  A concept of proposed improvements is 

included as Exhibit B of the Development Agreement.  

 

318 W. College Avenue has been vacant for many years.  This development will offer another opportunity for 

residential living in our Central Business District. This project is targeted to support the City’s Comprehensive 

Plan goal of increasing the quantity and variety of housing product offered in Downtown Appleton.  

 

Based on the analysis of current value of the property, projected value of the property and review of proposed 

expenses, TIF District #11 could make available the lesser of eighteen percent (18%) or $1,309,140 of the Tax 

Increment Value as of January 1, 2023, plus interest thereon to support the construction work for 318 College 

Ave LLC.  

 

Staff Recommendation:  

The Development Agreement between the City of Appleton and 318 College Ave LLC BE APPROVED. 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



- 2 -  



 

__________________________________ 
  318 College Ave LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 1 

TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is dated as of the ___ day of 
February, 2021, by and among 318 College Ave LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company 
(“Developer”) and the City of Appleton, a Wisconsin municipal corporation (the “City”). 

RECITALS 

Developer and the City acknowledge the following: 

A. Developer owns or will acquire the real property located 318 W. College Avenue, 
(Parcel 31-2-0243-00) Appleton, WI more particularly described in Exhibit A, attached hereto 
(hereafter the “Property”). 

B. The Property is located within the City in Tax Increment District #11(the “District”) 
which was created in 2017 pursuant to Section 66.1105, Wis. Stats. along with a plan for the 
redevelopment of the District (the “District Plan”) that provides for, among other things, the 
financial assistance set forth in this Agreement. 

C. Subject to obtaining the financial assistance set forth herein, Developer has 
proposed improvements to the Property to create an approximately one floor of commercial/retail 
space and four floors consisting of approximately thirty-nine (39) market rate living units offering 
one, two and three bedrooms with approximate square footage ranging from 750 to 1,460 per unit  
(the “Project”).  All references to the Project include the Property. 

D. The City has determined that the Project will spur economic development, expand 
the City’s tax base and create new jobs; that such financial assistance is a Project Cost under the 
Tax Incremental Law; that the amount of financial assistance provided pursuant to this Agreement 
is the amount necessary to induce development of the Project; and, that the Project will not 
proceed without the financial assistance set forth in this Agreement. 

E. Subject to obtaining financial assistance as set forth herein, Developer intends to 
undertake a redevelopment of the property that will increase the value of the Property and provide 
other tangible benefits to the surrounding neighborhoods and to the City as a whole, consistent 
with the District Plan.  The City finds that this redevelopment of the Property and the fulfillment, 
generally, of the terms and conditions of this Agreement are in the vital and best interests of the 
City and its residents and serves a public purpose in accordance with state and local law. 

F. The City, pursuant to Common Council Action dated   [date Council approves this 
agreement here]    has approved this Agreement and authorized the execution of this Agreement 
by the proper City officers on the City’s behalf. 

G. The Developer has approved this Agreement and authorized the appropriate 
officers to execute this Agreement on the Developer’s behalf. 

H. The base value of the Property for purposes of this Agreement, including 
calculating increment generated by the Project, is Eight Hundred Twenty-Seven Thousand Dollars 
($827,000). The Developer estimates the project will create up to an additional Seven Million Two 
Hundred Seventy-Three Thousand Dollars ($7,273,000) in incremental value. 



 

__________________________________ 
  318 College Ave LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 2 

I. All terms that are capitalized but not defined in this Agreement and that are defined 
under the Tax Increment Law shall have the definitions assigned to such terms by the Tax 
Increment Law. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Recitals and the promises and undertakings 
set forth herein, the parties mutually agree and covenant as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
UNDERTAKINGS OF THE DEVELOPER 

1.1 Developer’s Project shall include improvements to, and development of, the 
Property as set forth in Exhibit B that will result in an increase in the Property’s assessed value.  
All aspects of the Project shall be in accordance with all applicable City zoning and building codes, 
ordinances and regulations. 

1.2 Project Costs shall include, without limitation, costs incurred after approval of this 
agreement for the construction of improvements (including infrastructure improvements), 
environmental remediation costs, demolition, interior remodeling and development of the project.  

1.3 Developer warrants and represents to the City that but for the assistance provided 
by the City under Article II, herein, Developer would not be able to proceed with the Project. 

1.4 Developer and City acknowledge that several of the specific undertakings of the 
parties may require approvals from directors, boards or the City Council as applicable.  The 
parties' agreements are conditioned upon the obtaining of all such approvals in the manner 
required by law.  The parties cannot assure that all such approvals will be obtained; however, 
they agree to use their best good faith efforts to obtain them on a timely basis. 

ARTICLE II 
UNDERTAKINGS OF THE CITY 

2.1 The City shall appropriate sufficient funds for the performance of the City’s 
obligations under this Agreement. 

2.2 City shall cooperate with Developer throughout the Project and shall promptly 
review and/or process all submissions and applications in accordance with applicable City 
ordinances. 

2.3 Subject to all of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Agreement and 
applicable provisions of law, and as an inducement by the City to Developer to carry out the 
Project, upon completion of the Project (which shall be defined as issuance of occupancy permits 
for all floors of the Project (hereafter “completion”)) the City will provide payments to Developer 
solely from the future Tax Increments (derived from both real and personal property) to assist with 
Developer’s Project Costs.  The City’s total payment of Tax Increment Revenue to the Developer 
shall not exceed the lesser of i) $1,309,140 or ii) Eighteen percent (18%) of the Tax Increment 
Value as of January 1, 2023, plus interest thereon (the “Contribution”). 



 

__________________________________ 
  318 College Ave LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 3 

The Contribution will be paid to Developer as follows: 

2.3.1 As the sole source for payment of the Contribution, the City agrees to pay 
the Developer an amount equal to ninety percent (90%) of the Tax Increment Revenue 
attributable to, and actually received from, the Property during the calendar year. 

2.3.2 Payments under this Agreement shall be due in annual installments on 
August 15 of the calendar year following the first tax year after completion of the Project 
and continuing on each August 15 thereafter for a period of time described in Sec. 4.2 

2.3.3 Interest on the Contribution shall begin to accrue upon completion of the 
Project.  The interest rate on the Contribution shall be lesser of 1) the interest rate paid by 
the Developer to the primary lender for the Project, as evidenced by the note indicating 
the loan amount; or, 2) five percent (5%). 

2.3.4 The Contribution shall be a special and limited obligation of the City and 
not a general obligation.  Payments shall first apply to accrued interest and then to the 
principal balance of the Contribution.  Unpaid interest in any year shall be added to the 
principal balance of the Contribution and accrue interest.  The City may prepay the 
Contribution, in its sole discretion, at any time, with no prepayment penalty. 

2.4 This Agreement fully evidences the City’s obligation to pay the Contribution.  No 
separate instrument will be prepared to evidence the City’s obligation to pay the Contribution.  
The Contribution shall not be included in the computation of the City’s statutory debt limitation 
because the Contribution is limited and conditional and no taxes will be levied or pledged for its 
payment.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to change the nature of the City’s obligation 
from a limited and conditional obligation to a general obligation. 

2.5 The City covenants to Developer that until the Contribution plus interest thereon 
has been paid in full, the City shall not close the District prior to its statutory expiration date. 

2.6 The City shall, upon Developer’s request, provide to Developer an accounting of 
the status of the District including, but not limited to, the outstanding principal balance of the 
Contribution and annual Tax Increments received from the District. 

2.7 Developer hereby acknowledges that, as a result of the special and limited nature 
of the City’s obligation to pay the Contribution, Developer’s recovery of the full amount of the 
Contribution depends on factors including, but not limited to, future mill rates, changes in the 
assessed value of the Property, the failure of the Property to generate the Tax Increments at the 
rate expected by Developer, reduction in Tax Increments caused by revenue-sharing, changes in 
the Tax Increment Law, and other factors beyond the City’s and/or Developer’s control. 

ARTICLE III 
PAYMENT OF TAXES 

3.1 As long as the District is in existence, the Property and all buildings and 
improvements thereon shall be owned and taxable for real estate tax and special assessment 
purposes.  The City may waive any or all of the restrictions upon execution of a payment in lieu 
of taxes (PILOT) agreement on a form acceptable to the City. 



 

__________________________________ 
  318 College Ave LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 4 

3.2 Throughout the duration of this agreement, all ad valorem property taxes properly 
assessed against the Property will be paid timely and in full. 

3.3 In the event that any property owned by Developer within the District becomes 
exempt from ad valorem property taxes during the life of the District, then for the remaining life of 
the District, the Developer will make (or cause to be made) annual payments in lieu of taxes in 
amounts equal to what the ad valorem property taxes would have been for such other property 
had it not been exempt.  If the Developer conveys the Property within the District to any party 
(related or unrelated), the terms of such sale shall impose as a covenant upon all successor 
owners of the property the foregoing obligation for payments in lieu of taxes during the life of the 
District.  The City shall be a beneficiary of such covenant and entitled to enforce same against 
the successor owners. 

ARTICLE IV 
CONDITIONS TO PAYMENT; TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 

4.1 The City shall have no obligation to pay any portion of the Contribution to 
Developer unless and until all of the following conditions shall have been met: 

4.1.1 The Project’s completion on or before December 31, 2022 subject to 
reasonable extensions, not to exceed six (6) months each, for Force Majeure which shall 
include, but not be limited to, any delays caused by pandemic or other acts beyond the 
reasonable control of the Developer. Such extensions shall be by mutual written 
agreement and, in considering any requested extension, the City and Developer agree 
that each will act in good faith, cooperate in expeditious and timely approvals, and said 
extensions shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed by City. 

4.1.2 The Property’s assessed value is no less than Eight Million One Hundred 
Thousand Dollars ($8,100,000) on or after January 1, 2023.  

4.2 This Agreement, and the City’s obligation to make, or continue, any payments of 
the Contribution, shall terminate when any of the following shall have occurred: 

4.2.1 The conditions in Section 4.1 are not met.  

4.2.2 The Contribution is paid in full or August 15, 2039, whichever occurs first. 

ARTICLE V 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

5.1 No member, officer or employee of the City, during his/her tenure or for one year 
thereafter, will have or shall have had any interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement or any 
proceeds thereof. 

ARTICLE VI 
WRITTEN NOTICES 

6.1 Any written notice required under this Agreement shall be sent to the following 
individuals: 



 

__________________________________ 
  318 College Ave LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 5 

FOR THE CITY: 
 
City of Appleton 
Community and Economic Development Department 
100 North Appleton Street 
Appleton, WI 54911-4799 
Attention:  Director 
 
With a copy to: 
 
City of Appleton 
City Attorney’s Office 
100 North Appleton Street 
Appleton, WI 54911-4799 
Attn:  City Attorney 
 
FOR DEVELOPER: 
 
318 College Ave LLC 
c/o Matthew Cole 
2761 Contour Road 
Missoula, MT   59802 
 
 

ARTICLE VII 
ASSIGNMENT 

7.1 No party to this Agreement may assign any of its interest or obligations hereunder 
without first obtaining the written consent of the other party. 

ARTICLE VIII 
NO PARTNERSHIP OR VENTURE 

8.1 Developer and its contractors or subcontractors shall be solely responsible for the 
completion of the Project.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create or effect any 
partnership, venture or relationship between the City and Developer or any contractor or 
subcontractor employed by Developer in the construction of the Project. 

ARTICLE IX 
MISCELLANEOUS 

9.1 Under no circumstances shall any officer, official, director, member, manager, 
commissioner, agent, or employee of City or Developer have any personal liability arising out of 
this Agreement, and no party shall seek or claim any such personal liability. 

9.2 The laws of the State of Wisconsin shall govern this Agreement. 

9.3 This Agreement may be signed in any number of counterparts with the same effect 
as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument. 

9.4 No modification, alteration, or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding upon 
any party until such modification, alteration, or amendment is reduced to writing and executed by 
all parties to this Agreement. 



 

__________________________________ 
  318 College Ave LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 6 

9.5 Any captions or headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and in no 
way define, limit, or describe the scope or intent of any of the provisions of this Agreement. 

9.6 If any provisions of this Agreement shall be held or deemed to be inoperative or 
unenforceable as applied in any particular case in any jurisdiction because it conflicts with any 
other provision or provisions of this Agreement or any constitution or statute or rule of public 
policy, or for any other reason, then such circumstances shall not have the effect of rendering the 
provision in question inoperative or unenforceable in any other case or circumstance, or of 
rendering any other provision or provisions herein contained invalid, inoperative, or unenforceable 
to any extent whatever.  To the maximum extent possible, this Agreement shall be construed in 
a manner consistent with the powers of the City, including but not limited to, the City's powers 
under the Blight Elimination and Slum Clearance Law and the Tax Increment Law, to achieve its 
intended purpose.  Reference is made to Section 66.1333(17) of the Wisconsin Statutes and 
Chapter 105, Laws of 1975 § 4, which provide that the Blight Elimination and Slum Clearance 
Law and the Tax Increment Law should be construed liberally to effectuate their purposes. 

[Signatures on following pages] 



 

__________________________________ 
  318 College Ave., LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 7 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the day and year 
first above written. 

CITY OF APPLETON: 
 
 
 
By:   
 Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor 
 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
By:   
 Kami L. Lynch, City Clerk 
 
 
STATE OF WISCONSIN ) 
    : ss. 
OUTAGAMIE COUNTY ) 
 

Personally came before me this ____ day of _________________, 2021, Jacob A. 
Woodford, Mayor and Kami L. Lynch, City Clerk, of the City of Appleton respectively, to me known 
to be the persons who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledged the same in the 
capacity and for the purposes therein intended. 

 
   
Printed Name:    
Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 
My commission is/expires:    

 
PROVISION HAS BEEN MADE TO PAY FOR  
OBLIGATIONS INCURRED PURSUANT TO  
THIS AGREEMENT: 
 
 
   
Anthony Saucerman, Finance Director 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
   
Christopher R. Behrens, City Attorney 
Dated: February 24, 2021 
By:  Christopher R. Behrens 
City Law A21-0070 



 

__________________________________ 
  318 College Ave LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 8 

 
DEVELOPER: 
 
318 College Ave LLC 
 
 
 
By:   
Printed Name: __________________________ 
Title: _________________________________ 
 
 
 
By:   
Printed Name: __________________________ 
Title: _________________________________ 
 
 
 
By:   
Printed Name: __________________________ 
Title: _________________________________ 
 
 
 

STATE OF ______________ ) 
    : ss. 
_______________ COUNTY ) 
 

Personally came, before me this ____ day of ___________________, 2021, [insert 
Member names here] each a member of the LLC, to me known to be the persons who executed 
the foregoing instrument and acknowledged the same in the capacity and for the purposes therein 
intended. 

   
Printed Name:    
Notary Public, State of ____________________ 
My commission is/expires:    

 
 

  



 

__________________________________ 
  318 College Ave LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 9 

SCHEDULE OF EXHIBITS 

A. Legal Description of Property 
 
 
B. Proposed Improvements 

 

  



 

__________________________________ 
  318 College Ave LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 10 

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 

 
The North 46.17 feet of Lot Ten (10) less the North Ten (10) feet thereof; The East 60 feet of the 
South 120 feet of Lot Ten (10); and the West 1/2 of Lot Eleven (11) less the North Ten (10) feet 
thereof; All being in Block 25, APPLETON PLAT, City of Appleton, Outagamie County, 
Wisconsin, according to the recorded Assessor’s Map of said City. 
 
  



 

__________________________________ 
  318 College Ave LLC – City of Appleton 
  Development Agreement 
  Page | 11 

EXHIBIT B 
 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS 
 

The project budget is approximately eight million five hundred thousand ($8,500,000) plus the 
building purchase price of one million sixty five thousand ($1,065,000) for a total of nine million 
five hundred sixty five thousand ($9,565,000).  This does not include carrying costs.    

 
 

(Copy of Plans/ Design docs here.) 
 



Matthew Cole 
318 College Ave LLC 
414.477.4979 
matthewgiancole@gmail.com 
 
December 1, 2020, 
 
RE: PARK CENTRAL - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
318 College Ave, LLC (the “Developer”) has been established to undertake the successful 
purchase, rehabilitation and redevelopment of the Park Central building, located at 318 West 
College Avenue in downtown Appleton, Wisconsin.  
 
The Developer believes in the City of Appleton’s past and current efforts to attract and retain 
businesses and residents while improving the community with growth management and capital 
projects. We intend to serve a current housing need and enhance the community by re-developing 
this property and holding it as a viable, long term investment.  
 
The Park Central property is located in the heart of the Central Business District in Appleton, and 
will be transformed into a state-of-the-art 75,000 sq. ft. building with over 16,500 square feet of 
Class A commercial space sub divided for multiple business occupants. The mixed-use 
improvements to Park Central will include a redeveloped second floor and an additional three 
floors of IIIB new construction slated for rental apartment use.   The new apartments will offer a 
mix of one, two and three-bedroom units, yielding a total of 51 bedrooms in 39 apartments. 
Through careful planning, design and the use of quality construction techniques, and premium 
building materials, including glass, steel, brick and high-end finishes, we will provide modern, 
luxurious yet affordable residential units and commercial spaces serving Appleton residents and 
businesses.    
 
Our vision for the building at 318 W. College Ave is to provide an iconic structure for the Fox 
Valley and downtown Appleton. The Park Central development will become a staple in the 
community through an energetic and vibrant atmosphere for the commercial businesses and a 
welcoming home to the residents with a focus on security, cutting edge technology, desired 
amenities, convenience and a positive environment for all tenants. The apartments will cater to 
many demographics including retirees/empty nesters, young professionals, young families, and 
students. Park Central will feature unmatched levels of customer service and attention to detail 
with dedicated on-site property management, building amenities and secure residential access. 
 
The existing structure is a two story over basement ~45,000 sq. ft. building in need of significant 
structural, mechanical, and aesthetic repairs. The building was purchased for $1,065,000.00 in 
June of 2019. The 30,000 sq. ft. addition and improvements in the development project are 
estimated to be completed by Fall of 2022 at a cost of ~$8.5MM plus the purchase price and 
carrying costs. This project will come to fruition in partnership with local Gries Architecture 
Group, Performa Architects & Engineers and Blue Sky Contractors. Estimated project cost 
breakdown are provided below; 
 



 
The renderings below provide a preliminary representation of the completed structure. 
 

 
 

 

 



RESIDENTIAL 
ELEVATOR 
(TRACTION)

EXIT STAIR

ADJACENT BUILDING

UNIT 
STOR. 1

UNIT 
STOR. 2

UNIT 
STOR. 3

UNIT 
STOR. 4

UNIT 
STOR. 5

UNIT 
STOR. 6

UNIT 
STOR. 7

UNIT 
STOR. 8

UNIT 
STOR. 9

UNIT 
STOR. 10

UNIT 
STOR. 11

UNIT 
STOR. 12

UNIT 
STOR. 13

UNIT 
STOR. 14

SWITCHGEAR 
ELECTRICAL 
EQUIPMENT

ADJACENT BUILDING

RESIDENTIAL 
ELEVATOR 
LOBBY

R
E

A
T

A
IL

 
E

L
E

V
A

T
O

R

EXIT STAIR
SANITARY 
CONNECTION

STORM SEWER 
CONNECTION

SPRINKLER
RISER

MECHANICAL 
ROOM

UNIT 
STOR. 15

EXIT STAIR

UNIT 
STOR. 17

UNIT 
STOR. 18

UNIT 
STOR. 19

UNIT 
STOR. 20

UNIT 
STOR. 21

UNIT 
STOR. 22

UNIT 
STOR. 23

UNIT 
STOR. 24

UNIT 
STOR. 25

UNIT 
STOR. 26

UNIT 
STOR. 27

UNIT 
STOR. 28

UNIT 
STOR. 29

UNIT 
STOR. 30

UNIT 
STOR. 31

UNIT 
STOR. 32

UNIT 
STOR. 33

UNIT 
STOR. 34

UNIT 
STOR. 35

UNIT 
STOR. 36

EMR

UNIT 
STOR. 37

UNIT 
STOR. 38

EXIT STAIR

UNIT 
STOR. 39

BASEMENT RENTAL SPACE 7,710 S.F.

MECH 
SPACE

BUILDING 
FIRE 
SPRINKLER 
ROOM

MECHANICAL 
ROOM

RESIDENTIAL STORAGE

RESIDENTIAL ACTIVITIES SPACE

UNIT 
STOR. 16

SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
1/8" = 1'-0" 07/06/2020

BASEMENT



RETAIL RENTAL SPACE 9,070 S.F.

ADJACENT BUILDING

RESIDENTIAL 
ELEVATOR

LEASING OFFICE

RESIDENTIAL ALLEY ACCESS

WATER SERVICE / SPRINKLER ROOM

COVERED COMMERICAL TRASH 
ZONE AND LOADING BAY

RESI EGRESS

RETAIL ENTRY

RESIDENTIAL COMMON AREAS

TRASH ROOM

ALLEY 
RETAIL 
ENTRY

ADJACENT BUILDING

A
D

J
A

C
E

N
T

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

C
O

L
L

E
G

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

A
L

L
E

Y

PRIVATE GARAGE

LOUNGE MAILSHARED WORKSPACE

R
E

T
A

IL
 

E
L
E

V
A

T
O

R

VESTIBULE

PACKAGES
ELEVATOR 
LOBBY

B
A

R

POSSIBLE CHASE

D
O

W
N

 O
N

L
Y

VOID TO 
BELOW

SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
1/8" = 1'-0" 07/06/2020

FIRST FLOOR



ADJACENT BUILDING

RESIDENTIAL 
ELEVATOR

ADJACENT BUILDING

C
O

L
L

E
G

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

A
L

L
E

Y

A
D

J
A

C
E

N
T

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

1745 SF

2 BR  (2 BA)

1900 SF

2 BR   (2 BA)

1515 SF

2 BR   (2 BA)

1440 SF

2 BR   (2 BA)

1380 SF

2 BR  (2 BA)

1310 SF

1 BR + D (1 BA)

1310 SF

1 BR + D (1 BA)

1385 SF

2 BR  (2 BA)

TRASH 
ROOM

720 SF

1 BR (1 BA)

ELEC. CHASE

COMMON SPACE

RESIDENTIAL 
JANITORIAL

SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
1/8" = 1'-0" 06/26/2020

SECOND FLOOR



ELEC. 
CLOSET

1460 SF

3 BR   (3 BA)

1105 SF

2 BR   (2 BA)

750 SF

1 BR   (1 BA)

725 SF

1 BR (1BA)1 BR  (1 BA) - ADA

725 SF

1 BR (1BA)

1290 SF

2 BR   (2 BA)

765 SF

1100 SF

2 BR   (2 BA)

TRASH 
ROOM

RESIDENTIAL 
ELEVATOR

ELEVATOR 
LOBBY

725 SF

1 BR (1BA)

855 SF

1 BR (1BA)

ADJACENT BUILDING - BELOW

ADJACENT BUILDING - BELOW

SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
1/8" = 1'-0" 07/06/2020

THIRD FLOOR (SAME 03,04,05)



FIRST FLOOR
100' - 0"

SECOND FLOOR
116' - 1"

BASEMENT
87' - 9"

03 THIRD FLOOR ROOF
129' - 8"

NEW ROOF
168' - 10"

03 THIRD FLOOR
131' - 10"

05 FIFTH FLOOR
154' - 6"

04 FOURTH FLOOR
143' - 2"

T.O. TOPPING 2ND FLR
116' - 2 7/8"

SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
3/32" = 1'-0" 07/06/2020

BUILDING SECTION



SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
1/8" = 1'-0"

07/06/2020

ROOF



SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
07/06/2020

MATERIALS



SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
07/06/2020

INTERIOR INSPIRATION

LOBBY

CORRIDORS

UNITS



Exterior Wall:

Cladding Materials:
1. Vertical Metal Batten: Ultra Batten (Bridgersteel.com)
2. Clay Brick: Brampton Brick - Slate and Graphite(Jirehbrickandstone.com)
3. NOT USED BUT CONTEMPLATED: 

Fiber Cement Panel: a. Cembrit Patina Line (Americanfibercement.com)
       b. Ceraclad (ceraclad.com) class 1, 0 Flame Spread 

                                                              Classification, 0 Smoke Developed

Fenestration:
1. U-PVC: Supera Windows (Intuswindows.com)
2. Fiberglass: Impervia (Pella.com)
3. Vinyl: Heavy duty commercial (Harveycommercial.com)
4. Aluminum
Airfoil Shade:
1. Louver Screenwall: aluminum (Awningworks.com)

Exterior Wall Construction (Wood Stud Wall): 
• Exterior Cladding over
• 1.5" Continuous Insulation
• Air/Water Barrier
• Exterior Sheathing
• 2x6 Studs @16" O.C. (See Assemblies sheet for where Fire Treated Wood Req'd)
• R-19 Batt Insulation
• Vapor Barrier
• Interior Sheathing

Exterior Wall Construction (Brick Wall): 
• Masonry Veneer
• 1.5" Continuous Insulation
• Air/Water Barrier
• Exterior Sheathing
• 2x6 Studs @16" O.C. (See Assemblies sheet for where Fire Treated Wood Req'd)
• R-19 Batt Insulation (@2.5 pcf density)
• Vapor Barrier

Terrace System:
• Trex deck (water draining)

Balcony System:
Aluminum prefabricated balcony and rail with waterproof aluminum decking
• mwstairs.com (all welded construction)
• endurable.com
• americanstructures.com
• wahoodecks.com
Blaconies should have discreet gutter and open faced downspout to drain to third 
floor roof.

Interior Wall:
Demising Unit-Corridor (U327)
• One (1) layer 5/8" gypsum board
• RC-1 Channel (corridor side)
• 2x6 Studs @ (see struct, else 24" O.C.)
• 3.5" Sound Attenuation Batt (@ any density)
• One (1) layer 5/8" gypsum board
• STC 50 (with ThermaFiber SAFB)
• STC 50 (with fiberglass insulation if Firecode C panels used)

Demising Wall Unit-Unit (U347)
• Two (2) layers 5/8" gypsum board
• 2x4 Studs @ (see struct, else 24" O.C.)
• 3.5" Sound attenuation Batt
• Wood Product Septum (only if required by struct)
• Air gap (2x4 studs on seperate sole plates)
• 2x4 Studs @ (see Struct, else 24" O.C.)
• 3.5" Sound Attenuation Batt (@ any density)
• RC-1 Channel
• One (1) layer 5/8" gypsum board
• STC 52

Floor System:
@ Second Floor (based on G514 - 2 hour required) : 
• Finish floor
• 1 1/2" Gypcrete (Maxxon) Underlayment
• 3/8" seperation mat (Acousti-Mat Premium 3/8")
• Existing System

• min. 2 1/2" normal weight conc.
• Metal Lath
• concrete reinforcing steel mesh
• Steel web joists

• Optional: 3.5" Sound Attenuation Batt
• Furring channels
• 5/8" Gypsum board
• IIC 54

@Third Floor (1 hour required)
• Finish floor
• 1/16" seperation mat (Acousti-Top) 
• formed and cast in place concrete (thickness varies, min. 4")
• IIC 52

@ Fourth and Fifth Floor (based on L521) :
• Finish Floor
• 1 1/2" Gypcrete (Maxxon Underlayment)
• 3/8" seperation mat (Acousti-Mat Premium 3/8")
• 23/32" or 3/4" subfloor (see struct.)
• 20" Plate Truss
• min 3.5" sound attenuation batt (prefer 6.25" sound attenuation batt)
• RC-1 Channel 
• 5/8" Gypsum Board
• IIC 57

Roof System:
• Insulation entirely above deck. Tapered on a flat deck at all locations (third floor roof 

and 5th floor roof).
@Third Floor Line (1 hour fire rated system required): 
• Ballast Pavers (wasau tile) or ballast stones
• 60mm EPDM
• R30 min insulation
• Existing System

• min. 2 1/2" normal weight conc.
• Metal Lath
• concrete reinforcing steel mesh
• Steel web joists

• Furring channels
• 5/8" Gypsum board

@ High Roof (1 hour fire rated system): 
• 60 mm EPDM for 20 year warranty, or 
• 90mm for 30 year warranty. Fully adhered if possible
• R30 min. insulation
• vapor barrier
• wood roof deck over plate truss
• 3.5" sound attenuation batt
• RC-1 Channel
• 5/8" gypsum board.

Stairs:
Wooden Stairs built into CMU stairwell shaft. Center wall of staircase is wood stud and 
drywall faced. Landings constructed of 2x joists. Stair finish: waterproof integrated 
tread/riser product such as allstate rubber treads.

Conveying System:

3,500 lb machineroomless traction passenger elevator. (OTIS Gen2)
1. Stretcher accomodating. 
2. Single or dual speed side opening door 42" width.
3. Recommended speed minimum 350 fpm. 
4. Requires backup power operation. 
5. Requires smoke curtains or elevator shaft door to drop over the elevator doors on 

each floor.
a. Elevator Smoke Containment  (Smokeguard.com)
b. Elevator Cab Syntegra  (Syntegrausa.com)
c. Door Systems Inc DSI600 (Doorsysinc.com)

• Elevator machine in seperate control room.

Trash Chutes: IBC 713.13 Waste and Linen Chutes 
• chutes.com
• americanchutesystems.com

Mail Specialties: 
• florencemailboxes.com

Bike Specialties:
• wirecrafters.com

SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
1/4" = 1'-0" 07/06/2020

DESIGN BASIS



SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
07/06/2020

PEDESTRIAN PERSPECTIVES



SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
07/06/2020

PEDESTRIAN PERSPECTIVE



SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
07/06/2020

AERIAL 3D



FIRST FLOOR
100' - 0"

SECOND FLOOR
116' - 1"

03 THIRD FLOOR ROOF
129' - 8"

NEW ROOF
168' - 10"

ROOF PARAPET
171' - 4"

03 THIRD FLOOR
131' - 10"

05 FIFTH FLOOR
154' - 6"

04 FOURTH FLOOR
143' - 2"

T.O. TOPPING 2ND FLR
116' - 2 7/8"

SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
1/8" = 1'-0" 07/06/2020

SOUTH ELEVATION



FIRST FLOOR
100' - 0"

SECOND FLOOR
116' - 1"

NEW ROOF
168' - 10"

FIRST FLOOR ELEVATED
103' - 4"

ROOF PARAPET
171' - 4"

03 THIRD FLOOR
131' - 10"

05 FIFTH FLOOR
154' - 6"

04 FOURTH FLOOR
143' - 2"

T.O. TOPPING 2ND FLR
116' - 2 7/8"

1
4

' 
- 

0
"

SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
1/8" = 1'-0" 07/06/2020

EAST ELEVATION



FIRST FLOOR
100' - 0"

SECOND FLOOR
116' - 1"

03 THIRD FLOOR ROOF
129' - 8"

NEW ROOF
168' - 10"

FIRST FLOOR ELEVATED
103' - 4"

ROOF PARAPET
171' - 4"

03 THIRD FLOOR
131' - 10"

05 FIFTH FLOOR
154' - 6"

04 FOURTH FLOOR
143' - 2"

T.O. TOPPING 2ND FLR
116' - 2 7/8"

SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
1/8" = 1'-0" 07/02/2020

NORTH ELEVATION



FIRST FLOOR
100' - 0"

SECOND FLOOR
116' - 1"

03 THIRD FLOOR ROOF
129' - 8"

NEW ROOF
168' - 10"

ROOF PARAPET
171' - 4"

03 THIRD FLOOR
131' - 10"

05 FIFTH FLOOR
154' - 6"

04 FOURTH FLOOR
143' - 2"

T.O. TOPPING 2ND FLR
116' - 2 7/8"

SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
1/8" = 1'-0" 07/06/2020

WEST ELEVATION



CHAPTER 5 CONCEPTS:

Type IIIB Construction.
Seperated Mixed Use per Table 508.4: 

M to R: 1 HR. 
**S to R: 1 HR 
M to S: 0 HR

Maximum Height Table 504.3: 75 FT
Maximum Stories Table 504.4: S:4, M:3, R-2:5
Maximum Area Table 506.2(SM):  R2:48,000, M:37,500, S:76,500
Sprinklered: entire building NFPA 13.

CHAPTER 6 CONCEPTS:
Fire Treated studs and plywood/OSB sheathing required in bearing 
walls only. Non-fire treated lumber and sheathing allowed in all other 
locations. Exterior walls that are at or close to the property line may 
require fire treated sheathing in order to achieve a specific UL tested 
assembly.

CHAPTER 7 CONCEPTS:
See Section above reproduced on this sheet.
Also note:
**Fire Barrier: 711 references Table 707.3.10 for seperating fire areas. 
The residential portion of the building must be seperated from the 
mercantile portion M to R: 2 hours. This is indicatated in the conceptual 
fire assembly sections.
713.13 Waste and linen chutes and incinerator rooms. 

CHAPTER 12 CONCEPTS:
Air-bourne sound walls, partitions and floor/ceiling assemblies 
sperating sleeping or dwelling units form one another or public/service 
areas shall have a sound transmission class (STC) of not less than 50.
Structure-bourne sound floor/ceiling assemblies shall have an impact 
insulation class (IIC) rating of not less than 50.

FIRE RESISTANCE RATING REQUIREMENTS 
FOR BUILDING ELEMENTS (HOURS)

BUILDING ELEMENT

PRIM. STRUCT FRAME

BEARING WALLS

EXTERIOR

INTERIOR

NONBEARING WALLS PARTIT.

INTERIOR

FLOOR CONSTR. + MEMBERS

NONBEARING EXTERIOR WALLS

ROOF CONSTR. + MEMBERS

TYPE III

A B

1 0

2 2

1 0

0 0

1 0

1 0

SEE TABLE 602

BUILDING AREAS:

05: 11,219
04: 11,219
03: 11,219
02: 15,552
01: 15,492
= 50,071 AREA
LL: 16,205
SUM= 66,276 GSF

1
1

' 
- 

4
"

1
0

' 
- 

9
 1

/8
"

9
' 
- 

4
 1

/8
" 1
1

' 
- 

4
"

9
' 
- 

4
 1

/8
"

1
' 
- 

1
1

 7
/8

"

@ BEARING WALL @NON-BEARING WALL

WINDOW HEADER -
SEE STRUCT 

W
IN

D
O

W
 R

.O
.

FIRE WALL 
HANGER

1
' 
- 

1
1

 7
/8

"

FOURTH FLOOR

FIFTH FLOOR

SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
As indicated 07/06/2020

ASSEMBLIES

1/4" = 1'-0"

Life Safety Concept

704: FIRE RESISTANCE RATING OF STRUCTURAL MEMBERS 705: EXTERIOR WALLS 708: FIRE PARTITIONS 711: HORIZONTAL ASSEMBLIES

1/4" = 1'-0"

Partial 601 Table
1/4" = 1'-0"

Building Areas



FIFTH FLOOR
FOURTH FLOOR
THIRD FLOOR
SECOND FLOOR

FIVE FLOOR BLDG OVER BASEMENT
TYPE IIIB CONSTRUCTION

RESI - R2

RESI - R2

RESI - R2

RESI - R2

RESIDENTIAL -R2
MERCANTILE- M

MERCANTILE- M
RESI STOR. - S2

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

2HR (TABLE 707.3.2)1H
R

1H
R

1H
R

1H
R

2
H
R

FIRST FLOOR
BASEMENT

E
X
T
E
R

IO
R

 W
A
L
L
 (

7
0

5
.5

)
N
O

N
-B

E
A
R

IN
G

, 
O

N
E
-S

ID
E
D

E
X
T
E
R

IO
R

 W
A
L
L
 (

7
0

5
.5

)
N
O

N
-B

E
A
R

IN
G

, 
O

N
E
-S

ID
E
D

1H
R

2
H
R

(T
A
B

L
E
 6

0
2
)

B
O

T
H
 S

ID
E
S

(T
A
B

L
E
 6

0
2
)

B
O

T
H
 S

ID
E
S

2
H
R

2
H
R

1H
R

1H
R

1H
R

A. TRANSVERSE SECTION

2HR (1028.1 Exc. 2)
@ RESI LOBBY ONLY

RESI 
LOBBY

RESI 
STORAGE

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

1-BAY + PROTECT 
ROOF WITH CLASS 

B ROOFING 

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

FIFTH FLOOR
FOURTH FLOOR
THIRD FLOOR
SECOND FLOOR

FIVE FLOOR BLDG OVER BASEMENT
TYPE IIIB CONSTRUCTION

R2

R2

R2

R2

R-2
M

M
S2

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

1H
R

2
H
R

2
H
R

2
H
R

1H
R

FIRST FLOOR
BASEMENT

E
X
T
E
R

IO
R

 W
A
L
L
 (

7
0

5
.5

)
B

E
A
R

IN
G

, 
O

N
E
-S

ID
E
D

 W
4
0

8

E
X
T
E
R

IO
R

 W
A
L
L
 (

7
0

5
.5

)
B

E
A
R

IN
G

, 
B

O
T
H
 S

ID
E
S
 W

4
0

8
2
H
R

2
H
R

(T
A
B

L
E
 6

0
2
)

B
O

T
H
 S

ID
E
S

(T
A
B

L
E
 6

0
2
)

B
O

T
H
 S

ID
E
S

1H
R

2
H
R

C. LONGITUDINAL DOGLEG SECTION

2HR (1028.1 Exc. 2)
@ RESI LOBBY ONLY

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

1-BAY + PROTECT 
ROOF WITH CLASS 

B ROOFING 

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

A
L
L
E
Y

L
O

T
 L

IN
E
  
  
  
C

O
U
R

T
Y
A
R

D

2
H
R

2
H
R

2
H
R

RESI LOBBY 2HR 
(1028.1 EXC. 2) 

STORAGE UNDER 
LOBBY 2HR 

(1028.1 EXC. 2) 

FIFTH FLOOR
FOURTH FLOOR
THIRD FLOOR
SECOND FLOOR

FIVE FLOOR BLDG OVER BASEMENT
TYPE IIIB CONSTRUCTION

RESI - R2

RESI - R2

RESI - R2

RESI - R2

MERCANTILE- M

MERCANTILE- M
RESI STOR. - S2

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

1H
R

1H
R

1H
R

1H
R

2
H
R

FIRST FLOOR
BASEMENT

E
X
T
E
R

IO
R

 W
A
L
L
 (

7
0

5
.5

)
N
O

N
-B

E
A
R

IN
G

, 
O

N
E
-S

ID
E
D

E
X
T
E
R

IO
R

 W
A
L
L
 (

7
0

5
.5

)
N
O

N
-B

E
A
R

IN
G

, 
O

N
E
-S

ID
E
D

 
U
S
E
 W

4
0

8

1H
R

2
H
R

(T
A
B

L
E
 6

0
2
)

B
O

T
H
 S

ID
E
S

(T
A
B

L
E
 6

0
2
)

B
O

T
H
 S

ID
E
S

2
H
R

2
H
R

1H
R

1H
R

1H
R

B. TRANSVERSE DOGLEG SECTION

RESI 
STORAGE

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

1-BAY + PROTECT 
ROOF WITH CLASS 

B ROOFING 

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

M TO R 2HR
(TABLE 707.3.2) 

STORAGE UNDER 
LOBBY 2HR 

(1028.1 EXC. 2) 

D. LONGITUDINAL SECTION

L
O

T
 L

IN
E
  
  
  
C

O
U
R

T
Y
A
R

D

WASTE
RM (2HR)

T
R

A
S
H
 C

H
U
T
E
 2

H
R

 (
7
13

.3
)

1HR (508.4 A/R) 2HR (TABLE 707.3.2) 1HR (508.4 A/R)

2HR (TABLE 707.3.2) 1HR (508.4 A/R)

2
H
R

-R
-2

1H
R

1H
R

1H
R

0
H
R

0
H
R

0
H
R

1H
R

1H
R

1H
R

FIFTH FLOOR
FOURTH FLOOR
THIRD FLOOR
SECOND FLOOR

FIVE FLOOR BLDG OVER BASEMENT
TYPE IIIB CONSTRUCTION

RESI - R2

RESI - R2

RESI - R2

RESI - R2

MERCANTILE- M

MERCANTILE- M
RESI STOR. - S2

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

0
H
R

2
H
R

2
H
R

2
H
R

0
H
R

FIRST FLOOR
BASEMENT

E
X
T
E
R

IO
R

 W
A
L
L
 (

7
0

5
.5

)
B

E
A
R

IN
G

, 
O

N
E
-S

ID
E
D

, 
U
S
E
 

W
4
0

8

E
X
T
E
R

IO
R

 W
A
L
L
 (

7
0

5
.5

)
B

E
A
R

IN
G

, 
O

N
E
-S

ID
E
D

, 
U
S
E
 

W
4
0

8

0
H
R

0
H
R

(T
A
B

L
E
 6

0
2
)

B
O

T
H
 S

ID
E
S

(T
A
B

L
E
 6

0
2
)

B
O

T
H
 S

ID
E
S

2
H
R

2
H
R

2
H
R

2
H
R

2
H
R

RESI 
STORAGE

1HR (711.2.4.3)
(W/ 711.2.3 E-1)

M TO R 2HR
(TABLE 707.3.2) 

STORAGE UNDER 
LOBBY 2HR 

(1028.1 EXC. 2) 

C
O

L
L
E
G

E

T
R

A
S
H
 C

H
U
T
E
 2

H
R

 (
7
13

.3
)

2HR (TABLE 707.3.2) 1HR (508.4 A/R)

A
L
L
E
Y

0
H
R

0
H
R

0
H
R

G514 - FLOOR ASSEMBLY - 1 HR & 2 HR - USE: FLOOR LEVEL FIRST AND SECOND (PERHAPS G512... CHECK WITH STUCTURAL FOR TRUSS TYPE)

X528 - PRIMARY STRUCTURAL COLUMN PROTECTION - 1 HR & 2 HR - USE: BASEMENT AND FIRST FLOOR, 2 HR AT BEARING WALL COLUMN LINES OF UPPER THREE FLOOR ADDITION

U356 - BEARING EXTERIOR WALL - 1 HR - USE: INTERIOR FACE 1 HR RATED NON-BEARING PERIMETER/EXTERIOR WALLS (IF BLAZESHIELD EXTERIOR SHEATHING U348)

U327/U305 - BEARING INTERIOR WALL - 1 HR - USE: WALLS FLOOR LEVEL TWO, THREE, FOUR AND FIVE

L521/L550/L563 - FLOOR ASSEMBLY - 1 HR - USE: FLOOR LEVEL FOUR AND FIVE (ASSEMBLY DEPENDENT ON DAMPER SELECTED)

IBC 722.3 - UNIT MASONRY- 2 HR - USE: VERTICAL STAIR AND ELEVATOR SHAFTS
12x8x16 REGULAR - 2 HRS
8x8x16 REGULAR - 1 HRS
8x8x16 SPECIAL 2 HR FIRE - 2 HRS

U415 - [STEEL STUD] SHAFTWALL - 2 HR - USE: VERTICAL SHAFTS OTHER THAN STAIRS AND ELEVATORS

U419 - [STEEL STUD] NONBEARING INTERIOR WALL - 1 HR & 2 HR - USE: BASEMENT AND FIRST WHERE NOT BEARING BUT 1 HOUR RATED - MAY BE EASIER TO USE STEEL STUDS ON THESE TALLER FLOORS

U???- NEED ROOF PROTECTION ASSEMBLY

U341 - BEARING INTERIOR WALL - 1 HR - USE: WALLS FLOOR LEVEL TWO, THREE, FOUR AND FIVE

TABLE 722.2.2.1 - FLOOR ASSEMBLY - 1 HR - MINIMUM 3.5" SILICEOUS POURED CONCRETE THICKNESS - USE: FLOOR LEVEL THREE

W408 - BEARING EXTERIOR WALL - 2 HR - USE: INTERIOR FACE 2 HR RATED BEARING PERIMETER/EXTERIOR WALLS

W408 - BEARING EXTERIOR WALL - 2 HR - USE: INTERIOR FACE 2 HR RATED BEARING PERIMETER/EXTERIOR WALLS WITH 1 HR FACE EXTERIOR RATED WHERE 0-10 FT FROM INTERNAL PROPERTY LINE(S)

C
O

L
L
E
G

E

A
L
L
E
Y

D.

A.

B.

C.

C
O

L
L
E
G

E

A
L
L
E
Y

B B.3 H I/J J.3

2 HR EXTERIOR BEARING WALLS
2 HR FIRE PROOFING OF PRIMARY EXISTING STRUCTURE (COLUMNS/BEAMS)X

SCALE:

Gries
Architectural  Group  Inc.

PARK CENTRAL

SCHEMATIC DESIGN
As indicated 07/06/2020

ASSEMBLIES

1/32" = 1'-0"

Rated Assemblies Concept

1/4" = 1'-0"

Fire Rated Assemblies

1/32" = 1'-0"

KEY PLAN



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TO:  Community and Economic Development Committee  

FROM: Nikki Gerhard, Community Development Specialist 

DATE:  March 10, 2021 

RE: Final Award Recommendations for 2021 Community Development Block Grant Funding  

 

 

The City of Appleton CDBG HUD award is $610,569 for the 2021 fiscal year.  This is $19,343 higher than 

the anticipated award of $591,226.        

 

The 2021 awards approved in November 2020 by the Common Council totaled $591,226 (City programs 

and sub recipients combined).  

 

The CDBG Advisory Board was asked to consider staff recommendations for the additional $19,343 

(below) for the 2021PY, or make their own recommendation for these funds. By majority vote, the 

Committee recommends the approval of the staff recommendations.   

 

These recommendations will be considered by CEDC on March 10th and Common Council on March 17th. 

 

Staff recommends allocating the $19,343 as follows: 

 

1. Award $19,343 to Apricity, Inc (D/B/A The Mooring Programs) for Final Award of $39,343.   

 

The Mooring Programs requested $20,000 to complete rehabilitation activities on six of their 

men’s apartment program houses and the main building facility. Due to COVID, additional 

rehabilitation work identified, and increased construction costs, the projects originally budgeted 

substantially increased in cost. The $19,343 is only about half of their new proposed budget. 

 

The following attachments are provided for additional information for this action item.   

 

Attached Documents: 

 

1.) November 11, 2020 Memo from Community Development Specialist to CEDC  

RE: Recommendations for 2021 CDBG Funding 

2.) Revised Award Recommendations for the 2021 CDBG Program Year  

3.) Executive Summary of Award Recommendations for 2021 CDBG Program Year 

4.) Apricity Request for Additional Funds 

 

If you have any questions, please contact me at 832-6469 or nikki.gerhard@appleton.org.  Thank you! 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

mailto:nikki.gerhard@appleton.org


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TO:  Community and Economic Development Committee  

 

FROM: Nikki Gerhard, Community Development Specialist   

 

DATE:  November 11, 2020  

 

RE: Recommendations for 2021 Community Development Block Grant Funding  

 

Background.  The estimated 2021 CDBG award listed in the 2021 City budget was $591,226.  This amount 

was estimated based on the most recent three years of awards.  Staff determined the allocations for the 

Homeowner Rehabilitation Loan Program, Appleton Housing Authority, and administrative costs.  The 

remaining amount was available for department projects and community partners through a competitive 

application process.  

 

Application Information.  CDBG applications from City Departments were due to the Community and 

Economic Development Department on August 31, 2020.  One application was submitted and was recently 

approved for the full request.  CDBG applications from community partners for the 2021 program year 

were due to the Community and Economic Development Department on September 30, 2020.  

 

Seven applications were submitted under the routine annual allocation process.  After awards were allocated 

for City programs, administration, and the City Department project, the amount available to allocate to the 

community partner applicants was $369,849.84.  Only 15 percent of a grantee’s allocation may be used for 

public service activities, per HUD regulations.  In this instance, only a maximum of $88,684 is projected to 

be available for public service activities.  Because the Appleton Police Department’s Summer of Services 

project fell under the public service category, the remaining balance allowable to community partner 

applicants was $16,632.84.  The total amount requested by community partner applicants whose activities 

fell under the public service category was $16,632.84; while the total amount requested by community 

partner applicants whose activities did not fall under the public service category was $384,185.  Refer to 

the attachments for a specific breakdown of the allocations. 

 

Application Review.  The CDBG Advisory Board met on October 27, 2020.  Members were asked to review 

the applications and decide upon allocation amounts prior to the meeting.  The allocation amounts made by 

each board member were compiled and discussed at the meeting.  Allocation recommendations were agreed 

upon pursuant to this discussion. 

 

Allocation Approval.  The funding allocation recommendations from the CDBG Advisory Board for 

community partners are presented in the attached table for CEDC approval.  

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



Staff recommends approval of the preliminary allocations, as presented.  

 

The following attachments are provided for additional information on this action item. 

 

 Attached Documents: 

 

1.) 2021PY CDBG Advisory Board Membership 

2.) CDBG Policy 

3.) 2021PY Community Partner Application Award Recommendations 

4.) 2021PY Simple Summary of Award Recommendations 

 

If you have any questions, please contact me at (920) 832-6469 or nikki.gerhard@appleton.org. Thank you! 

 

mailto:nikki.gerhard@appleton.org


NON-PUBLIC SERVICE
PROJECT
ACTIVITY

PROJECTED 
OUTPUT

FUNDS WILL
BE USED TO…

AMOUNT 
REQUESTED

AMOUNT 
PREVIOUSLY 
APPROVED

CDBG ADVISORY 
BOARD
$ REC

Greater Fox Cities Area Habitat for Humanity housing

3 properties 
rehabilitated and 
sold to qualified 

homebuyers

acquire 3 properties to do full house rehabilitation and 
then sell to qualified low or moderate income 

homebuyers
$147,000 147,000$         147,000$               

Pillars, Inc Adult & Family Shelter  public facility 
security 

improvements
upgrade/install security improvements $27,185 27,185.00$       27,185.00$            

Rebuilding Together Fox Valley  housing 
10 properties 
rehabilitated

provision of home repairs to low-income homeowners 
in need, specifically older adults, veterans and 

individuals with disabilities
$100,000 100,000.00$     100,000.00$          

WWBIC (Wisconsin Women's Business Initiative 
Corporation)

 economic 
development 

4 businesses 
financially support

provide bsuiness education and one-on-one 
individualized counseling for up and coming, and 

established, small business owners
$75,000 59,032.00$       59,032.00$            

The Mooring Programs, Inc. (dba Apricity)  public facility 
program 

rehabilitation
rehabilitation of 5 program houses and the main facility 

(Phase III)
$20,000 20,000.00$       39,343.00$          

Hmong American Partnership  public facility repair/replace roof rehabilitation or replacement of facility roof $15,000 -$                -$                     

384,185.00$  372,560.00$     

PUBLIC SERVICE
PROJECT
ACTIVITY

PROJECTED 
OUTPUT

FUNDS WILL
BE USED TO…

AMOUNT 
REQUESTED

CDBG ADVISORY 
BOARD
$ REC

LEAVEN
 public
service 

 53 households 
served 

provide rental assistance to those at risk of 
homelessness through the Emergency Assistance 

Program
$16,632.94  $      16,632.94  $           16,632.94 

$16,632.94 $16,632.94

$149,325.00

$72,051.06

CDBG Advisory Board Recommendations $389,192.94

$610,569

 City Programs/Appleton Housing Authority/Administration 
(previously approved) 

 Community Partner Application AWARD RECOMMENDATIONS
for the 2021 CDBG Program Year 

 Appleton Police Department                                                                 
(previously approved) 



Awarded

City of Appleton Homeowner Rehabilitation Loan Program 29,892.00$              
Fair Housing Services 25,000.00$              
Appleton Housing Authority 37,000.00$              
CDBG Program Administration Costs 57,433.00$              
Appleton Police Department 72,051.06$              

Greater Fox Cities Habitat for Humanity 147,000.00$            
Pillars, Inc 27,185.00$              
Rebuilding Together Fox Valley 100,000.00$            
The Mooring Programs 20,000.00$              
WWBIC 59,032.00$              

LEAVEN, Inc. 16,632.94$              

TOTAL 591,226$            

AWARD RECOMMENDATIONS FOR 2021 CDBG PROGRAM YEAR

City Programs/Appleton Housing Authority/Administration

Non-Public Service

Public Service



Revised

29,892.00$          
25,000.00$          
37,000.00$          
57,433.00$          
72,051.06$          

147,000.00$        
27,185.00$          

100,000.00$        
39,343.00$          
59,032.00$          

16,632.94$          

610,569.00$    





Submittal of Annual Reports and Other Compliance Documents for Municipal 

Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) Permits

NOTE: Missing or incomplete fields are highlighted at the bottom of each page.  You may save, close and return to your draft permit as often as necessary to complete 

your application.  After 120 days your draft is deleted.

Required Attachments and Supplemental Information 

Please complete the contents of each tab to submit your MS4 permit compliance document. The information 

included in this checklist is necessary for a complete submittal. A complete and detailed submittal will help us 

review about your MS4 permit document. To help us make a decision in the shortest amount of time possible, the 

following information must be submitted:

� Review related web site and instructions for Municipal storm water permit eReporting [Exit Form]

� Complete all required fields on the annual report form and upload required attachments

� Attach the following other supporting documents as appropriate using the attachments tab above

� Public Education and Outreach Annual Report Summary 

� Public Involvement and Participation Annual Report Summary

� Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination Annual Report Summary

� Construction Site Pollution Control Annual Report Summary

� Post-Construction Storm Water Management Annual Report Summary

�  Pollution Prevention Annual Report Summary

� Leaf and Yard Waste Management

� Municipal Facility (BMP) Inspection Report

� Municipal Property SWPPP

� Municipally Property Inspection Report

� Winter Road Maintenance

� Storm Sewer Map Annual Report Attachment

� Storm Water Quality Management Annual Report Attachment

� TMDL Attachment

� Storm Water Consortium/Group Report

Reporting Information 

Will you be completing the Annual Report or other submittal type?  Annual Report  Other

Is this submittal also satisfying an Urban Nonpoint Source Grant funded deliverable?    Yes  No

Project Name: City of Appleton 2020 Annual Report

County: Outagamie

Municipality: Appleton City

Permit Number: S050075

Facility Number: 31098

Reporting Year: 2020

Annual Report



� Municipal Cooperation Attachment

� Other Annual Report Attachment

� Attach the following permit compliance documents as appropriate using the attachments tab above

� Storm Water Management Program (S050075-03 General Permit and S058416-04 Madison Area Group Permit shall have a 

written storm water management program that describes in detail how the permittee intends to comply with the permit 

requirements for each minimum control measure. Updated programs are due to the department by March 31, 2021.) 

� Public Education and Outreach Program

� Public Involvement and Participation Program

� Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination Program

� Construction Site Pollutant Control Program

� Post-Construction Storm Water Management Program

� Pollution Prevention Program

� Municipal Storm Water Management Facility (BMP) Inventory (S050075-03 General Permit and S058416-04 

Madison Area Group Permit 2.6.1 - inventory due to the department by March 31, 2021.)

� Municipal Storm Water Management Facility (BMP) Inspection and Maintenance Plan (S050075-03 General 

Permit and S058416-04 Madison Area Group Permit 2.6.2 – document due to the department by March 31, 

2021.)

� Total Maximum Daily Load documents (*If applicable, see permit for due dates.)

� TMDL Mapping*

� TMDL Modeling*

� TMDL Implementation Plan*

� Fecal Coliform Screening Parameter *

� Fecal Coliform Inventory and Map (S050075-03 general permittees Appendix B B.5.2 – document due to the 

department by March 31, 2022)

� Fecal Coliform Source Elimination Plan (S050075-03 general permittees Appendix B - document due to the 

department by October 31,2023)

� Sign and Submit form



Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Form 3400-224 (09/20)

Note: Compliance items must be submitted using the Attachments tab.

Municipal Contact Information- Complete

Notice: Pursuant to s. NR 216.07(8), Wis. Adm. Code, an owner or operator of a Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) is 

required to submit an annual report to the Department of Natural Resources (Department) by March 31 of each year to report on 

activities for the previous calendar year (“reporting year”). This form is being provided by the Department for the user’s convenience for 

reporting on activities undertaken in each reporting year of the permit term. Personal information collected will be used for 

administrative purposes and may be provided to the extent required by Wisconsin’s Open Records Law [ss. 19.31-19.39, Wis. Stats.].

Municipality Information 

Name of Municipality Appleton City

Facility ID # or (FIN): 31098

Updated Information:
Check to update mailing address information    

Mailing Address: 100 North Appleton Street

Mailing Address 2:

City: Appleton

State: Wisconsin

Zip Code:  xxxxx  or xxxxx-xxxx54911

Primary Municipal Contact Person  (Authorized Representative for MS4 Permit)

The “Authorized Representative” or “Authorized Municipal Contact” includes the municipal official that was 

charged with compliance and oversight of the permit conditions, and has signature authority for submitting 

permit documents to the Department (i.e., Mayor, Municipal Administrator, Director of Public Works, City 

Engineer).

Select to create new  primary contact 

First Name: Paula

Last Name: Vandehey

Select to update  current contact information  

Title: Public Works Dir

Mailing Address: 100 N Appleton Street

Mailing Address 2:

City: Appleton

State: WI

Zip Code: xxxxx  or xxxxx-xxxx54911

Phone Number: Ext: xxx-xxx-xxxx920-832-6474

Email: paula.vandehey@appleton.org

Additional Contacts Information (Optional)  

 I&E Program     



1. Does the municipality rely on another entity to satisfy some of the permit requirements?  

 Yes    No 

2. Has there been any changes to the municipality’s participation in group efforts towards permit compliances (i.e., 

the municipality has added or dropped consortium membership)?

 Yes   No   

Individual with responsibility for:

(Check all that apply)

 IDDE Program   

 IDDE Response Procedure Manual  

 Municipal-wide Water Quality Plan  

 Ordinances

 Pollution Prevention Program  

 Post-Construction Program  

 Winter roadway maintenance

First Name: Nathan

Last Name: Loper

Title: Dep Dir Operations

Mailing Address: 100 N Appleton Street

Mailing Address 2:

City: Appleton

State: WI

Zip Code: xxxxx  or xxxxx-xxxx54911

Phone Number: Ext: xxx-xxx-xxxx920-832-5580

Email: Nathan.Loper@appleton.org

Public Education and Outreach  

Public Involvement and Participation 

Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination 

Construction Site Pollutant Control 

Post-Construction Storm Water Management 

Pollution Prevention

 Northeast Wisconsin Stormwater Consortium and Fox Wolf Watershed Alliance (NEWSC and FWWA) 

 Northeast Wisconsin Stormwater Consortium and Fox Wolf Watershed Alliance (NEWSC and FWWA)

 OMNNI Associates

 raSmith and Brown and Caldwell

 raSmith and Brown and Caldwell

Missing Information



Minimum Control Measures- Section 1 : 

a. Complete the following information on Public Education and Outreach Activities related to storm 

water. Select the Delivery Mechanism that best describes how the topics were conveyed to your 

population. Use the Add Event to add additional entries. 

Note: For the minimum control measures, you must fill out all questions in sections 1 through 7.

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Form 3400-224 (08/19)

Complete

1. Public Education and Outreach

Event Start Date 6/10/2020

Project/Event Name DPW Newsletter

Delivery Mechanism *ActiveDistribution of print media

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing

Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:







General Public

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other





101 + Yes No

Event Start Date 1/2/2020

Project/Event Name One -on- One communication

Delivery Mechanism *ActiveOther

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing

Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:







General Public

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other











11-50 Yes No



Event Start Date 1/1/2020

Project/Event Name Stormwater Utility Pledge Supporter and Rain Barrel Credits

Delivery Mechanism *ActiveOther

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing

Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:









General Public

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other





11-50 Yes No

Event Start Date 5/1/2020

Project/Event Name NEWSC posters at various City Parks

Delivery Mechanism *ActiveSignage

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing

Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:







General Public

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other







51-100 Yes No

Event Start Date 1/2/2020

Project/Event Name FWWA Conference Planning and sponsorship

Delivery Mechanism *ActiveEducational activity*

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing

General Public

Public Employees

Residents



101 + Yes No



Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:





Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other



Event Start Date 1/2/2020

Project/Event Name NEWSC School presentations

Delivery Mechanism *ActiveTargeted group training*

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing

Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:





General Public

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other





51-100 Yes No

Event Start Date 1/2/2020

Project/Event Name NEWSC exhibiting

Delivery Mechanism *ActiveInformational booth*

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing

Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:







General Public

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other





51-100 Yes No



b. Brief explanation on Public Education and Outreach reporting. Limit response to 250 characters 

and/or attach supplemental information on the attachments page.

Form 3400-224 (09/20)

Minimum Control Measures - Section 2 : 

a. Permit Activities. Complete the following information on Public Involvement and Participation 

Activities related to storm water. Select the Delivery Mechanism that best describes how the permit 

activities were conveyed to your population. Use the Add Event to add additional entries.  

Event Start Date 1/2/2020

Project/Event Name Development Meetings and Plan Review

Delivery Mechanism *ActiveOther

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing

Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:





General Public

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other







11-50 Yes No

2020 Activities limited due to COVID restrictions.  City staff remained active in FWWA 

and NEWSC.  Summary of completed activities and NEWSC reports attached. 

Missing Information

Note: For the minimum control measures, you must fill out all questions in sections 1 through 7

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Complete

2. Public Involvement and Participation

Event Start Date 2/20/2020

Project/Event Name Utilities Committee meeting and Council meeting

Delivery Mechanism Government Event (Public Hearing, Council Meeting, etc)

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

11-50



MS4 Annual Report

Storm Water Management Program

Storm Water related ordinance

Other:

 General Public

Public Employees

Residents 

Businesses 

Contractors 

Developers 

Industries 

Other 

  Yes  No

Event Start Date 4/23/2020

Project/Event Name City-wide plan update - adjacent communities meeting with McMahon

Delivery Mechanism Other

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

MS4 Annual Report

Storm Water Management Program

Storm Water related ordinance

Other:



General Public

Public Employees

Residents 

Businesses 

Contractors 

Developers 

Industries 

Other 

1 - 10  Yes  No

Event Start Date 1/9/2020

Project/Event Name Erosion Control Ordinance Update 

Delivery Mechanism Government Event (Public Hearing, Council Meeting, etc)

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

MS4 Annual Report

Storm Water Management Program

Storm Water related ordinance

Other:



General Public

Public Employees

Residents 

Businesses 

Contractors 

Developers 

Industries 

Other 







11-50  Yes  No

Event Start Date 2/20/2020

Project/Event Name Illicit Discharge Ordinance Update

Delivery Mechanism Government Event (Public Hearing, Council Meeting, etc)

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

MS4 Annual Report

Storm Water Management Program

Storm Water related ordinance

Other:



General Public

Public Employees

Residents 

Businesses 

Contractors 

Developers 

Industries 

Other 







11-50  Yes  No



Event Start Date 3/26/2020

Project/Event Name Post-Construction Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Delivery Mechanism Government Event (Public Hearing, Council Meeting, etc)

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

MS4 Annual Report

Storm Water Management Program

Storm Water related ordinance

Other:



General Public

Public Employees

Residents 

Businesses 

Contractors 

Developers 

Industries 

Other 





11-50  Yes  No

Event Start Date 9/17/2020

Project/Event Name MS4 Permit Overview (repeat 2019 presentation)

Delivery Mechanism Government Event (Public Hearing, Council Meeting, etc)

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

MS4 Annual Report

Storm Water Management Program

Storm Water related ordinance

Other:



General Public

Public Employees

Residents 

Businesses 

Contractors 

Developers 

Industries 

Other 





11-50  Yes  No

Event Start Date 1/9/2020

Project/Event Name Erosion Control Program Update

Delivery Mechanism Government Event (Public Hearing, Council Meeting, etc)

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

MS4 Annual Report

Storm Water Management Program

Storm Water related ordinance

Other:



General Public

Public Employees

Residents 

Businesses 

Contractors 

Developers 

Industries 

Other 







11-50  Yes  No

Event Start Date 10/8/2020

Project/Event Name Post-Construction Program Update

Delivery Mechanism Government Event (Public Hearing, Council Meeting, etc)

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

MS4 Annual Report

Storm Water Management Program

General Public

Public Employees

 11-50  Yes  No



b. Volunteer Activities. Complete the following information on Public Involvement and Participation 

Activities related to storm water. Select the Delivery Mechanism that best describes how volunteer 

activities were conveyed to your population. Use the Add Event to add additional entries.  

c. Brief explanation on Public Involvement and Participation reporting. Limit response 

to 250 characters and/or attach supplemental information on the attachments page.

Form 3400-224 (09/20)

Minimum Control Measures - Section 3 : 

Storm Water related ordinance

Other:

Residents 

Businesses 

Contractors 

Developers 

Industries 

Other 



Event Start Date 8/22/2020

Project/Event Name FWWA River Cleanup

Delivery Mechanism Clean up event

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People Reached 

(Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Volunteer Opportunity General Public 

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other







101 + Yes   No

Public involvement and participation program included various Utilities Committee and Council 

meetings throughout the year and the FWWA River Cleanup in August.  Table of activities is 

attached. 

Missing Information

Note: For the minimum control measures, you must fill out all questions in sections 1 through 7

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Complete

3. Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination

a. How many total outfalls does the municipality have? 324 Unsure

b. How many outfalls did the municipality evaluate as part 

of their routine ongoing field screening program?
74 Unsure

c. From the municipality's routine screening, how many 

were confirmed illicit discharges?
11 Unsure



Form 3400-224 (09/20)

Minimum Control Measures - Section 4 : 

d. How many illicit discharge complaints did the 

municipality receive?
13 Unsure

e. From the complaints received, how many were 

confirmed illicit discharges?
9 Unsure

f. How many of the identified illicit discharges did the 

municipality eliminate in the reporting year (from both 

routine screening and complaints)? 
(If the sum of 3.c. and 3.e. does not equal 3.f., please explain below.)

7 Unsure

g. How many of the following enforcement mechanisms did the municipality 

use to enforce its illicit discharge ordinance? Check all that apply and 

enter the number of each used in the reporting year.

Unsure

Verbal Warning 2

Written Warning (including email) 2

Notice of Violation 14

Civil Penalty/ Citation 0

Additional Information: 

h. Brief explanation on Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination reporting.   If you 

marked Unsure for any questions above, justify the reasoning.  Limit response to 

250 characters and/or attach supplemental information on the attachments page.

Conductivity from salt and hospital HVAC hard to eliminate. Private pond dye reported to DNR. 

Outfalls unresolved will be screened again in 2021. Program update completed in 2020, elected official 

review 2021. 

Missing Information

Note: For the minimum control measures, you must fill out all questions in sections 1 through 7

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Complete

4. Construction Site Pollutant Control

a. How many total construction sites with one acre or more 

of land disturbing construction activity were active at any 

point in the reporting year?

9 Unsure

b. How many construction sites with one acre or more of 

land disturbing construction activity did the municipality 

issue permits for in the reporting year?

13 Unsure

c. How many erosion control inspections did the municipality 

complete in the reporting year?
678 Unsure

d. What types of enforcement actions does the municipality have available 

to compel compliance with the regulatory mechanism? Check all that 

apply and enter the number of each used in the reporting year.

Unsure



Form 3400-224 (09/20)

Minimum Control Measures - Section 5 : 

 No Authority

 Verbal Warning 187

 Written Warning (including email) 28

 Notice of Violation 8

 Civil Penalty/ Citation 1

 Stop Work Order 0

 Forfeiture of Deposit

 Other - Describe below

e. Brief explanation on Construction Site Pollutant Control reporting .  If you marked 

Unsure for any questions above, justify the reasoning. Limit response to 250 characters 

and/or attach supplemental information on the attachments page.

New Erosion Control Inspector started April 6, 2020. Approximately 8 week gap of limited 

inspections. Ordinance and program update done in 2020. 

Missing Information

Note: For the minimum control measures, you must fill out all questions in sections 1 through 7

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Complete

5. Post-Construction Storm Water Management

a. How many sites with new structural storm water 

management facilities* have received local approval ?  
*Engineered and constructed systems that are designed to provide storm water 

quality control such as wet detention ponds, constructed wetlands, infiltration 

basins, grassed swales, permeable pavement, catch basin sumps, etc.

8 Unsure

b. Does the municipality utilize privately owned storm water 

management facilities in its pollutant reduction analysis?

Yes No Unsure

c. If Yes, How many privately owned storm water 

management facilities were inspected in the reporting year ? 
Inspections completed by private land owners should be included in the reported 

number.

4 Unsure

d. What types of enforcement actions does the municipality have available 

to compel compliance with the regulatory mechanism?  Check all that 

apply and enter the number of each used in the reporting year.

Unsure

 No Authority

 Verbal Warning 2

 Written Warning (including email) 4

 Notice of Violation 20



Form 3400-224 (09/20)

 Civil Penalty/ Citation 0

 Forfeiture of Deposit 0

 Complete Maintenance 0

 Bill Responsible Party 0

 Other - Describe below

e. Brief explanation on Post-Construction Storm Water Management reporting . If 

marked 'Unsure' on any questions above, justify your reasoning.  Limit  your response to 

250 characters and/or attach supplemental information on the attachments page.

Private site inspections limited due to staff time and COVID. Ordinance and program update completed. 

Other priorities were training new ESC Inspector and city-wide plan update. 

Missing Information

Note: For the minimum control measures, you must fill out all questions in sections 1 through 7

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Minimum Control Measures - Section 6 : Complete

6. Pollution Prevention

Storm Water Management Facility Inspections    Not Applicable

a. Enter the total number of municipally owned or operated 

structural storm water management facilities ?
192 Unsure

b. How many new municipally owned storm water management 

facilities were installed in the reporting year ?
13 Unsure

c. How many municipally owned storm water management facilities 

were inspected in the reporting year?
192 Unsure

d. What elements are looked at during  inspections (250 character 

limit)? 

Sediment depth in HSDs and ponds, trash, bank stability, inlet and outlet structures, 

and vegetation. 

e. How many of these facilities required maintenance? 95 Unsure

f. Brief explanation on Storm Water Management Facility inspection 

reporting. If you marked Unsure for any questions above, justify the 

reasoning.  Limit response to 250 characters and/or attach supplemental 

information on the attachments page.

Inspection and maintenance generally on schedule.

Public Works Yards & Other Municipally Owned Properties (SWPPP Plan Review)  Not Applicable

g. How many municipal properties require a SWPPP? Unsure



8

h. How many inspections of municipal properties have been 

conducted in the reporting year?
43 Unsure

i. Have amendments to the SWPPPs been made?          

Yes No  Unsure
j. If yes, describe what changes have been made. Limit response to 250 characters 

and/or attach supplemental information on the attachment page: 

k. Brief explanation on Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan reporting. If you marked 

Unsure for any questions above, justify the reasoning.  Limit response to 250 

characters and/or attach supplemental information on the attachments page.

DPW provides inspection for Facilities Sites, including their main operations building 

and Reid Golf Course maintenance area.  Fire and Utilities Departments perform 

their own inspections. 

Collection Services - Street Sweeping / Cleaning Program  Not Applicable

l. Did the municipality conduct street sweeping/cleaning during the reporting year?

Yes  No Unsure

m. If known, how many tons of material was removed? 1282 Unsure

n. Does the municipality have a low hazard exemption for this 

material?  

Yes No

o. If street cleaning is identified as a storm water best management practice in the 

pollutant loading analysis, was street cleaning completed at the assumed frequency?

Yes - Explain frequency per 2014 city-wide stormwater management plan

No - Explain

Not Applicable

Collection Services - Catch Basin Sump Cleaning Program  Not Applicable

p. Did the municipality conduct catch basin sump cleaning during the reporting 

year? Yes  No Unsure

q. How many catch basin sumps were cleaned in the reporting year? 31 Unsure

r. If known, how many tons of material was collected? 160 Unsure

s. Does the municipality have a low hazard exemption for this 

material? 

Yes No 

t. If catch basin sump cleaning is identified as a storm water best management practice 

in the pollutant loading analysis, was cleaning completed at the assumed frequency?

Yes- Explain frequency 

No - Explain  100% inspected, cleaned if needed

Not Applicable



Collection Services - Leaf Collection Program  Not Applicable
u. Does the municipality conduct curbside leaf collection? Yes  No Unsure

v. Does the municipality notify homeowners about pickup? Yes  No Unsure

w. Where are the residents directed to store the leaves for collection?

Pile on terrace  Pile in street  Bags on terrace  Unsure 

Other - Describe  pile on terrace on 4 lane and collector streets

x. What is the frequency of collection? 

weekly 3-4 cycles per weather conditions

y. Is collection followed by street sweeping/cleaning? Yes  No Unsure

z. Brief explanation on Collection Services reporting. If you 

marked Unsure for any questions above, justify the 

reasoning.  Limit response to 250 characters and/or attach 

supplemental information on the attachments page

Fourth round and additional sweeping in 2020 due to good weather conditions.

*Note: We are requesting information that goes beyond the reporting year, answer the best you can.

       Liquids (gallons) (ex. brine)

Winter Road Management  Not Applicable

aa. How many lane-miles of roadway is the municipality 

responsible for doing snow and ice control?
Unsure800

ab. Provide amount of de-icing products used by month last winter season?

Solids (tons) (ex. sand, or salt-sand)

Product Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Salt 45 557 983 1082 472 31

Sand 0 0 0 0 0 0

Salt/sand mix 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Brine 3233 7913 9238 15850 14089 1800

Chem-melt 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pre-wetting compound 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other 9 0 40 0 0 0

ac. Was salt applying machinery calibrated in the reporting 

year?

Yes  No Unsure

ad. Have municipal personnel attended salt reduction strategy 

training in the reporting year?

Yes  No Unsure

Training Date Training Name # Attendance

8/4/2005 2020 Salt Symposium August 4-5 1

ae. Brief explanation on Winter Road Management reporting. If you marked Unsure for any 

questions above, justify the reasoning.  Limit response to 250 characters and/or attach 



Form 3400-224 (09/20)

Minimum Control Measures - Section 7 : 

supplemental information on the attachments page

Continued to follow City snow and ice policies, procedures and salt application matrix with no 

changes to our program. 

Internal (Staff) Education & Communication

af. Has training or education been held for municipal or other 

personnel involved in implementing each of the pollution 

prevention program elements ?

Yes  No Unsure

If yes, describe what training was provided  (250 character limit):

See attached documents from Parks and DPW Operations

When:  

 How many attended:  

throughout year

128

ag. Describe how the municipality has kept the following local officials and municipal 

staff aware of the municipal storm water discharge permit programs and its 

requirements. 

Elected Officials

Municipal Officials

Appropriate Staff ( such as operators, Department heads, and those that interact 

with public)

Presentations to Utilities Committee throughout the year.

Same as elected officials. 

Monthly staff and workgroup meetings. 

ah. Brief explanation on Internal Education reporting.  If you marked Unsure for any 

questions above, justify the reasoning. Limit response to 250 characters and/or 

attach supplemental information on the attachments page.

Group training limited due to COVID.  Operations staff generally do not have 

computers.  Individual training and handouts. 

Missing Information

Note: For the minimum control measures, you must fill out all questions in sections 1 through 7

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Complete

7. Storm Sewer System Map

a. Did the municipality update their storm sewer map this year?

Yes No Unsure

If yes, check the areas the map items that got updated or changed:

 Storm water treatment facilities

 Storm pipes



 Vegetated swales

 Outfalls

 Other - Describe below

b. Brief explanation on Storm Sewer System Map reporting. If you marked Unsure for an 

question for any questions above, justify the reasoning. Limit response to 

250  characters and/or attach supplemental information on the attachments page.

Maps updated for 2020 construction, city limits, delineated wetlands, outfalls, new public and 

private stormwater practices.



Form 3400-224 (09/20)

Final Evaluation -

Fiscal Analysis

Complete the fiscal analysis table provided below. For municipalities that do not break out funding 

into permit program elements, please enter the monetary amount to your best estimate of what 

funding may be going towards these programs.

Element:  Public Education and Outreach

Element:  Public Involvement and Participation

Element:  Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination 

Element:  Construction Site Pollutant Control 

Element:   Post-Construction Storm Water Management

Element:   Pollution Prevention

Please provide a justification for a "0" entered in the Fiscal Analysis. Limit response to 250 characters.

Water Quality

a: Were there any known water quality improvements in the receiving waters to which the 

Missing Information

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Complete

Annual 

Expenditure
Reporting Year

Budget
Reporting Year

Budget
Upcoming 

Year

Source of Funds

7,684 8,000 8,000 Storm water utility

3,258 5,000 5,000 Storm water utility

31,130 15,000 21,500 Storm water utility

115,094 107,719 122,085 Storm water utility

113,699 85,000 85,000 Storm water utility

1,378,990 1,503,567 1,505,397 Storm water utility

Other (describe)

Mapping, annual report preparation and DNR Fee

10,322 12,600 12,600 Storm water utility



municipality’s storm sewer system directly discharges to?   

Yes  No Unsure          If Yes, explain below:

b : Were there any known water quality degradation in the receiving waters to which the 

municipality’s storm sewer system directly discharges to?

Yes  No Unsure          If Yes, explain below:

c: Have any of the receiving waters that the municipality discharges to been added to the impaired 

waters list during the reporting year?

Yes No  Unsure

d: Has the municipality evaluated their storm water practices to reduce the pollutants of concern?

Yes  No  Unsure

Storm Water Quality Management

a. Has the municipality completed or updated modeling in the reporting year (relating to developed 

urban area performance standards of s. NR 151.13(2)(b)1., Wis. Adm. Code)?  Yes    No 

b. If yes, enter percent reduction in the annual average mass discharging from the entire MS4 to 

surface waters of the state as compared to implementing no storm water management controls:

    Total suspended solids (TSS)  

    Total phosphorus (TP) 

Status of Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDLs) Implementation

The permittee Appleton City is subject to the following approved TMDLs: Lower Fox River Basin and 

Lower Green Bay; Upper Fox and Wolf River Basin

The permittee intends to comply with the following permit requirements to show progress towards 

meeting the TMDL:

Three additional wet stormwater ponds and 8 HSD's constructed

High conductivity in Garners Creek due to private snow management

[A.3.1] The Permittee is following the TMDL Compliance Plan, which received Department concurrence 

prior to April 30, 2019.

The permittee is confirming that all planned efforts are on schedule.

Agree Disagree

[A.6.3] Final Documentation.

The permittee is confirming that all planned efforts are on schedule to submit the final documentation 

materials [updates to mapping, modeling, tabular summary, and Implementation Plan] under section A.6.3 

by October 31, 2023. 

Agree Disagree



Additional Information

Based on the municipality’s storm water program evaluation, describe any proposed changes to the 

municipality’s storm water program. If your response exceeds the 250 character limit, attach 

supplemental information on the attachments page.

[C.3-4].a Which Compliance option does the permittee anticipate choosing?

TMDL Implementation Plan     Adaptive Management Project

[C.3-4].b The Permittee is confirming that all planned efforts are on schedule to meet requirements due 

to the department.

� For an Adaptive Management project, a plan is required within 36 months of the TMDL approval date. 

� For TMDL Implementation, updates to mapping, modeling, tabular summary, and Implementation 

Plan documents are required within 48 months of the TMDL approval date.)

Agree Disagree

Update to City-wide plan on schedule with DNR planning grant. 



Form 3400-224 (09/20)

Requests for Assistance on Understanding Permit Programs

Would the municipality like the Department to contact them about providing more information on 

understanding any of the Municipal Separate Storm Sewer Permit programs? 

Please select all that apply:

Public Education and Outreach 

Public Involvement and Participation

Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination

Construction Site Pollutant Control

Post-Construction Storm Water Management

Pollution Prevention

Storm Water Quality Management

Storm Sewer System Map

Water Quality Concerns

Compliance Schedule Items Due

MS4 Program Evaluation

Missing Information

Do not close your work until you SAVE.



Required Attachments and Supplemental Information 

Upload Required Attachments (15 MB per file limit) - Help reduce file size and trouble shoot file uploads

*Required Item

Note: To replace an existing file, use the 'Click here to attach file ' link or press the to delete an item.

Storm Sewer System Map

Attach - Other Supporting Documents

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Any other MS4 program information for inclusion in the Annual Report may be attached on here. Use 

the Add Additional Attachments to add multiple documents.

File Attachment
Mapscombined.pdf

AR_IP

File Attachment
2020PublicParticipationcompletedactivities.pdf

AR_EO

File Attachment
2020IEPlancompletedactivities.pdf

AR_Other

File Attachment
2020NEWSCOUTREACHREPORT.pdf

AR_BMPInspSum

File Attachment
StormwaterInspectMaintenanceList2020EOY.xls

AR_SWGroupReport

File Attachment
2020NEWSCAnnualReport.pdf

AR_SWMap

File Attachment
stormpipecombinedmaps.pdf

AR_IDDE

File Attachment
Illicitdiscargecomplaints2020.xls



(To remove items, use your cursor to hover over the attachment section. When the drop down arrow appears, select remove item)

Attach - Permit Compliance Documents

(To remove items, use your cursor to hover over the attachment section. When the drop down arrow appears, select remove item)

Draft and Share PDF Report with the permittee's governing body or delegated representatives. 

Press the button below to create a PDF.  The PDF will be sent to the email address associated with the WAMS ID that is signed in. After 

the annual report has been reviewed by the governing body or delegated representative, return to the MS4 eReporting System to 

submit the final report to the DNR.

AR_Other

File Attachment
2020-2021PublicWorksGuide.pdf

AR_Other

File Attachment
FieldScreeningBodyAB.pdf

AR_Other

File Attachment
2020FieldScreeningAppD.pdf

Missing Information

Draft and Share PDF Report



Steps to Complete the signature process

1. Read and Accept the Terms and Conditions

2. Press the Submit and Send to the DNR button

NOTE: For security purposes all email correspondence will be sent to the address you used when 

registering your WAMS ID. This may be a different email than that provided in the application. For 

information on your WAMS account click HERE .

Terms and Conditions

Certification: I hereby certify that I am an authorized representative of the municipality covered 

under Appleton City  MS4 Permit for which this annual report or other compliance document is being 

submitted, and that the information contained in this submittal and all attachments were gathered 

and prepared under my direction or supervision. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons under 

my direction or supervision involved in the preparation of this document, to the best of my 

knowledge, the information is true, accurate, and complete. I further certify that the municipality’s 

governing body or delegated representatives have reviewed or been apprised of the contents of this 

annual report. I understand that Wisconsin law provides severe penalties for submitting false 

information.

Signee (must check current role prior to accepting terms and conditions)

 Authorized municipal contact using WAMS ID.

 Delegation of Signature Authority ( Form  3400-220 ) for agent signing on the behalf of the 

authorized municipal contact.

 Agent seeking to share this item with authorized municipal contact (authorized municipal 

contact must get WAMS id and complete signature).

After providing the final authorized signature, the system will send an email to the authorized party and any agents.  This email will 

include a copy to the final read only version of this application. 

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Sign and Submit Your Application

Name: 

Title: 

Authorized Signature.

I accept the above

       terms and conditions.



TOPIC TARGET AUDIENCE PLANNED ACTIVITY COMPLETED ACTIVITY
ACTIVE PASSIVE CITY NEWSC

1
2 1. Residents 2. DPW Newsletter X X DPW Newsletter mailed June 2020
3 6. Stormwater Credit Policy Pledge Supporter X X 16 active pledge supporters in 2020
4 10.  One-on-one communication X X Discuss throughout the year in response to reported discharges 
5 11. NEWSC Exhibiting X X See NEWSC Report
6 14. Citizens Academy Presentation X X This activity canceled due to COVID
7 2. City staff - DPW Technicians 13. Group Training X X This activity canceled due to COVID
8
9 3. Businesses 10. One-on-One communication X X Discuss throughout the year in response to reported discharges

10 1
1
2 1. Residents 2. DPW Newsletter X X DPW Newsletter mailed June 2020
3 3. NEWSC Posters X X NEWSC Posters placed in park bathrooms and on park fences
4 6. Stormwater Credit Policy Pledge Supporter X X 16 active pledge supporters in 2020
5 11. NEWSC Exhibiting X X See NEWSC Report
6
7 2.  Students 14. NEWSC school presentations X X See NEWSC Report
8 15. Summer Camp X X Contract signed with FWWA but canceled due to COVID
9

10 1
1
2 1.  Residents 2.  City DPW newsletter X X DPW Newsletter mailed June 2020
3 3. NEWSC posters X X NEWSC posters placed in park bathrooms and on park fences
4 6. Stormwater Credit Policy Pledge Supporter X X 16 active pledge supporters in 2020
5 11. NEWSC Exhibiting X X See NEWSC Report
6
7 2. Students 15. Summer Camp X X Contract signed with FWWA but canceled due to COVID
8
9

10 1
1
2 1.  Residents 16.  River cleanup X X River Cleanup held in August 2020. City supported at $2500 level
3
4 2.  Students 14. NEWSC school presentation X X See NEWSC Report
5 15. Summer Camp X X Contract signed with FWWA but canceled due to COVID
6
7
8
9

10 1
1
2 1.  Residents 6. Stormwater Credit Policy Pledge Supporter X X 16 active pledge supporters in 2020
3
4 14. Citizens Academy Presentation X X This activity canceled due to COVID
5
6 X X 2 rain barrel stormwater utility credits issued in 2020
7
8
9

10 1

January 2021
2020 CITY OF APPLETON PUBLIC EDUCATION AND OUTREACH PLAN

MECHANISM PRIMARY LEAD

2. Inform and educate the public about the proper 
management of materials that may cause stormwater 

pollution from sources including automobiles, pet 
waste, household hazardous waste and household 

practices.

3. Promote beneficial onsite reuse of leaves and grass 
clippings and proper use use of lawn and garden 

fertilizers and pesticides.

4. Promote the management of streambanks and 
shorelines by riparian landowners to minimize erosion 

and restore and enhance the ecological value of 
waterways.

5. Promote infiltration of residential stormwater 
runoff from rooftop downspouts, driveways, and 

sidewalks. 

1. Promote detection and elimination of illicit 
discharges and water quality impacts associated with 
such discharges from municipal separate storm sewer 

system.



TOPIC TARGET AUDIENCE PLANNED ACTIVITY COMPLETED ACTIVITY
ACTIVE PASSIVE CITY NEWSC

January 2021
2020 CITY OF APPLETON PUBLIC EDUCATION AND OUTREACH PLAN

MECHANISM PRIMARY LEAD

       
       

       

1
2 1.  Design consultants 10.  One-on-one communication X X ESC Inspector in the field throughout the year
3 SW & ESC discussed for private and DPW projects throughout year
4 2.  Contractors 12.  Pre-submittal and X X
5                 Pre-construction meetings ESC discussed at DPW pre-construction meetings
6 3. City staff
7 18.  FWWA Watershed Conference X X Sponsored and on planning committee
8 Several City staff attended conference
9 19.  Plan review X X ESC and SWM plan review verbal and written discussion

10 1
1
2 1. Carpet Cleaners 1. Mailing X X Not done due to limited staff during COVID 
3
4
5
6
7 0
1
2 1.  Owners/Developers 10.  One-on-one communication X X Discuss individual projects throughout the year
3
4
5 2.  Designers 10.  One-on-one communication X X Discuss individual projects during the year
6 18.  Sponsor FWWA Watershed Conference X X Sponsored and on planning committee
7
8
9

10 1

7 Completed topics
Passive Mechanisms Active Mechanisms
1.  Mailing 0 10. One-on-One communication 1 Number of topics required 6
2.  Newsletter 1 11.  NEWSC Exhibiting 1
3.  NEWSC Posters 1 12.  Meetings 1
4.  Website 1 13.  Group Training 0
5. Signage 0 14. Presentations 1
6. Stormwater Credit Policy Pledge Supporter 1 15. Summer Camp 0

16.  River Cleanup 1
Total Passive Mechansims used 4 17. Utilities Committee Meeting 1

18. Workshops/Conferences 1
19. Plan review 1

Key:
1= used during the year Total Active Mechanisms Used 8
0= not used during the year

Required Active Mechanisms 2

8. Promote environmentally sensitive land 
development designs by developers and designers, 

including green infrastructre and low impact 
development. 

6. Inform and educate those responsible for the 
design, installation, and maintenance of construction 
site practices and stormwater management facilities 
on how to design, install, and maintain the practices. 

7. Identify businesses and activities that may pose a 
stormwater contamination concern, and educate 

those specific audiences on methods of stormwater 
pollution prevention. 



Topics
2019

Active Passive Active Passive Active Passive Active Passive Active Passive

1. IDDE 4 2 2 2

2. HHH, Pets, Vehicles, etc 3 3 2 3

3. Yard Waste, Pesticide, Ferilizer 3 3 1 3

4. Stream and Shoreline 3 0 2 0

5. Residential Infiltration 0 1 0 1

6.  ESC and Post Construction 4 0 4 0

7.  Pollution Prevention 0 1 0 0

8.  Green Infrastructure/Low Impact 3 0 3 0

Totals 20 10 14 9

City of Appleton Education and Outreach Plan 2019-2023 Summary of completed activities

Year
2020 2021 2022 2023



ACTIVITY 2020 Planned Activity 2020 Completed

Annual Report Target Participants:
General Public

Due to WDNR March 31 Elected Officials
each year

Delivery Mechanism:
Committee agenda on website February 20. 2020

Utilities Committee meeting February 25. 2020
Common Council meeting March 4, 2020

Date:  March

Stormwater Management Program Target Participants:
General Public

Proposed City-wide Plan Elected Officials
Update in 2020-2021 School District

Developers
Other City Departments

Delivery Mechanism:
Committee agenda on website 4 days prior to committee meeting

Utilities Committee Presentation See above
Common Council meeting 8 days after committee meeting
Stakeholder Presentations

Stakeholder meetings
City staff meetings

Date: throughout the year

Ordinance Updates Target Participants:
General Public

Erosion and Sediment Control Elected Officials

Design Consultants
Sent new ordinance to 

consultants on April 27, 2020
Illicit Discharges Developers

Contractors
Post-Construction Stormwater

Management Delivery Mechanism:
Committee agenda on website January 9, 2020 February 20. 2020 March 26, 2020

Utilities Committee Presentation January 14, 2020 February 25. 2020 April 1, 2020*
Common Council meeting January 22, 2020 March 4, 2020 April 1, 2020*

Date:  As needed

Volunteer Activity Target Participants:
General Public

City Staff

Delivery Mechanism:
Sponsor FWWA Cleanup Sponsored at $2500 level
Post Sign-up for City staff May 2 event canceled

due to COVID-19
Date:  Spring Held August 22, 2020

*Committee of the whole due 
to COVID-19

SECTION 2.2 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT AND PARTICIPATION

Post-Construction OrdinanceIllicit Discharge OrdinanceErosion and Sediment Control Ordinance

Repeated MS4 Permit overview at Utilities 
Committee on September 24,2020

Presented Post-Construction Program at Utilities 
Committee on October 13, 2020

Met with City consultant and McMahon 
(representing adjacent communities) on City-wide 

plan on April 23, 2020



      

Department of Public Works – Engineering Division 
    

MEMO 
 

TO:  Utilities Committee 

 

FROM: Paula Vandehey, Director of Public Works 

  Pete Neuberger, Staff Engineer 

   

DATE: March 9, 2021 

 

RE:  Award of 2021D Stormwater Consulting Services Single Source Contract for Lightning 

Drive Stream Crossings and Stormwater Practices Final Design to raSmith in an amount 

not to exceed $107,000.  

_______________________________________________________________________________  

 

The Department of Public Works is requesting approval of the 2021D Stormwater Consulting Services 

Single Source Contract for Lightning Drive Culverts and Stormwater Practices Final Design to raSmith in 

an amount not to exceed $107,000 (budget $107,250).  

 

PROJECT HISTORY  

The area generally bound by Ballard Road to the west, Broadway drive to the north, French Road to the 

east, and Edgewood Drive to the south has experienced significant development pressure in recent years. 

This pressure is expected to continue into the next several years until the area is built out. An essential 

component necessary for continued development is the extension of Lightning Drive from 600 feet north 

of Edgewood Drive (CTH JJ) to Broadway Drive, to serve as a transportation and utility corridor. 

 

In the fall of 2018, DPW staff continued the planning of Lightning Drive by soliciting proposals to 

qualified firms to perform a drainage study with 30% engineering design. At the December 11, 2018 

Utilities Committee, DPW Staff recommended that contract award to raSmith. The award memo 

identified DPW staff’s intent to continue working with raSmith through Lightning Drive final design 

without an RFP process, should staff determine that raSmith met expectations during the drainage study 

and subsequent contracts.   

 

raSmith completed the study contract in November 2019, while meeting DPW staff’s expectations to 

develop cost-effective stormwater management solutions for Lightning Drive. The raSmith study 

identified two proposed stream crossings and five proposed stormwater ponds, with corresponding 

conveyance, for stormwater management. 

 

At the March 24, 2020 Utilities Committee meeting, the Committee approved DPW’s recommendation to 

award the single-source Lightning Drive 60% Preliminary Engineering Design Contract to raSmith. 

raSmith is nearing completion of this task and will soon be ready to develop the final designs.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

2021D Contract 

March 9, 2021 

-Page 2- 

 

PROJECT SCHEDULE 

The proposed development schedule of the Lightning Drive corridor is as follows: 

• 2021: Complete preliminary (60%) engineering design of two stream crossings, five stormwater 

ponds, and corresponding stormwater conveyances, and apply for DNR and USACE permits 

• 2021: Begin final engineering design of two stream crossings, five stormwater ponds, and 

corresponding stormwater conveyances; obtain DNR and USACE permits. 

• 2022: Land acquisition for roadway and ponds, and complete final design. 

• 2023: Construction of Lightning Drive, bridges, and stormwater ponds. 

 

 

CONTRACT SCOPE 

As proposed, the consultant will: 

• Perform final modeling of stormwater conveyance, flood control and water quality for the streets 

and culverts to meet City, State, and Federal requirements, including FEMA floodplain. 

• Coordinate design work with City staff and adjacent developers. 

• Update and finalize a Stormwater Management Plan documenting proposed practices to meet City, 

State, and Federal Stormwater Management requirements. 

• Provide final bid documents in the form of plans and specifications for construction of two 

Lightning Drive stream crossings and five stormwater ponds. 

• Prepare permit applications to State and Federal Regulators, including a FEMA Letter of Map 

Revision (LOMR) request. 

• Assist City staff answering bidder/contractor questions during bidding and construction. 

REASON FOR REQUEST 

raSmith was selected for the original drainage study based on a competitive RFP process in 2018 and has 

performed well on the study and preliminary engineering phases for this project. Their ongoing work on 

this project makes raSmith well-positioned to provide continued cost-effective services moving forward 

using a negotiated, single-source contract scope; furthermore, raSmith proposes using the same staff for 

the proposed contract. Therefore, DPW is requesting permission to contract with raSmith for these final 

design services using a negotiated contract scope.   

 



Department of Public Works – Engineering Division 
    

MEMO 
 

 

 

TO:  Utilities Committee 

 

FROM: Paula Vandehey, Director of Public Works 

  Pete Neuberger, Staff Engineer 

   

DATE: March 9, 2021 

 

RE: Award of Single Source Contract with NES Ecological Services for 2021 Wetland 

Delineation Services in an Amount Not to Exceed $35,639.70. 

_______________________________________________________________________________  

 

The Department of Public Works is requesting approval to single source contract with NES Ecological 

Services, a Division of Robert E Lee & Associates, Inc. (NES) for 2021 Wetland Delineations in an 

amount not to exceed $35,639.70.  

CURRENT AUTHORIZATION 

In February 2019, DPW issued a request for proposals (RFP) for Wetland Delineation Consulting 

Services. After evaluating the proposals, DPW recommended contract award to NES at the March 12, 

2019, Utilities Committee. The committee authorized DPW to contract with NES for 2019 Wetland 

Delineations, in an amount not to exceed $30,000. The award memo stated DPW anticipated a multi-

year contract extension through 2023, subject to Utilities Committee authorization each year and 

satisfactory performance by the consultant. In 2020, Utilities Committee and Council approved a 

single-source quote for 2020 wetlands delineation services for $22,778. 

REASON FOR REQUEST 

The request is made for the following reasons: 

• Throughout 2019 and 2020, NES has strongly validated the results of the initial RFP 

evaluation by cost-effectively providing a very high level of expertise and customer service. 

Furthermore, because the primary staff person at NES is a WDNR Assured Wetland 

Delineator, the results of their work do not require a WDNR review and concurrence process. 

Avoiding this additional step has proved valuable for keeping projects on schedule and 

avoiding uncertainty.  

• The 2019 proposal from NES identified a suggested annual labor and equipment unit price 

increase of approximately 3% each year throughout the anticipated 5-year period. The 2020 

contract included an annual unit price increase of approximately 3.1%. The 2021 NES 

proposal includes a unit price increase of approximately 3.2% compared to 2020. DPW staff 

consider the request reasonable for providing continued cost-effective services. 

 

 

 



2021 Wetland Delineation Services  

March 9, 2021 

-Page 2- 

CONTRACT SCOPE 

As DPW and other departments implement their 5-year CIP, they must occasionally investigate 

potential wetlands to remain compliant with State and Federal wetland regulations. For 2021, several 

project sites have been identified. Cost estimate and responsible department are identified in the 

project list below: 

 

• Edgewood Drive (CTH JJ) Water Main Extension (Public Works - $3,439.90) 

• Miscellaneous Stormwater Management Allowance (Public Works - $7,560.10) 

• Plamann Park Supplemental Delineation Work (Public Works - $4,000.00) 

• Raw Water Line Supplemental Delineation/Permit Work (Public Works - $4,000.00) 

• Potential Land Acquisition (Community and Economic Development - $7,604.95)  

• Lungaard Park (Facilities & Construction Mgt - $3,676.65) 

• Pierce Park Trails (Facilities & Construction Mgt - $2,306.65) 

• Memorial Park Parking/Pavilion (Facilities & Construction Mgt - $3,051.45) 

 

 

DPW staff also anticipate contracting with NES for 2022-2023 wetlands delineations, subject to 

Utilities Committee and Common Council approval at the appropriate times. 



Department of Public Works – Engineering Division 
    
 

 

MEMO 
 

TO:  Utilities Committee 

   

FROM: Paula Vandehey, Director of Public Works 

Pete Neuberger, Staff Engineer 

 

SUBJECT: Award Single Source Unit K-21 Native Landscape Management Contract to Applied 

Ecological Services, Inc., in an amount not to exceed $256,680. 

 

DATE:  March 9, 2021 

▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬     

 

The Department of Public Works recommends award of the single source K-21 Native Landscape 

Management Contract to Applied Ecological Services, Inc. (AES), in an amount not to exceed $256,680 

(budget $256,680). 

 

The following tasks are included in this contract: 

 

Native Vegetation Maintenance and New Installations at City Stormwater Ponds and Channels 

• Provide vegetation inspections and recommendations. 

• Provide invasive species and algae control through herbicide, mowing, brushing, and/or controlled 

burns. 

• Provide preparation, seeding, planting, and erosion control at sparsely established areas and new 

sites. 

• Second phase planting of an “urban reforestation” area along the north side of Leona Pond. 

• Maintain pond aerators. 

 

In addition to work at DPW sites, the proposed contract amount includes an estimated $6,220 of work at 

Facilities Department sites, to be paid by Facilities Department through interdepartmental agreement. 

 

The Department of Public Works requests that the Utilities Committee approve a contract with AES, who 

was the 2017, 2018, 2019, 2020 contractor, for these services. This request is consistent with the approved 

2021 stormwater budget, the March 15, 2017 Unit K-17 approval by the Common Council, and the March 

2017 award memo by the Department of Public Works requesting use of AES as its consultant/contractor 

for native landscaping through 2021, subject to contractor performance in the prior year and annual 

contract approval.  

AES performed well as the 2020 contractor, demonstrating good customer service, expertise, and cost-

effectiveness. Proposed K-21unit prices include a 3% unit price increase compared to the K-20 unit 

prices, which is in line with the proposed annual unit price adjustment in the original 2017 AES proposal. 

Earlier this year, AES was purchased by Resource Environmental Solutions (RES), a Texas-based 

environmental restoration company. AES K-21 personnel and equipment are unaffected by this 

acquisition, and DPW staff anticipate no changes to the service provided. Contractually, AES has 

informed the DPW Staff they are now “RES Great Lakes, LLC dba Applied Ecological Services”. 



 
 
 
 
 
                                                             “…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

Department of Utilities  
Water Treatment Facility 

2281 Manitowoc Road 
Menasha, WI  54952 

920-997-4200  phone 
920-997-3240  fax  

 

TO:  Chairperson Vered Meltzer and Members of the Utilities Committee  

   

FROM: Utilities Director Chris Shaw  

 

DATE: March 3, 2021 

 

RE: Award Contract Amendment #1 to AECOM for the America’s Water 

Infrastructure Act Project in the amount of $22,788  

 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

In 2020, the Appleton Water Utility (AWU) was required to perform a risk and resiliency 

assessment of the utility. The assessment was a requirement of the Environmental Protection 

Agency (EPA) and the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR). These federal 

and state requirements relied on industry performance standards that were adhered to by the 

AWU. AECOM was the consulting firm that managed the project elements and completed the 

computer modeling of natural and malevolent acts. The completed risk and resiliency 

assessment from the AWU was then received by the EPA in December, 2020.  

 

Beyond the risk and resilience assessment report, an emergency response plan needs to be 

developed to address deficiencies found in 2020. This requirement will need to be submitted 

to the EPA and WDNR prior to June 30, 2021. City staff from Public Works, Finance, and 

Utilities that had partnered with AECOM in 2020 to complete the federal and state 

requirements would prefer to pursue completing the emergency response plan with AECOM. 

AECOM has fulfilled their base contract scope and has produced the foundational data to 

complete the emergency response plan. Due to the sensitive and secure nature of this work I 

will not be detailing the proposed scope.  

 

FUNDING: 

 

Funding for this project is found in the Treatment Administrative Program of the Water Utility 

Budget. Between 2020 and 2021 a total of $145,000 has been budgeted for the now completed 

risk assessment and the proposed 2021 emergency response plan. The 2020 AECOM base 

contract was $43,550 and this proposed amendment would authorize an additional $22,788.  

 

If you have any questions regarding the project please contact Chris Shaw at 832-2362. 



 

J:\SALARY SCHEDULES\Elected\Elected Alderperson Salaries.doc 

 

ELECTED ALDERPERSON SALARIES 
 

Council 
Date 

Election 
Year 

Salary Benefits Notes 

11-07-2001 2002 No increase   
11-07-2001 2003 $5636 – 3%   
10-16-2002 2004 No increase   
10-16-2002 2005 No increase   
12-03-2003 2006 No increase   
10-19-2005 2007 No increase   
11-01-2006 2008 No increase   
01-21-2008 2009 $5805 – 3%   
07-02-2009 2010 No increase   
07-02-2009 2011 No increase   
10-20-2010 2012 No increase   
01-04-2012 2013 No increase   
03-20-2013 2014 No increase   
11-20-2013 2015 No increase 

 
5.12% 
increase with 
parking pass 

Added Parking passes 
$297 annual 
($33@9months) 
effective with the April, 
2015 election 

9-17-2014 2016 $5921 – 2% 
 

6.89% 
increase with 
parking pass 

Parking Pass $408 
annual ($33@6 months 
& $35@6 months) 

11-09-2015 2017 $5980 – 1% 1.1% increase 
with parking 
pass 

Parking Pass $420 
annual 

10/19/2016 2018 $6129.50 – 
2.5% 

plus parking 
pass 

 

10/18/2017 2019 No increase   
11/7/2018 2020 No increase   
10/16/2019 2021 1.5% increase 

$6221.44 
Plus parking 
pass 

HR Committee & 
Council meeting 
11/6/19 

     
 
 





Christopher R. Behrens 
City Attorney 

Amanda K. Abshire 
Deputy City Attorney 

Darrin M. Glad 
Assistant City Attorney 

Nicholas J. Vande Castle 
Assistant City Attorney 

 

 

 

LEGAL SERVICES DIVISION 
Office of the City Attorney 

100 North Appleton Street 
Appleton, WI  54911 

Phone: 920/832-6423 
Fax: 920/832-5962 

 
 
 
 
 
To:   Alderperson Maiyoua Thao, Chair 

Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland 
  Members of the Human Resources/Information Technology Committee 
 
From:  Darrin M. Glad, Assistant City Attorney 
 
Date:  February 23, 2021 
 
Re:  Alderperson Raises 
  Our File No. A19-1099 
________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
At your request, I have researched the authority for the deadline for increasing 
alderpersons’ salaries.  Wisconsin Statutes § 62.09(6)(am)2 prohibits changing 
alderperson salaries after the “earliest time for filing nomination papers for the office” and 
no changes can be made in the compensation during “the term of office for which the 
deadline applies.” 
 
Therefore, Council has the following options available depending whether it wants 
different salaries for half of the Council, or one across-the-board adjustment for a future 
Council: 
 
1) For staggered salaries, the Council may establish alderpersons’ salaries for 
Alderpersons in Districts 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, and 14 for terms starting in April 2022 prior to 
December 1, 2021 and subsequently establish salaries for Alderpersons in Districts 1, 3, 5, 
7, 9, 11, 13, and 15 who will begin their term in April 2023 prior to December 1, 2022; or, 
 
2) For a single adjustment, establish the salary for all alderpersons seated on the 
Council in April 2023 prior to December 1, 2021. 
 
 
If you have any questions or concerns, please do not hesitate to get in touch. 
 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



February 2021

Municipality Population

# of 

Council/

Board Current 2021 Annual Salary

Appleton 74,139 15 $6,129 (1.5% increase to $6,221 April 2021)

Green Bay 104,777 12 $9,887

Fond du Lac 43,151 7 $5,000 annually, with Council President $6,000 

annually
Manitowoc 32,702 10 $3,120.00

Neenah 25,967 9 $5,280 annually, with Council President $6,000 

annually

Oshkosh 66,773 7 $5,000.06 

Sheboygan 48,327 10 $4,468





1.0 - VALLEY TRANSIT 

GENERAL MANAGER

 

.5- Community 
Relations Specialist

 

1.0 - Transit 
Administrative 

Services Manager
 

1.0 - Assistant General 
Manager

 

1.0– Transit 
Maintenance 
Supervisor

 

2.0 1.0 – Transit Operations 

Supervisor

 

3.0 - Mechanic II
 

4 - PT Service 
Person @ .4fte

 

38.5 -  Bus Driver 
36 full time &

Variable part time Drivers 
(no limit on # pt people)

1.0 - Mechanic I
 

1.0 -  Paratransit 
Coordinator/Operations 

Supervisor  
 

Draft 3/1/2021

3.0   - Communication 
Technician

 

1.0  – Road Supervisor
 

1.0 – Operations 
Specialist

 

1.0 – Mobility 
Coordinator

 

1.0 - Travel Trainer
 



“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

Information Technology Department 
100 N. Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911 

MEMO 
 
To: Alderperson Thao and Members of the HR / IT Committee 
From: Dean J. Fox, Information Technology Director 
Date: 3/10/2021 
 
Re: Request to award Heartland Business Solutions the contract to purchase and 
implement a new Palo Alto Firewall high availability system.  The amount 
requested is $86,743 with a 10% contingency for a project total of $95,417. 
 
The CIP budget of $100,000 includes funding to replace the Firewall Equipment and all 
licensing necessary. 
 
An RFP went out in late December for a high availability firewall system to replace the outdated 
equipment which has reached end of life and 8 years old 
 
The bids were as follows: 

 Heartland Business Solutions $86,743 
 Nexum Inc    $107,187 
 CDW    Chose not to respond 

 
In addition to the cost of all hardware, software and implementation, I requested all costs include 
3 years of support, which is included in the above pricing. 
 
I request your consideration and approval of a contract with Heartland Business Solutions as 
proposed.  After considerable review, and multiple follow up questions, it has been determined 
due to the inclusive nature of the Heartland Palo Alto equipment solution, the cost included in 
the proposal, and the complete software package with it, that the Heartland response is the best 
solution for the next 7 years for the City of Appleton. 
 
If you have any questions regarding this recommendation, please contact Dean Fox. 
 









Sec. 9-52.  Operation of premises licensed for retail sales. 
 

 All class A and B retail licenses granted under this article shall be granted subject to the following conditions 

and all other conditions of this article, and subject to all other ordinances and regulations of the City applicable 

thereto: 

 

 (1) Every applicant procuring a license thereby consents to the entry of police or other authorized 

representatives of the City at all reasonable hours for the purpose of inspection and search, and 

consents to the removal from the premises of all things and articles there in violation of City 

ordinances or state laws and consents to the introduction of such things and articles in evidence in 

any prosecution that may be brought for such offense. 

 

 (2) No retail licensee shall hire any person under twenty-one (21) years of age, except as modified by 

W.S.A. §125.07(4)(bm). 

 

  (3) No gambling or games of chance shall be permitted upon the licensed premises.  Dice, slot 

machines, or any other devices of chance are prohibited and shall not be kept upon the premises, 

except those permitted by law. 

 

 (4) No premises for which a class B or class C retail license has been issued shall be permitted to 

remain open during the closing hours required by W.S.A. §125.32(3) or W.S.A. §125.68(4), and 

the premises shall be vacated during such hours. 

 

 (5) Each premises shall be conducted in a sanitary manner and shall be a safe and proper place for the 

purpose for which used. Effective July 1, 2017, taverns serving no food shall obtain a municipal 

health permit from the Health Department on an annual basis, pursuant to §9-190.  Additionally, 

tThe Board of Health may make reasonable rules for the sanitation of all places of business 

possessing licenses under this article. Such rules or regulations may be classified and made 

applicable according to the class of business conducted. All such rules and regulations shall have 

the same force as this article and infraction thereof may be punished as a violation of this article. 

 

 (6) A violation of this article by a duly authorized agent or employee of a licensee or permit holder 

shall constitute a violation by the licensee or permit holder. 

 

 (7) Class “A” retail licensees shall not sell, dispense, give away or furnish, directly or indirectly, 

fermented malt beverages for consumption off the premises between 12 midnight and 8:00 a.m., 

Central Standard Time. “Class A” retail licensees shall not sell, dispense, give away or furnish, 

directly or indirectly, intoxicating liquors including wine for consumption off the premises 

between 9:01 p.m. and 8:00 a.m., Central Standard Time. 

 

 (8) Class B or class C retail licensees shall not sell, dispense, give away or furnish directly or 

indirectly fermented malt beverages or intoxicating liquors for consumption off the premises 

between 12:01 a.m. and 8:00 a.m., Central Standard Time. 

 

 (9) Abandonment or non-use.  Any licensee granted or issued a license to sell alcohol beverages that 

abandons such business shall forfeit any right or preference the licensee may have to the holding 

or renewal of such license.  Abandonment shall be sufficient grounds for revocation or non-

renewal of any alcohol beverage license.  In this section “abandon” and “abandonment” shall 

mean a continuing refusal or failure of the licensee to use the license for the purpose or purposes 

for which the license was granted by the city council for a period of one (1) year.  The Common 

Council may, for good cause shown, extend such period. 

 

 (10) A retail class A, B or C license shall not be granted to any applicant whereby the applicant had 

been convicted of selling alcoholic beverages without the proper retail license within the last 

eighteen (18) months. 

 



 

DIVISION 2.  RETAIL FOOD ESTABLISHMENTS* 

 

Sec. 9-216. Definitions. 
 

 The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this division, shall have the meanings ascribed to 

them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning: 

 

 Food means articles used for food or drink by persons, chewing gum, and articles used as components of 

food. 

 

 Retail food establishment means an establishment required to be licensed under W.S.A. §97.30, and all 

other commercial enterprises, fixed or mobile, where food is processed or sold or offered for sale at retail. The term 

shall also include all areas and facilities of such establishments used in conjunction therewith and all vehicles and 

equipment utilized in conjunction therewith. It includes retail grocery stores; meat markets; poultry markets; fish 

markets; delicatessens; bakeries; confectioneries; ice cream shops; cheese stores; convenience marts; milk cases; 

spice and herb shops; temporary mobile retail food establishments; and all other establishments where food is 

processed or sold or offered for sale at retail. 

 

Sec. 9-219.  State sanitation regulations adopted. 
 

 All retail food establishments and licenses under this division shall be subject to and comply with the 

provisions of Wisconsin Administrative Code, Sections ATCP 75.01 through ATCP 75.1205, which are hereby 

adopted by reference and incorporated as part of this division. 

 

 

DIVISION 3. RESTAURANTS AND OTHER PUBLIC EATING AND DRINKING ESTABLISHMENTS 

 

Sec. 9-236. Definition. 
 

 For purposes of this division, public eating and drinking establishment shall mean any premises as defined 

by Wisconsin Administrative Code, DHS ATCP §19675.03(5), and shall also mean any restaurant, coffee shop, 

cafeteria, caterer, luncheonette, tavern, sandwich stand and all other catering and drinking establishments, as well as 

kitchens and other places where food or drink is prepared, served or sold to the public for human consumption. 

 

Sec. 9-238.  State sanitation regulations adopted. 
 

 All restaurants and licensees under this division shall be subject to and comply with the provisions of 

Wisconsin Administrative Code, sections DHS ATCP 19675.01 through DHSATCP 19675.112, which are hereby 

adopted by reference and incorporated as part of this division. 

 

 

DIVISION 2. BED AND BREAKFAST ESTABLISHMENTS* 

 

Sec. 9-323.  State sanitation regulations adopted. 
 

 All bed and breakfast establishments and licensees under this division shall be subject to and comply with 

Wisconsin Administrative Code, DHS ATCP§19773.01 through DHSATCP §19773.15, which are hereby adopted 

by reference and incorporated as part of this division. 

 

DIVISION 3. HOTELS, MOTELS AND TOURIST ROOMING HOUSES* 

 

Sec. 9-343.  State sanitation regulations adopted. 
 

 All hotels, motels and tourist rooming houses and licensees under this division shall be subject to and 

comply with the provisions of Wisconsin Administrative Code, DHSATCP §19572.01 through DHSATCP 



§19572.16, which are hereby adopted by reference and incorporated as part of this division. 

 

ARTICLE XII.  PUBLIC SWIMMING POOLS* 
 

 

Sec. 9-680.  Right of entry; testing of samples. 
 

 The Health Officer may enter any establishment required to be licensed in this article at all reasonable 

times to inspect the premises, secure samples or specimens, examine and copy documents, obtain photographs, or 

take any other action he deems necessary to properly enforce the provisions of applicable laws regulating such 

business or activity. Samples of water from any licensed premises may be taken and examined by the Health Officer 

at such time as he deems necessary, for detection of microbiological quality, chemical disinfection, or any other 

enforcement purposes. Standards and definitions set forth in Wisconsin Administrative Code DHSATCP §17276 are 

hereby adopted as reference and incorporated as part of this section. 

 

Sec. 9-684.  State sanitation regulations adopted. 
 

 All public swimming pools and licensees under this article shall be subject to and comply with the 

provisions of Wisconsin Administrative Code, SPS 390 or DHS ATCP §17276 as applicable. 

 

Sec. 9-685.  Authority to close pools. 
 

 In addition to the closing criteria set forth in Wisconsin Administrative Code, DHS ATCP §17276, the 

Health Officer may order any public swimming pool closed if the following conditions exist: 

 

 (1) Bacteriological or chemical analysis of water samples exceeds those standards listed in Wisconsin 

Administrative Code, DHS ATCP §17276.30 or the presence of Pseudomonas aeruginosa or any 

other microbiological pathogen capable of transmitting a communicable disease is detected; or 

 

 (2) Any imminent health or safety hazard is identified. 

 

 

DIVISION 2.  RECREATIONAL AND  EDUCATIONAL CAMPS 

 

Sec. 9-798.  State sanitation regulations adopted. 
 

 All recreational and educational camps and licenses under this division shall comply with Wisconsin 

Administrative Code DHS ATCP §17578.01 through §17578.22, which are hereby adopted by reference and 

incorporated as part of this division. 

 

 

DIVISION 3. CAMPGROUNDS 

 

Sec. 9-814.  State sanitation regulations adopted. 
 

 All campgrounds under this division shall comply with Wisconsin Administrative Code DHSATCP 

§17879.01 through DHSATCP §17879.2127, which are hereby adopted by reference and incorporated as part of this 

division. 

 

ARTICLE XVIII.  TATTOO AND BODY PIERCING ESTABLISHMENTS 
 

Sec. 9-850.  Authority and purpose 

 

 (a) This chapter is promulgated under the authority of Wis. Stats. §252.23(4), §252.24(4) and 

§252.245(9)463.16 for the purpose of regulating tattooists, tattoo establishments, body piercers and body piercing 

establishments in order to protect public health and safety. 



 

 (b) State sanitation regulations adopted.  All tattoo and body piercing establishments, practitioners, 

and licenses under this division shall be subject to and comply with the provisions of Wis. Admin. Code, Secs. DHS 

SPS §173.01 through DHS §173.17221, which are hereby adopted by reference and incorporated as part of this 

division. 

 

Sec. 9-851.  Definitions.  
 

 Agent means a local health department serving a population greater than five thousand (5,000) which is 

designated by the Wisconsin Department of Health and Family Services Safety and Professional Services under a 

written agreement authorized by Wis. Stat. §252.245(1), to issue licenses to and make investigations or inspections 

of tattooists, tattoo establishments, body piercers and body piercing establishments. 

 

 Antiseptic means a chemical that kills or inhibits the growth of organisms on skin or living tissue. 

 

 Approved means acceptable to the department based on its determination of conformance to this chapter 

and good public health practices. 

 

 Autoclave means an apparatus that is registered and listed with the Federal Food and Drug Administration 

for sterilizing articles by using superheated steam under pressure. 

 

 Body pierce, as a verb, means to perforate any human body part or tissue, except an ear, and to place a 

foreign object in the perforation to prevent the perforation from closing. 

 

 Body piercer means a person who performs body piercing on another person at that person’s request. 

 

 Body piercing means perforating any human body part of tissue, except an ear, and placing a foreign object 

in the perforation to prevent the perforation from closing. 

 

 Body piercing establishment means the permanent premises where a body piercer performs body piercing 

and is in business for more than seven (7) consecutive days in a license year. 

 

 

 Branding means the burning of skin with a hot tool, cauterizing laser or dry ice so that a mark is imbedded 

in the deep tissue. 

 

 Cleaning means the removal of foreign material from objects, normally accomplished with detergent, water 

and mechanical action. 

 

 Department means the Wisconsin Department of Health and Family Services. 

 

 Disinfectant means a chemical that is capable of destroying disease-causing organisms on inanimate ob-

jects, with the exception of bacterial spores. 

 

 Health Officer means and includes the Health Officer or authorized agent of the Health Officer. 

 

 Hot water  

 

 Implantation means the insertion of an object under the skin, so that it remains under the skin, in whole or 

in part, after the procedure.  This definition shall not apply to the post used in body piercing to keep the perforation 

from closing. 

 

 Local health department means an agency of local government that takes any of the forms specified in 

Wis. Stats. §250.01(4), specifically the City of Appleton Health Department. 

 

 Operator means the owner or person responsible to the owner for the operation of a tattoo or body-piercing 



establishment. 

 

 Patron means a person receiving a tattoo or body piercing. 

 

 Practitioner means a tattooist or body piercer. 

 

 Premises means a building, structure, area or location where tattooing or body piercing is performed. 

 

 Scarification means the cutting of the skin so that when it heals, scar tissue remains. 

 

 Sharps waste means waste that consists of medical equipment or clinical laboratory articles that may cause 

punctures or cuts, such as hypodermic needles, syringes with attached needles and lancets, whether contaminated, 

unused or disinfected. 

 

 Single use means a product or item that is disposed of after one use, such as a razor, a needle, a cotton 

swab, a tissue or paper product, a paper of soft plastic cup, or gauze or other sanitary covering. 

 

 Sterilization means the killing of all organisms and spores through use of an autoclave operated at a mini-

minutes or through use of a an autoclave approved by the department that is operated at different temperature and 

pressure levels but is equally effective in killing all organisms and spores. 

 

 Tattoo, as a verb, means to insert pigment under the surface of the skin of a person, by pricking with a nee-

dle or otherwise, so as to produce an indelible mark or figure through the skin. 

 

 Tattoo establishment means the permanent premises where a tattooist applies a tattoo to another person and 

is in business for more than seven (7) consecutive days in a license year. 

 

 Tattooist means a person who tattoos another person at that person’s request. 

 

 Tempered water  

 

 Temporary establishment means a single building, structure, area or location where a tattooist or body 

piercer performs tattooing or body piercing for a maximum of seven (7) days per license year. 

 

 

DIVISION 2.  LICENSES 
 

Sec. 9-862.  Application for practitioner license. 
 

 (a) Requirements. 

 

  (1) No person may tattoo or body pierce another person, use or assume the title of tattooist or 

body piercer or designate or represent himself or herself as a body piercer unless the 

person has obtained a license from the local health department by Department of Safety 

and Professional Services and also completing an application made upon a form 

furnished by the local health department.  An application submitted to the local health 

department shall be accompanied by the required feeconform with the requirements set 

forth in 9-880. 

 

  (2) No person shall engage in the practice of tattooing and/or body piercing except in a 

permanent licensed tattoo and/or body-piercing establishment. 

 

 (b) Reciprocity within the State of Wisconsin will be recognized upon receipt of proof that the local 

requirements as set forth in this article are met by the applicant. 

 



DIVISION 4. HEALTH AND SANITARY REQUIREMENTS 

 

Sec. 9-880.   Requirements. 

 

 Prior to license approval, all practitioners shall provide proof that they are negative for Hepatitis B and C, as 

demonstrated by documentation of negative results for HbsAG and anti-HCV tests, as confirmed by a practicing 

physician.  The expenses of the testing and examination shall be paid by the practitioner. 

(Ord 63-09, §1, 5-26-09) 

 

Sec. 9-885.  Equipment. 
 

 (a) All surfaces, counters and general use equipment in the tattoo or body piercing area shall be cleaned and 

disinfected before a patron is seated. 

 

 (b) All inks and pigments shall be obtained from sources generally recognized as safe.  Information 

indicating the sources of all inks and pigments shall be available to the local health department or agent upon 

request.  Sterile single-use or sterile individual containers of pigment or ink shall be used for each patron.  No 

pigment or ink in which needles were dipped may be used on another person. Pigment and ink cups shall be for 

single-patron use.  All bulk materials used for the procedure shall be dispensed with single-use utensils.  The 

remainder of dispensed portions shall be disposed of after application. 

 

 (c) Needles, bars and tubes shall be construed in a manner that permits easy cleaning and sterilizing. 

 

 (d) No tattooist shall use and no tattoo establishment shall permit the use of solder which contains lead to be 

used to fasten needles. 

 

 (e) Acetate tattoo stencils shall be single-use. 

 

 (f) No body piercer may use a piercing gun or similar device for body piercing a patron unless such piercing 

gun is disposable, sterile, and for single patron use only or is sterilized between each use as set forth in Wis. Admin. 

Code Sec. DHS SPS173221.03(20). 

 
 J:\Attorney\WORD\Jamie\Ordinances\2016 Ords\Chapter 9 Edits - AJ (changed sections only).doc 

 



Sec. 9-52. Operation of premises licensed for retail sales. 

 

 All class A and B retail licenses granted under this article shall be granted subject to the 

following conditions and all other conditions of this article, and subject to all other ordinances and 

regulations of the City applicable thereto: 

 

 (5) Each premises shall be conducted in a sanitary manner and shall be a safe and 

proper place for the purpose for which used.  Effective July 1, 2017, taverns serving 

no food shall obtain a municipal health permit from the Health Department on an 

annual basis, pursuant to Sec. 9-190.  For the purposes of this section, taverns issued 

a license under this section are included in the definition of Food Establishment as 

defined in ATCP 75 Appendix and shall be subject to and comply with the 

applicable provisions of ATCP 75 Appendix, unless otherwise stated herein. 

Additionally, the Board of Health may make additional reasonable rules for the 

sanitation of all places of business possessing licenses under this article. Such rules 

or regulations may be classified and made applicable according to the class of 

business conducted. All such rules and regulations shall have the same force as this 

article and infraction thereof may be punished as a violation of this article. 

(Ord 78-16, §1, 11-8-16) 

 
 



7-21 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 23 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY 
OF APPLETON AND THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP WHICH IS A PART THEREOF, BY 
MAKING THE FOLLOWING CHANGES IN THE DISTRICT AS NOW PROVIDED. 

(City Plan Commission 3/17/2021) 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 
 

Section 1: That Zoning Ordinance, Chapter 23 of the Municipal Code of the City of 

Appleton and the Official Zoning Map, which is a part thereof, is amended by making the following 

changes: 

To rezone lands located at Tax Id #31-6-1808-00 (2501 North Meade Street), 
including to the centerline of the adjacent right-of-way, from C-2 General 
Commercial District to R-1B Single-family District. (Rezoning #2-21 – Wisconsin 
Electric Power Company, owner on behalf of the applicant, Greater Fox Cities Area 
Habitat for Humanity) 
 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 
 
The E63FT OF S110FT OF BLK 1 PARKDALE PLAT, City of Appleton, 
Outagamie County, Wisconsin, including to the centerline of the adjacent right-
of-way. 
 
COMMON DESCRIPTION: 
 
2501 North Meade Street 
 
Section 2: This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

publication, and upon its passage and publication the Director of Community and Economic 

Development is authorized and directed to make the necessary changes to the Official Zoning Map 

in accordance with this Ordinance. 


	0000_Agenda
	0001_1_CC Minutes 3-3-21
	0002_1_Colorectal Cancer Awareness Month Proclamation
	0003_1_COVID -19 Cases 3-17-21
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4

	0004_1_RZ 2-21_Notice of Public Hearing
	RE: Proposed Zone Change

	0005_1_Driveway Opening Policy
	0006_1_Soldier Square parking meters
	0007_1_ADI-Fiber Rain
	0008_1_Matt Miller request for meter bags
	0009_1_Ye Old Goat SL
	0010_1_StaffReport_2501NMeadeSt_Rezoning_For02-23-21
	0011_1_2021 Pickleball Complex Memo
	0012_1_Award of Contract Unit X-21
	0013_1_2021 Library Architect and Engineers
	0013_2_SOM Letter to Appleton Community_3-8-2021
	0014_1_Finance Committee Bed Donation Memo 2021 (004)
	0014_2_WGR Brighter Dreams Program
	0015_1_Emerald Valley Development Agreement
	0016_1_2021 AMP Parking Lot 3 Renovation
	0017_1_2021 AWWTP S-Building HVAC Upgrdes
	0018_1_Business-Industrial Park Land Value Memo_ 3-10-21
	0018_2_Exhibit A-Ind Land Sales Comparison
	0018_3_Exhibit B-Ind Land Asking Price Comparison
	0018_4_Southpoint Commerce Park Map
	0018_5_NE Business Park Map
	0019_1_Memo to CEDC on ADI Sponsorships 2021
	0019_2_ADI Support Proposal to City 2021
	0020_1_Memo to CEDC 318 W College Ave Park Central Dev Agrmt_3-10-21
	0020_2_318 W College Ave Park Central - Dev Agrmt - 02-24-2021
	Park Central - Dev Agrm - Exhibit B-2.pdf
	Sheets
	PRESI1 - BASEMENT
	PRESI2 - FIRST FLOOR
	PRESI3 - SECOND FLOOR
	PRESI4 - THIRD FLOOR (SAME 03,04,05)
	PRESI5 - BUILDING SECTION
	PRESI7 - MATERIALS
	PRESI8 - INTERIOR INSPIRATION
	PRESI9 - DESIGN BASIS
	PRESI10 - PEDESTRIAN PERSPECTIVES
	PRESI11 - PEDESTRIAN PERSPECTIVE
	PRESI12 - AERIAL 3D
	PRESI13 - SOUTH ELEVATION
	PRESI14 - EAST ELEVATION
	PRESI15 - NORTH ELEVATION
	PRESI16 - WEST ELEVATION
	PRESI-App1 - ASSEMBLIES
	PRESI-App2 - ASSEMBLIES



	0021_1_Alloc Recs Memo to CEDC Final Award 03-10-2021
	0021_2_Alloc Recs Memo to CEDC 11-11-20
	0021_3_FINAL 2021 CDBG Community Partner Recommendations 3-10-21
	0021_4_FINAL 2021 CDBG Simple Summary Recommendations 3-10-21
	0021_5_Letter From Apricity_Request for Additional Funds
	0022_1_2020 MS4 Annual Report for UC w attachments
	2020 MS4 Annual Report for UC
	2020 IE Plan completed activities
	2020
	Summary

	2020 Public Participation completed activities
	2.2 Public Participation


	0023_1_2021D Lightning Final Design Contract Award Memo to raSmith 03-09-2021 FINAL
	0024_1_2021E Wetland Delineations Contract Award Memo 03-09-2021 Util Cmte Final
	0025_1_K-21 contract award util memo 03-09-2021 Final
	0026_1_utilities memo - AWIA RRA Memo 03-03-21 (002)
	0027_1_Elected Alderperson official salary
	0027_2_alderperson comparison 2019
	0027_3_Alderperson Raises Deadline memo_HR.IT_2-23-2021
	0027_4_2020 Alderperson Compensation
	0028_1_Request VT T.O. Change
	0028_2_Valley Transit TO draft 3-1-21
	0029_1_Firewall RFP Memo
	0030_1_Memo to BOH
	0030_2_Oct 2016 Edit
	0030_3_Proposed Revision
	0031_1_Ordinances going to Council 3-17-21
	LEGAL DESCRIPTION:


